Clinical Practice Guideline for Treatment of Patients with Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care

NOTE:

It has been 5 years since the publication of this Clinical Practice Guideline and it is subject to updating.

The recommendations included should be considered with caution taking into account that it is pending evaluate its validity.

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN THE SPANISH NHS MINISTRY OF HEALTH AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS







Clinical Practice Guideline unespeed Steam and the ablication of the Clinical Practice Cutelline and the subject to under the objection of the Clinical Practice Cutelline and the subject to under the objection of the Clinical Practice Cutelline and the subject to under the objection of the Clinical Practice Cutelline and the subject to under the object for Treatment of Patients

CUNICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN THE SPANISH NHS MINISTRY OF HEALTH AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS







Agencia Laín Entralgo ación y Estu , ios Sanitarios Comunidad de Madrid

This CPG is a healthcare decision making support. It is not mandatory, and it is good substrute for the clinical judgement of healthcare perconnel. Agencia Laín Entralgo. Unidad de Evaluación de Tecnologías Sanitarias Gran Vía 27 Gran Vía, 27 28013 Madrid España-Spain

© for this edition: Ministry of Health and Consumer Affairs © for content: Health and Consumption Board. Region of Madrid

It has

Layout and printing: www.cege.es Eloy Gonzalo, 25, 1° izda. 28010 Madrid

This CPG has been funded through the agreement signed by the Carlos III Health Institute, an independent body of the Ministry of Health and Consumer Affairs, and the Health Technology Assessment Unit of the Lain Entralgo Agency (Region of Madrid) within the framework of collaboration is part of the Quality Plan for the National Health System. This CPG has been funded through the agreement signed by the Carlo. III Health Institute, an independent body of the Ministry of Health and Consumer Alfrica, and the Health lechnology Assessment Unit of the Lain Entralgo Agency (Region of Madrid) within the framework of collaboration as part of the Quality Play for the National Health System.

Guideline Working Group for the Treatment of Patients with Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care. Madrid: National Plan for the NHS of the MSC. Health technology Assessment Unit. Laín Entralgo Agency. Community of Madrid; 2008. Clinical Practice Guidelines in the NHS. UETS N° 2006/10.







Table of contents

Official presentation	7
Authors and collaborators	9
Questions to be answered	11 datin 3
Summary of recommendations	, d3 ^{1/2}
1. Introduction	e ^{C1} 20
2. Scope and objectives	25
Official presentation Authors and collaborators Ouestions to be answered Summary of recommendations 1. Introduction 2. Scope and objectives 3. Methodology 4. Definition, clinical features and classifications 4.1. Normal and pathological anxiety 4.2. Classifications 5. Diagnosing anxiety 5.1. Diagnostic criteria 5.2. Semi-structured interview 5.3. Use of scales 5.4. Diagnostic algorithm 6. Treating anxiety 6.1. Psychological treatment 6.1.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)	26
4. Definition, clinical features and classifications	28
4.1. Normal and pathological anxiety	28
4.2. Classifications	29
5. Diagnosing anxiety	32
5.1. Diagnostic criteria	32
5.2. Semi-structured interview	45
5.3. Use of scales	46
5.4. Diagnostic algorithm	49
6. Treating anxiety	50
6.1. Psychological treatment	50
6.1.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)	52
6.1.2. Panic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD)	56
6.1.3. Panic attack	61
6.2. Psychological techniques for Primary Care setting	62
6.3. Pharmacological treatment	66
6.3.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)	66
6.3.2. Papic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD)	75
6.3.3 Panic attack	81
6.4. Combined treatment: psychological and pharmacological therapies	82
6.4.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)	83
6.4.2. Panic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD)	84
6.4.3. Panic attack	88
6.4.2. Panic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD) 6.4.3. Panic attack 6.5. Other treatments 6.5.1. Self-help treatment	88
6.5.1. Self-help treatment	88
6.5.2. Herbal medicine	91
7. Information/communication with the patient	94

8. Diagnostic and therapeuti 8.1 Generalized Anxiety D	-	96 97
8.2. Panic Disorder (PD)		99
8.3. Panic Attack		101
9. Dissemination and implem	nentation	102
10. Recommendations for fu	ture research	105 108 0 2 100
11. Appendices Appendix 1. Levels of ev Appendix 2. Anxiety mea	vidence and grades of recommendation (SIGN)	108 108 109
Appendix 3. Interview qu anxiety disc	uestions to screen for anxiety symptoms and specific	112
Appendix 4. Information	for the patient	113
Appendix 5. Glossary an	id abbreviations	129
Appendix 6. Declaration	of interest	134
12. Bibliography	ideline	138
the been by ears since the public	ture research ridence and grades of recommendation (SIGN) asurement instruments testions to screen for anxiety symptoms and specific orders for the patient ad abbreviations of interest cuite	

Official presentation

Care practice is becoming more and more complicated due to many different factors. One of the most relevant factors is the exponential increase of scientific information.

To make clinical decisions that are adequate, safe and effective, practitioners need to devote a lot of effort in continuously updating their knowledge.

In 2003, the Interterritorial Council of the Spanish NHS created the GuiaSalud Project whose final aim is to improve clinical decision-making based on scientific evidence, via training activities and the configuration of a registry of Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPG). Since then, the GuiaSalud project has assessed dozens of CPGs in agreement with explicit criteria stipulated by its scientific committee, it has registered them and has disseminated them over the Internet.

At the beginning of 2006, the Directorate General of the Quality Agency of the National Health System prepared the Quality Plan for the National Health System, which was divided into 12 strategies. The purpose of this Plan is to increase the cohesion of the National Health System and help guarantee maximum quality health care for all citizens regardless of their place of residence.

Within that context, the GuiaSalud Project was renewed in 2007 and the Clinical Practice Guideline Library was created. This project developed into the preparation of the CPGs and included other Evidence-Based Medicine services and products. It also aims to favour the implementation and assessment of the use of CPGs in the National Health System.

A first step was to commission different agencies and expert groups in prevalent pathologies related to health strategies to prepare eight CPGs. This Anxiety guideline is the consequence of this assignment.

The definition of a common methodology to prepare the CPG for the NHS was also requested and this has been prepared as a collective effort of consensus and coordination among the Spanish CPG expert groups. This methodology was used as the basis to prepare this Anxiety guideline and the other CPGs griven by the Quality Plan.

It is widely acknowledged that mental disorders constitute a significant social and economic burden due to their frequency, coexistence, and comorbidity, in addition to the disability that they generate.

Within the area of mental health problems, anxiety disorders are associated with high levels of disability and have a considerable impact on personal well-being as well as on social and labour relations. The aggravating factor of the prevalence of these disorders and the recurrent or even chronic nature of many of these disorders makes them as incapacitating as any other chronic illness.

Anxiety disorders, alone or associated with other pathologies, are one of the most frequent causes of Primary Care visits, and there is a certain degree of variability in how they are managed. The lack of a common pattern of manifestation, somatisation and association with chronic illnesses, as well as the need for specific therapy sometimes prolonged over time, increases the complexity of the treatment of these patients.

The purpose of the *Clinical Practice Guideline for Treatment of Patients with Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care* is to provide professionals with practical recommendations based on scientific evidence to assist in the detection and effective treatment of these disorders, offering the ideal therapeutic alternatives in each process. The professionals involved in providing care, as well as the patients themselves and scientific organizations were involved in the preparation of this guideline, which seeks to improve the care provided to patients with anxiety disorders and the quality of life of those patients.

unastren sienes ince the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subjection dates of the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subjection dates of the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subjection dates of the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subjection dates of the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subjection dates of the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subject to the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subject to the publication of this clinical Practice Cuideline and the subject to the publication of the subject to the publication of the public Dr. Alberto Infante Campos

Authors and collaborators

Guideline Development Group on Treatment of Patients with Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care

Antonio Bulbena Vilarrasa, psychiatrist, director Psychiatric Attention Institute Hospital del Mar, Barcelona

Rafael Casquero Ruiz, general practitioner and psychiatrist, coordinator of the Las Cortes Health Centre, Madrid

María Lª de Santiago Hernando, general practitioner, Castilla la Nueva Health Centre, Fuenlabrada (Madrid)

M^a Isabel del Cura González, general practitioner, Mendiguchia Health Centre, Leganés (Madrid)

Petra Díaz del Campo Fontecha, sociologist, Health Technology Assessment Unit (UETS), Agencia Laín Entralgo, Council for Healthcare and Consumption, Madrid

Mercedes Fontecha Cabezas, patient, Madrid

Ana García Laborda, mental health nurse, Parla Mental Health Centre, Madrid

Javier Gracia San Román, Preventive medicine and public health physician, Health Technology Assessment Unit (UETS), Agencia Laín Entralgo, Council for Healthcare and Consumption, Madrid

Manuel Pereira Fernández, psychiatrist, head of Latina Mental Health Services, Galiana Mental Health Centre, Madrid

M^a Concepción Pozo Pino, primary care social worker, Campo de la Paloma Healthcare Centre, Madrid

Violeta Suárez Blázquez, clinical psychologist, Majadahonda Healthcare Centre, Madrid

Me Eugenia Tello Bernabé, primary care nurse, El Naranjo Healthcare Centre, Fuenlabrada (Madrid)

Victoria Torralba Castelló, primary care nurse, Parque Europa Healthcare Centre, Pinto (Madrid)

Coordination

Francisco Javier Gracia San Román and Petra Díaz del Campo Fontecha, Technical support in the Health Technology Assessment Unit (UETS), Madrid

External reviewers

Javier García Campayo, psychiatrist and associate professor at the Miguel Servet University Hospital and the University of Zaragoza

> José Antonio Castro Gómez, general practitioner, Almanjáyar Healthcare Centre, Granada Víctor Contreras García, Madrid Federation of Mental Health Associations, Madrid Marta Alcaraz Borrajo, primary care pharmaeist, area 6, Madrid Rubén Casado Hidalga, psychologist, Madrid Panic and Agoraphobia Association, Madrid

Collaborating scientific societies and institutions

This CPG was supported by the following institutions:

Spanish Neuropsychiatry Association (AEN)

Madrid Panic and Agoraphobia Association (AMADAG)

Spanish Confederation of Family Groups and Individuals with Mental Illness (FEAFES)

Madrid Federation of Mental Health Associations (FEMASAN)

Spanish Society of Primary Care Physicians (SEMERGEN)

Spanish Society of Family and Community Medicine (SEMFYC)

Spanish Psychiatric Society (SEP)

Madrid Society of Family and Community Medicine (SoMaMFYC)

Spanish Union of Scientific Nursing Societies (UESCE)

Members of these societies have taken part in the development and external review of this Clinical Practice Guideline.

Conflict of Interest Statement: All of the members of the Working group, as well as all of the people who took part in the external review have signed the declaration of interest included in Appendix 6.

5

Questions to be answered

Definition, clinical features, and classifications

- What is the definition of anxiety as a symptom/syndrome?
- What is the definition of anxiety as a specific clinical profile?
- How are anxiety disorders classified?

Diagnostic criteria

- What are the diagnostic criteria of the different anxiety disorders?
- What are the criteria for suspecting anxiety disorders?
- and it is subject to updating. • What studies should be done initially with adults suspected to suffer anxiety disorders in order to allow early detection?
- Are there key questions that could help Primary Care professionals to detect anxiety disorders in patient interviews?
- What are the differential diagnoses to be taken into account?

Treatment

- What is the most effective treatment for generalized anxiety disorder?
- What is the most effective treatment for panic disorders?
- What is the most effective treatment for panic attacks?

Information/communication with patients

- What is the basic information that should be given to patients with anxiety disorders?
- What is the basic information that should be given to the families of patients with anxiety disorders?
- What's the best way to inform patients of their disorders?

Diagnostic and therapeutic strategies

- What are the steps to be followed in response to an anxiety disorder (GAD, PD, and panic attack)?
- What are the criteria for referral from Primary Care to Mental Health?

Dissemination and implementation

- What is the strategy to distribute and implement the guideline?
- What are the indicators for tracking the key recommendations?

Hreaden and the production of the Chinese Produce Cuideline and the subject of the product of the Chinese Cuideline and the subject of the chinese Chinese Cuideline and the subject of the chinese Ch REFERENCE: Guideline development Group of the Clinical Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care. Clinical Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care Madrid: National Plan for the NHS of the MSC. Health Technology Assessment Unit. Laín Entralgo Agency. Community of Madrid; 2008. Clinical Practice Guideline: UETS N° 2006/10.

Summary of recommendations

Psychological treatment

interpersonal therapy.

Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

Gener	al recommendations
A	Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) is recommended as one of the treatments of choice for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) due to its effectiveness at reducing the symptoms of anxiety, worry, and sadness, in both the short and long term, although patient preferences must be taken into consideration.
A	Actions with CBT must include a combination of measures such as cognitive restructuring, exposure, relaxation, and systematic desensitization.
A	CBT should be applied over the course of approximately 10 sessions (6 months) on average, as greater effectiveness is not achieved by applying the therapy for a longer time.
A	CBT can be applied individually or in a group, since the effects are similar, although individual treatment generates lower abandonment rates.
Prima	ry Care
в	The application of cognitive-behavioral actions (relaxation, recognition of anxiety-causing thoughts, and lack of self- confidence, seeking useful alternatives, and training in problem-solving techniques, techniques to improve sleep and work at home) by trained professionals in healthcare centres is recommended.
в	The organization of group workshops based on relaxation and applicable cognitive techniques in healthcare centres is recommended.
	Group workshops should run for at least 8 sessions (1 per week), be structured and be directed by trained professionals from the Primary Care teams.

Psychological techniques applicable in the context of Primary Care for Generalized **Anxiety Disorder (GAD)**

Brief actions in PC should be carried out by trained professionals and have a series of common characteristics of $\sqrt{}$ applicability: they should be structured, simple, easy to apply, short, with defined times, specific objectives, and described effectiveness. 20 The following are recommended as psychological techniques for possible application in PC to reduce anxiety symptoms associated with GAD: techniques for relaxation, exposure, self-control, training in social skills, self-instruction, training $\sqrt{}$ in treatment anxiety, cognitive distraction and thought stoppage, resolution of problems, cognitive restructuring, and Hthas been 5 ye

Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Panic Disorder (PD)

Gene	ral recommendations]
A	Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) is recommended as one of the treatments of choice for Panic Disorder (PD) because of its effectiveness in improving panic symptoms, quality of life, and reducing depression systems, although patient preferences must be taken into consideration.	
A	CBT actions should include a combination of actions such as psycho-education, exposure to symptoms or situations, cognitive restructuring, techniques for relaxation, breathing, and treatment panic.	dating.
Α	CBT should be applied, on average, in 8-16 weekly sessions of 1 to 2 hours.	Join .
в	To relieve symptoms of PD with average or moderate agoraphobia, CBT actions are recommended, including <i>in vivo</i> exposure.	30
Prima	ary Care]
в	The application of cognitive-behavioral actions are recommended for application in healthcare centres by trained professionals, preferably individually, through exposure and cognitive restructuring.	
В	The organization of group workshops based on relaxation and applicable cognitive techniques in healthcare centres is recommended.	
	Group workshops should run for at least 8 sessions (1 per week), be structured and be directed by trained professionals from the Primary Attention teams.	

Psychological techniques applicable in the context of Primary Care for Panic Disorder (PD)

_		
		Brief actions in PC should be carried out by trained professionals and have a series of common characteristics of applicability: they should be structured, simple, easy to apply, short, with defined times, specific objectives, and described effectiveness.
	\checkmark	The following are recommended as psychological techniques for possible application in PC to reduce anxiety symptoms associated with PD: techniques for relaxation, exposure, self-control, training in social skills, self-instruction, training in treatment anxiety, cognitive distraction and thought stoppage, resolution of problems, cognitive restructuring, and interpersonal therapy.

Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) in PC for Panic Attack

		 The following psychological techniques are recommended in PC to control symptoms related to panic attacks. Behavioral and support measures that include psycho-education: calm the patient and advised actions in writing. Training in the reatment of symptoms: teaching of relaxation techniques and learning breathing exercises to handle hyperventilation.
		Exposure techniques.
		The family should be informed regarding the type of actions to help in resolving any new attacks.
1+172500	5	Jeron

Pharmacological treatment

Anti-depressants for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

Α	The use of anti-depressants is recommended as one of the pharmacological treatments of choice for GAD.	
В	In terms of anti-depressants recommended for use, SSRI (paroxetine, sertraline, or escitalopram), SNSRI (slow-release venlafaxine) and TADs (imipramine).	dating.
С	The prescription of venlafaxine is not recommended to patients at high risk of cardiac arrhythmia or recent myocardial infarct, and will only be used in patients with hypertension when the hypertension is controlled.	Rogar
\checkmark	When the response to the optimal dosage of one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if they are not well tolerated, the patient should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (SNSRI, TAD).	
в	During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whether the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the fetus.	
в	To reduce the potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, as monotherapy.	
	In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of sudden interruption of the treatment.	
\checkmark	The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness.	

Note: The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS)¹⁴² for sertraline does not include the therapeutic indication for GAD. In the case of impravine (Technical Dossier unavailable), the prospectus does not include this indication either.

Benzodiazepines (BDZ) for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

	в	The short-term use of BDZs not longer than 4 weeks is recommended when rapid control of symptoms is not crucial or while waiting fro the response to treatment with anti-depressants or CBT.
	В	The use of the BDZs alprazolam, bromazepam, iorazepam, and diazepam is recommended.
	в	To avoid the potential risk of congenital defects, the lowest effective dosage of BDZ should be used, with the shortest possible treatment duration, and as monotherapy. If higher concentrations are required, the daily dosage should be divided into two or three doses, always avoiding use during the first trimester.
	\checkmark	When prescribing BDZs, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, and the possible side effects.
	\checkmark	The following should be taken into consideration when prescribing BDZ: age, previous treatments, tolerability, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness.
It has be	13 13	years sill.

Other	drugs for	Generalized	Anxiety	Disorder (GAD)
-------	-----------	-------------	---------	----------------

Other	drugs	
В	Azapirones (buspirone) can be used short term, especially in patients with GAD who have not previously taken BDZ, although its use is very limited in Spain.	
\checkmark	The use of other drugs such as pregabline, hydroxicine, atypical anti-psychotics, and others, either due to their limited clinical experience or indication for refractory GAD, should be prescribed after the patient has been evaluated in a Centre specializing in Mental Health.	
Not re	commended	dating.
В	The use of Beta-blockers (propranolol) is not recommended to treat GAD.	00
Anti-	depressants for Panic Disorder (PD)	,
Α	The use of anti-depressants is recommended as one of the pharmacological treatments of choice for PD,	
P	In terms of anti-depressants recommended for use, SSRI (cytalopram, escytalopram, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, paroxetine,	

Anti-depressants for Panic Disorder (PD)

 A The use of anti-depressants is recommended as one of the pharmacological treatments of choice for PD, In terms of anti-depressants recommended for use, SSRI (cytalopram, escytalopram, fluoxetine, fluoxemine, paroxetine, and sertraline), SNSRIs (slow-release veniafaxine) and TADS (chlorimipramine, imipramine). C The prescription of venitaxine is not recommended to patients at high risk of cardiac arrythytical or recent myocardial infarct, and will only be used in patients with hypertension when the hypertension is controlled. When the response to the optimal dosage of one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if they are not well tolerated, the patient schould switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (NSRI, TAD, mirtazapine). B The interruption of treatment with anti-depressants poses a risk of relapse so therapy in many patients should be applied long-term (at least 12 months). B During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whene the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possibile risks to the embryo. B To prevent potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible is effects, and the risks of suddan interruption of the treatment. V inselle side effects, and the risks of suddan interruption of the treatment. V The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants, patients Should be prescribed scales. Note⁺⁴²: The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for veniafaxi fluoxetine, and fluoxexine, and fluoxexine coses not include the therapeutic indication for PD. The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for veniafaxi fluoxetine, and f		
 B and sertraline), SNSRIs (slow-release venlafaxine) and TADs (chlorimipramine, imipramine). C The prescription of venlafaxine is not recommended to patients at high risk of cardiac arrhythma or recent myocardial infarct, and will only be used in patients with hypertension when the hypertension is controlled. ✓ When the response to the optimal dosage of one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if they are not well tolerated, the patient should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (NSRI, TAD, mirtazapine). B The interruption of treatment with anti-depressants poses a risk of relapse so therapy in many patients should be applied long-term (at least 12 months). B During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whener the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the embryo. B To prevent potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the owest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy. ✓ In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possibile side effects, and the risks of sudden interruption of the treatment. ✓ The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 	Α	The use of anti-depressants is recommended as one of the pharmacological treatments of choice for PD,
 c infarct, and will only be used in patients with hypertension when the hypertension is controlled. √ When the response to the optimal dosage of one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if they are not well tolerated, the patient should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (NSRI, TAD, mirtazapine). B The interruption of treatment with anti-depressants poses a risk of relapse so therapy in many patients should be applied long-term (at least 12 months). B During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whether the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the embryo. B To prevent potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy. √ In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of suddan merruption of the treatment. √ The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: • The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine does not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 	В	
 √ should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (NSRI, TAD, mirtazapine). B The interruption of treatment with anti-depressants poses a risk of relapse, so therapy in many patients should be applied long-term (at least 12 months). B During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whether the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the embryo B To prevent potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy. √ In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of suddan interruption of the treatment. √ The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: • The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 	С	
 ■ long-term (at least 12 months). ■ During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whether the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the embryo. ■ To prevent potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy. √ In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of sudden interruption of the treatment. √ The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: • The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 	\checkmark	should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different
 B prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the embryo. B To prevent potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the owest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy. √ In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of suddan interruption of the treatment. √ The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: • The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 	в	The interruption of treatment with anti-depressants poses a risk of relapse so therapy in many patients should be applied long-term (at least 12 months).
 ■ possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy. √ In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of suddan interruption of the treatment. √ The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: • The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 	В	
 V possible side effects, and the risks of sudden interruption of the treatment. √ The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: • The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 	В	
 v possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness. Note¹⁴²: The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD. 		
• The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxi fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD.		
fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD.		
	 The fluox 	Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxil etine, and fluvoxamine coes not include the therapeutic indication for PD.
Syears since	• The	Technical Dossier for chlorimipramine and the prospectus of imipramine (Technical Dossier not available) includ
	5	vears since

Benzodiazepines for Panic Disorder (PD)

В	If BDZs are used in PD, short-term use is recommended or when crucial due to acute or serious anxiety or agitation, with the lowest possible dosage, which must be reduced gradually.	-
B	Use for longer periods must always be supervised.	-
В	The BDZs alprazolam, clonazepem, lorazepam, and diazepam are recommended.	
В	To avoid the potential risk of congenital defects, the lowest effective dosage of BDZ should be used, with the shortest possible treatment duration, and as monotherapy if possible. If higher concentrations are required, the daily dosage should be divided into two or three doses, always avoiding use during the first trimester.	dating.
\checkmark	When prescribing BDZs, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, and the possible side effects.	<u>5</u> 2
\checkmark	The following should be taken into consideration when prescribing BDZs: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness.	

Note: The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) 142 for clonazepam does not include the therapeutic indication for PD.

Other drugs for Panic Disorder (PD)

Other drugs						
в	B The use of azapirones (buspirone) is not recommended for treating PD.					
The use of other drugs such as pindolol, gabapentin, sodium valproate, and slow-release bupriopion, due to their indifor refractory PD should be prescribed after the patient has been evaluated by a Centre specialized in Mental Health.						
Not recommended						
В	B The use of tradozone, propanolol, and carbamazepine is not recommended.					

Pharmacological treatment for Panic Attack

	The BDZs alprazolam and lorazepam may be used for the immediate treatment of serious panic attacks.					
	В	The use of SSRI and TAD anti-depressants is recommended for pharmacological treatment of panic attacks.				
14 M25 De	10 10	The use of SSRI and TAD anti-depressents is recommended for pharmacological treatment of panic attacks.				

Combined treatment: psychological and pharmacological

Combination treatment (CBT and medication) for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

Applic	cation within the scope of Primary Care	
В	The combined treatment of CBT and diazepam or CBT alone, versus the use of diazepam alone, due to its advantage in terms of gravity and overall change of symptoms is recommended, although patient preferences must be taken into account.	dating.
в	In combined treatment, such as CBT in healthcare centres, 7 sessions over 9 weeks are recommended, provided by professionals trained in cognitive therapy and progressive muscular relaxation. The patient should also do work at home.	Oggri
\checkmark	In healthcare centres, combined therapy that includes group actions, cognitive therapy, and relaxation is recommended, with at least 8 sessions (1 per week), carried out in a structured manner and directed by trained professionals from the Primary Care teams.	
Coml	bined treatment (CBT and medication) for Panic Disorder (PD)	
	ral recommendations]

Combined treatment (CBT and medication) for Panic Disorder (PD)

al recommendations
The combination of CBT (exposure and cognitive restructuring techniques) and anti-depressants (TADs and SSRIs) is recommended, depending on patient preferences.
Treatment with anti-depressants alone is not recommended as first-line treatment, when the appropriate resources to provide CBT are available.
In long-term treatments, if anti-depressant drugs are added to the CBT, they should be monitored to ensure that they do not interfere with the beneficial effects of the CBT alone.
ation within the scope of Primary Care
In healthcare centres, in combined treatment, the application of cognitive-behavioral actions is recommended in 6-8 sessions over the course of 12 weeks, provided by trained professionals, through brief CBT that includes techniques of exposure and treatment of panic.
In healthcare centres, combined therapy that includes group actions, cognitive therapy, and relaxation is recommended, with at least 8 sessions (1 per week), carried out in a structured manner and directed by trained professionals from the Primary Care teams.
at least 8 sessions (1 per week), carried out in a structured manner and directed by trained professionals from the Primary Care teams.

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN THE SPANISH NHS

Other treatment: bibliotherapy and herbal medicines

Bibliotherapy for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Panic Disorder (PD), and Panic Attack

Herbal Medicine for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) and Panic Disorder (PD)

в	The application of bibliotherapy is recommended based on the principles of CBT in public healthcare centres, by trained professionals using self-help manuals and telephone contact or brief personal contacts.	×in ⁰
		IPO Sting
erba	Il Medicine for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) and Panic Disorder (PD)	<u>></u> >
B, D	Due to its hepatic toxicity, kava* is recommended only for short-term use and for patients with minor or moderate anxiety who prefer to use natural remedies, provided that they do not have any prior hepatic alterations, do not consume alcohol, or use other medications metabolized by the liver, with medical supervision required.	
в	There are not sufficient studies on the effectiveness of valerian, passion flower, ginkgo biloba, yellow globellower, and the preparation of whitethorn, California poppy, and magnesium to encourage their use.	
1		

* In 2004, the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS)¹⁴² included kava in the list of plants prohibited or restricted for sale to the public due to its hepatic toxicity.

Information/communication with the patient*

Information/communication with patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Panic Disorder (PD), and/or Panic Attack

	Information for the patient should form part of the integrated treatment of anxiety disorders at the Primary Care level.				
	 The patient, and when appropriate, the family, should be given information based on the evidence regarding their symptoms, treatment options, and the possibilities of treating their disorders, taking patient preferences into account to facilitate joint decision-making. 				
	D	A contact style based on emparity and understanding is recommended to improve patient satisfaction.			
	The possibility of family support should be assessed, taking into account the available social resources, and suggesting the most appropriate changes in lifestyle.				
1+ H85 D8	(J)	ears since the second s			

Source: Workgroup for the Clinical Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care. Clinical Practice Guideline for Treatment of Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care. Madrid: National Plan for the NHS of the MSC. Health Technology Assessment Unit. Agencia Lain Entralgo. Region of Madrid: 2008. Clinical Practice Guid: HTAU Nº 2006/10.

1. Introduction

This document is the *complete* version of the CPG for treatment patients with anxiety disorders in Primary Care. The CPG is structured into chapters which respond to the questions that appear at the start of each one. A summary of the evidence and recommendations are presented at the end of each chapter. The right margin will include an indication of the type of study and the possibility of bias of the bibliography reviewed.

The material that provides a detailed description of the methodological process applied for 2PG (description of the techniques used in qualitative research, search strategy for and the uestion, guideline table) is available at the Contract the CPG (description of the techniques used in qualitative research, search strategy for each climcal question, guideline table) is available at the GuiaSalud website, as well as in the UETS, the Health Technology Assessment Unit of the Agencia Laín Entralgo. These websites also include the Methodology Manual for CPG preparation, which covers the general methodology used ¹. There is also a *summarized* version of the CPG, which is shorter and includes the main appendices of the *complete* CPG, a *quick* guideline with the main algorithms and recommendations and an informational brochure for patients. These versions are available on both the aforementioned websites as well as in the printed edition.

Prevalence of anxiety and associated burdens

Mental health, as an indivisible part of health, contributes significantly to quality of life and full social participation. Mental disorders constitute a significant social and economic burden due to their frequency, coexistence, and comorbidity in addition to the disability that they generate. Mental illness is the second leading cause of filness in societies with market economies, with these figures expected to increase considerably 2 with few prospects for control.

In our context, it has been confirmed to be one of the categories of causes that most contribute to the loss of illness-free years of life, using the DALY rate (Disability-Adjusted Life Years)³ as the measure of the burden of illness. For this reason, mental health has required special attention by the agents involved, reflected by the broad lines of action in the document "Mental Health Strategy for the National Health System"⁴: healthcare for patients, coordination amongst institutions, scientific societies, and associations, training of healthcare personnel, promotion of research and systems of information and evaluation.

With mental health problems, anxiety disorders are associated with significant levels of disability ⁵. This dysfunctionality has a considerable impact on personal well-being, on social relations, and on productivity on the job, with the aggravating factor that its prevalence and the recurrent or even chronic nature of many of these disorders makes them as debilitating as any other chronic physical illness.

Anxiety disorders, along with mood disorders, are the disorders that contribute most to morbid-mortality through the suffering that they generate and are the ones that have the biggest repercussions on national economies ⁶⁻⁸. Pathological panic-anxiety makes it difficult for the subject to function anywhere, limiting autonomy, and leaving the person trapped and threatened by the panic itself.

In our context, most studies put the prevalence of mental illness in the general population at between 10% and $20\%^{9,10}$. Figures from the Eurobarometer give an estimated prevalence for any mental disorder in Spain of 17.6%, higher in women (20.8%) than in men (14.2%)¹¹. The most frequent disorders are normally anxiety, followed by depression, or vice-versa, depending on the classification used and whether or not the analysis includes phobias.

The international prevalence of anxiety disorders varies widely among the different epidemiological studies published, although the variability associated with anxiety disorders considered overall is significantly lower than the variability associated with the disorders considered individually. There are several factors that explain the heterogeneity of the percentages in these studies, such as the diagnostic criteria for inclusion, the diagnostic instruments, the size of the sample, the country covered by the study, and the response percentage. The estimated percentages of prevalence-year and prevalence-life for anxiety disorders were 10.6% and 16.6% respectively ¹². If the studies are done among users who visit Primary Care facilities, the prevalence increases, varying between 20% and 40%^{5,6,10,13,14}. Anxiety disorders in and of themselves or associated with other pathologies are one of the most frequent causes of Primary Care visits and represent one of the main health problems in Spain. In the context of Spain, the prevalence of anxiety disorders in the community, with the precision difficulties mentioned before, varies around 2.3%-8.9%⁹, reaching figures between 9% and 19.5%^{5,8,10,14} when we talk about patients who visit a healthcare centre because they have the perception that they do not feel good.

Women have a higher risk than men of suffering anxiety disorders ^{11,15}, and the prevalence of most of the anxiety disorders in the case of women is double the prevalence for men, except in the case of social phobia, in which the differences are smaller. The age at which anxiety disorders start is lower than for depression disorders. This appears to indicate that many people who show signs of anxiety disorders during childhood, adolescence, and early years of adulthood, have a higher risk of developing a depression disorder dater in life. This means that a therapeutic approach to anxiety disorders could prevent the later appearance of depression disorders ^{11,15} (See tables 1-3).

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE FOR TREATMENT OF PATIENTS WITH ANXIETY DISORDERS IN PRIMARY CARE

Table 1. Prevalence-year of anxiety disorders following the criteria DSM-IV (data weighted for the Spanish population). 2001 - 2002				
Anxiety disorders				

Anxiety disorders							
	Тс	Total		Men		Women	
	Prev (%)	CI 95%	Prev (%)	CI 95%	Prev (%)	CI 95%	
Generalized anxiety	0.50	(0.30-0.70)	0.44	(0.11-0.78)	1.18	(0.81-1.56)	
Social phobia	0.60	(0.33-0.87)	0.57	(0.13-1.00)	0.64	(0.32-0.95)	
Specific phobia	3.60	(2.82-4.38)	1.19	(0.68-1.70)	4.20	(3.23-5.16)	
Post-traumatic stress disorder	0.50	(0.30-0.70)	0.25	(0.02-0.48)	0.94	(0.50-1.39)	
Agoraphobia	0.30	(0.10-0.50)	0.15	(0.02-0.29)	0.60	(0.26-0.95)	
Panic disorder	0.60	(0.40-0.80)	0.38	(0.14-0.63)	0.98	(0.50-1.36)	
Any anxiety disorder	6.20	(4.63-7.77)	2.53	(1.74-3.31)	7.61	(6.41-8.80)	
CI: confidence interval.					it is		
Source ¹⁵ : Study ESEMeD-España.					anditits		
				0	0		

Table 2. Prevalence-life of anxiety disorders following the criteria DSM-IV (data weighted for the Spanish population). 2001 - 2002 . 60

Anxiety disorders						
	Total		Men		Women	
	Prev (%)	CI 95%	Prev (%)	CI 95%	Prev (%)	CI 95%
Generalized anxiety	1.89	(1.49-2.29)	1.15	(0.64-1.66)	2.57	(1.49-3.16)
Social phobia	1.17	(0.81-1.54)	1.06	(0.51-1.61)	1.28	(0.83-1.73)
Specific phobia	4.52	(3 82-5.23)	2.32	(1.60-3.05)	6.54	(5.38-7.69)
Post-traumatic stress disorder	1.95 . c	(1.18-2.73)	1.06	(0.00-2.2)	2.79	(1.71-3.87)
Agoraphobia	0.62	(0.36-0.89)	0.47	(0.08-0.86)	0.76	(0.39-1.14)
Panic disorder	970	(1.32-2.09)	0.95	(0.53-1.37)	2.39	(1.76-3.02)
Any anxiety disorder	9.39	(8.41-10.37)	5.71	(4.57-6.85)	12.76	(11.24-14.29)

CI: confidence interval.

Source¹⁵: Study ESEMeD-Espana.

Table 3. Prevalence-year of anxiety disorders classified according to DSM-IV by age group in the Spanish population. 2001 - 2002

Age	Any mental disorder	Anxiety disorder
NOO-	Prevalence (CI 95%)	Prevalence (CI 95%)
18-29 years old	10.1 (7.3-12.9)	7.8 (5.3-10.4)
25-34 years old	8.5 (6.3-10.8)	4.2 (2.9-5.6)
35-49 years old	8.4 (6.6-10.2)	4.5 (3.2-5.8)
50-64 years old	9.1 (6.8-11.3)	6 (4.3-7.7)
Over 65 years old	6.6 (5.1-8.1)	3.9 (2.8-5.0)

CI: confidence interval.

Source¹⁵: Study ESEMeD-España.

Variability in clinical practice

Patients with mental disorders or chronic psychosocial conflicts repeatedly visit the different healthcare facilities, especially at the level of primary care, mainly due to quick access and the longitudinality of the care ^{5,8,16,17}.

In general, mental health problems are normally treated initially in Primary Care facilities, and a significant number of the requests generated by these pathologies are resolved at this level ^{18,19}.

Family physicians are the healthcare professionals, due to their position in the healthcare network, can detect the first psychiatric symptoms earlier in patients who visit their offices with an anxiety disorder. Some of the studies done in our context indicate a low level of detection of psychiatric disorders, with the prevalence of the detected disorders ranging between 18%-27% versus 36%-47% of probable pathology ^{9,13,14}. The lack of a common pattern in the presentation of different anxiety disorders, somatization and association with chronic illnesses, as well as the limitation of time in family medicine facilities are some of the reasons that complicate diagnosis within the scope of Primary care ^{20,21}.

Anxiety and panic are very frequent symptoms in doctor visits, and they are very often unspecific and can be masked somatically. This makes the treatment of patients with anxiety disorders complex, especially if we take into account the difficulty of differential diagnosis, the need for specific therapeutic treatment that at time is extended over time for each form of the illness, as well as the need at time for referral to Specialized Care when the etiology, disorder, or manifestations of the illness require it.

All of these factors generate a certain degree of variability in the treatment of anxiety disorders. A study done in Spain, with data from three regions, evaluates the main factors that influence the therapeutic attitudes of doctors in connection with anxiety disorders and the variability in how they are approached. The type of anxiety disorder was the determining variable for the type of therapy selected the referral criteria. The probability of referring patients increased when there was a prior diagnosis of anxiety. Patients with phobic anxiety, panic, or mixed anxiety were more than twice as likely to be referred as patients with generalized anxiety. In general, pharmacological treatment was done with appropriate and specific drugs, with a high degree of variability that depended mainly on the type and other characteristics of the process, the patient, and the professional ²².

The variability in the approaches to anxiety disorders is also the result of an enormous variability in training. Different studies have identified a significant need for continuous training in mental health for Primary Care doctors, particularly in the field of psychiatric interviews and the knowledge, abilities, and attitudes to provide "psychological assistance", especially in regard to somatization disorder, psychosexual problems, treatment of stress ^{17,23-28}.

In terms of the use of non-medication treatments, these are covered in a minimal number of studies, although the low use of psychological actions with proven effectiveness is significant ⁶. There are even fewer studies evaluating the work done by Primary Care social workers and nursing staff. These professionals play a very important role in the therapeutic treatment of anxiety disorders at the primary care level, providing both individual and group therapy, with techniques that can be implemented in Primary Care provided that the professionals involved have received the necessary training.

The search for a common pattern for the detection and treatment of pathological anxiety in a Primary Care facility is not a simple task. This is due in part to the wide variety of official diagnostic categories that exist, the relatively sort duration of office visits, the frequent somatization and association of this type of disorders with other chronic illnesses. For this reason, many studies have concluded that one of the basic needs is to provide general practitioners with clear, practical clinical guides based on scientific criteria to assist them in effectively detecting and treating anxiety disorders, offering the ideal therapeutic alternatives in each process, at the care level in which they are available ^{7,8,29}.

unespendence on the antication of the critical Practice Cuideline and the subjection of the critical Practice Cuideline and the subject of the subject

2. Scope and objectives

The main objective of this guideline is to orient healthcare professionals in the area of *Primary Care (PC)*, on one hand in *the recognition of anxiety disorders* in *adult* patients, and on the other, in the selection of recommendations based on the available scientific evidence on *therapeutic actions for treating adult patients* with anxiety disorders that are treatable from the point of view of Primary Care, *generalized anxiety disorder (GAD)*, and *panic disorder (PD)*, with or without agoraphobia. This objective involves an improvement in the quality of the care in the treatment of this process, to consequently improve the quality of life of these patients.

The guideline is therefore aimed at healthcare professionals involved in treatment patients with anxiety disorders and who work in the area of Primary Care (doctors, nursing staff, social workers) and is also aimed at patients who suffer these anxiety disorders and who turb to primary care. For the latter, it is a tool that allows them to know the possible strategies and therapies for their illnesses, so that they can avoid treatments that are not supported by scientific evidence.

The guideline presents different therapeutic alternatives (pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment) that can be used in Primary Care depending on the available resources. In fact, the resources that are currently available were taken into consideration before the final preparation of the recommendations.

This guideline does not directly cover recommendations for anxiety disorders other than generalized anxiety disorder or panic disorder in adults. Surce this guideline is focused nationally, it does not cover organizational questions, but rather use to establish a basic circuit for patients between the two levels of healthcare – Primary Care and Specialized Care – so it will also be distributed among the other professionals involved in providing patient care in an effort to provide integrated care of patients.

3. Methodology

The methodology used is covered in the *CPG preparation manual* from the Ministry of Healthcare and Consumption¹.

The steps that were followed were:

- Creation of the group to create the guideline, made up of professionals from: Primary Care (general practitioners, nurses, social workers), Specialized Attention (psychiatrists, psychologists, and nurses), and technicians from the Health Technology Assessment Unit (UETS). A patient with an anxiety disorder also participated in the preparation of this guideline as part of the guideline development group, from the initial work phases
- Formation of a sub-group, with members from the Guideline development group, to prepare information aimed at the patients.
- Definition of the guide's scope and objectives, including the social view of the illness using qualitative research techniques. Different healthcare professionals were contacted (Primary Care doctors and Specialized Care doctors) and with the help of a questionnaire, the resources of participant observation, and in-depth interviews, information was gathered on the social, demographic, and health conditions, in addition to the healthcare path and treatment of patients with anxiety disorders who were treated by those professionals. A discussion group was also formed with anxiety disorder patients who voluntarily participated to openly express their interests in the treatment of their illnesses.
- Formulation of clinical questions following the Patient/Intervention/Comparison/Outcome format (PICO).
- Bibliographic search in: Medline, Embase, Pascal Biomed, CINAHL, Cochrane Plus, DARE, HTA, Clinical Evidence, DAHTA, NHS EED, CINDOC. Languages: Spanish, English, and French. Study population: adults. Publication year limitation: only for primary studies. First a search was done to locate practical clinical guides (CPGs) and their quality was evaluated using the AGREE instrument. Three CPGs were included as secondary source of evidence in response to specific sections of the guideline (treatment, information/communication with the patient, and diagnostic and therapeutic strategies). In phase two, a search was done for systematic revisions, meta-analyses, and evaluation reports in the databases mentioned earlier. In phase three, an expanded search was done on primary studies (clinical tests, observational studies, diagnostic and prognostic test studies).
- Evaluation of the quality of the studies and summary of the evidence for each question following the recommendations of SIGN (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network).
- Formulation of recommendations based on SIGN's "formal evaluation" or "reasoned judgment". Controversial recommendations or those lacking evidence were resolved by consensus of the creation group.
- The guideline was reviewed externally by a group of professionals selected for their knowledge on the methodology of preparing guides, the pathology covered, and the scope of application. The different Scientific Societies involved were contacted: Spanish Family and Community Medicine Society (SEMFYC), Spanish Society of Primary Care Physicians (SEMERGEN), Madrid Society for Family and Community Medicine (SoMaMFYC), Spanish Psychiatry Society (SEP), Spanish Neuro-psychiatry Association (AEN) and the Spanish Union of Scientific Nursing Societies (UESCE). In the case of patient participation, the Spanish Confederation of Family Groups and People with Mental Illnesses

18ting.

(FEAFES), the Madrid Federation of Mental Health Associations (FEMASAN), and the Madrid Panic and Agoraphobia Association (AMADAG). All of these societies were represented either as members of the guideline development group or as external reviewers.

• The material that provides the detailed information on the methodology applied to prepare the CPG (description of the techniques used in the qualitative research, the search strategy to updating. for each clinical question, guideline table) is available at www.guiasalud.es.

Updates to the Guideline

especially of the contraction of this chines be and the contraction of the chines be and the contraction of the chines be and the The UETS, which is responsible for publishing the Guideline, will also be in charge of updating it within 3 to 5 years, or earlier, depending on the new evidence that becomes available. This update will be done by adding the updated bibliographic searches and will focus especially on the aspects

4. Definition, clinical features and classifications

This chapter will answer the following questions:

- What is the definition of anxiety as a symptom/syndrome?
- What is the definition of anxiety as a specific clinical profile? •
- How are anxiety disorders classified?

4.1. Normal and pathological anxiety

and it is subject to whole ting. Anxiety can be defined as the anticipation of future harm or misfortune, accompanied by a feeling of dysphoria (unpleasantness) and/or somatic symptoms of tension. The objective of the anticipated harm may be internal or external. It is an alert signal that can warn of imminent danger and allows the person to take the necessary measures to confront a threat.

It is important to understand anxiety as a normal feeling or emotional state in response to certain situations and that it constitutes a common response to different daily stressful situations. This means that a certain degree of anxiety is even desirable for the normal treatment of day-today demands. Only when this exceeds a certain incensity or the person's adaptive capacity does anxiety become pathological, causing significant discomfort with symptoms that affect the person physically, psychologically, and behaviorally (table 4).

	Physical symptoms	Psychological and behavioral symptoms
	Vegetative: sweating, dry mouth, dizzness, instability	Worry, apprehension
	Neuromuscular: trembling, muscular tension, headache, paresthesia	Feeling of oppressiveness
	Cardiovascular: palpitations, accelerated heartbeat, precordial pain	Fear of losing control, of going crazy, or the feeling of imminent death
	Respiratory: dysnea	Difficulty concentrating, complaints of memory loss
	Digestive: nausea, vomiting, dyspepsia, diarrhea, constipation, aerophagia, meteorism	Irritability, restlessness, apprehension
0	Genito-urinary: frequent urination, sexual problems	Behavior to avoid certain situations
It has be		Inhibition or psychomotor blockage Obsessions or compulsions
14		

Table 4. Symptoms of anxiety physical and psychological

Anxiety disorders as such are a group of illnesses characterized by the presence of excessive worry, fear, tension, or activation that causes significant discomfort or a clinically significant deterioration of the activity of the individual ³⁰.

The causes of anxiety disorders are not fully understood, but biological, environmental, and psycho-social factors are involved ^{31,32}.

The biological factors include alterations in neurobiological gabaergic, and seratoninergic systems, as well as structural anomalies in the limbic system (paralimbic cortex), one of the mostaffected regions of the brain. Certain physical alterations and greater frequency of usage and/or withdrawal from medicines, alcohol, drugs and/or sedatives, and other substances. Lastly, there is a certain genetic predisposition in the appearance of these disorders ³³⁻³⁶.

The environmental factors include the influence of certain environmental stress egents, greater hypersensitivity, and learned response 36,37. The psychosocial risk factors for these disorders include stressful situations, family environment, threatening life experiences, and excessive worry about common subjects. The pre-disposition factors include the influence of personality characteristics ³².

It appears that the interaction of multiple determining factors favors the appearance of these anxiety disorders³⁸, and comorbity with other mental disorders, such as mood disorders, is common ^{34,39}. ijice G

4.2. Classifications

There are several universal criteria for determining whether a person's behavior can be diagnosed as an anxiety disorder. These criteria are included in the two most important mental (or psychopathological) disorder classifications:

- DSM-IV- TR (American Psychiatric Association, APA).
- CIE-10 (World Health Organization, WHO).

The DSM-IV-TR lists twelve anxiety disorders, and in the CIE-10, neurotic disorders (anxiety) are grouped with stress-related and somatomorphic disorders (table 5)^{40,41}.

Table 5. Anxiety disorder classifications according to the DSM-IV-TR and the CIE-10: equivalence

	DSM-IV-TR	CIE-10			
		Phobic anxiety disorder			
	Social phobia	Social phobias			
	Simple phobia	specific (isolated) phobias			
0	Agoraphobia without history of panic disorder	Agoraphobia			
		Other anxiety disorders			
	Panic disorder with agoraphobia	Panic disorder			
	Panic disorder without agoraphobia				

DSM-IV-TR	CIE-10
	Phobic anxiety disorder
Generalized anxiety disorder	Generalized anxiety disorder
	Mixed anxiety and depressive disorder
	Other mixed anxiety disorders
	Other specified anxiety disorders
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	Obsessive-compulsive disorder
	Reaction to severe stress and adjustment disorders
Post-traumatic stress disorder	Post-traumatic stress disorder
Acute stress disorder	Reaction to severe stress
	Adjustment disorders
	Dissociative disorders
Anxiety disorder due to medical condition	in
Substance-induced anxiety disorder	:06:
	Somatoform disorders
Anxiety disorder not otherwise specified	Other neurotic disorders

 Table 5. Anxiety disorder classifications according to the DSM-IV-TR and the CIE-10:

 equivalence

The following table presents the classification of these anxiety disorders according to the **DSM-IV-TR-AP manual**³⁰. This manual was prepared between Primary Care and Psychiatry in order to diagnose mental disorders in PC, and all of the codes included in it are taken from the DSM-IV-TR. Table 6 includes the anxiety disorders according to the DSM-IV-TR-AP, along with the official codes of the CIE-9-MC and the CIE-10 codes.

	CIE-10	Disorder (according to DSM-IV-TR-AP)	CIE-9
	F06.4	Adviety disorder due to (specify illness)	[293.84]
	F10.8	Alcohol-related anxiety disorder	[291.89]
	F19.8	Other sustance-related anxiety disorder	[292.89]
	F40.01	Panic disorder with agoraphobia	[300.21]
	F41.0	Panic disorder without agoraphobia	[300.01]
	F40.D	Social phobia	[300.23]
0	640.2	Specific phobia	[300.29]
It has be	F40.00	Agoraphobia without history of panic disorder	[300.22]
NO.S	F93.0	Separation anxiety disorder	[309.21]
K.	F42.8	Obsessive-compulsive disorder	[300.3]
	F43.1	Post-traumatic stress disorder	[309.81]
	F43.0	Acute stress disorder	[308.3]

 Table 6. Anxiety disorder classification according to the DSM-IV-TR-AP

O

CIE-10	Disorder (according to DSM-IV-TR-AP)	CIE-9
F41.1	Generalized anxiety disorder	[300.02]
F43.28	Adjusment disorder with anxiety	[309.24]
F41.9	Non-specific anxiety disorder	[300.00]

Table 6. Anxiety disorder classification according to the DSM-IV-TR-AP

And lastly, the International Primary Care Classification "CIAP-2" from the WONCA⁴². This classification is based on three-digit alphanumeric codes, which can be expanded if neces sary. The first is a letter that represents the organic system or apparatus, and covers the 17 chapters of this classification. Anxiety-related aspects would be represented under the "P-psychological problems" heading of the abbreviated CIAP-2 codes. The second and third digits are numbers, called components, which are related specifically or non-specifically with: signs or symptoms; administrative, diagnostic, preventive, or therapeutic procedures; complementary test results; referrals, tracking, or other visit motives, or illnesses and health problems. The CIAP-2 codes that correspond to anxiety are shown in the table below as components. The table also specifies the ie. Onideline equivalence with the CIE-10 codes:

Table 7. Abbreviated CIAP-2 codes for anxiety

Feelings of anxiety/tension/nervousness: P01 Anxious-state/anxiety disorders: P74	D Doval	
ors since the publication of this C.	Component 1: signs and symptoms Feelings of anxiety/tension/nervousness: P01	Component 7: health problems and illnesses Anxious-state/anxiety disorders: P74
are since the publication of		C.
ars since the publice	ation	
ars since the '	oublice	
arstin	cethe .	
	arssin	
	S*	

dating.

5. Diagnosing anxiety

This chapter will answer the following questions:

- What are the diagnostic criteria of the different anxiety disorders? •
- What are the criteria for suspecting anxiety disorders? •
- What studies should be done initially with adults suspected to suffer anxiety disorders in order to allow early detection?
- Are there key questions that could help Primary Care professionals to detect anxiety disorders in patient interviews?
- What are the differential diagnoses to be taken into account?

5.1. Diagnostic criteria

Lities subject to woodating. This section describes the diagnostic criteria with which anxiety disorders must conform as specified in the DSM-IV-TR ⁴⁰. The proposed system is the one described in the DSM-IV-TR AP ³⁰ manual, in the form of steps, although it has been modified. The criteria of the DSM-IV-TR were taken into account in cases in which they were summarized in the DSM-IV-TR-AP:

Step 1

Consider the role of a medical illness or the consumption of substances and take into account whether the anxiety is better explained by another mental disorder:

Consider the role of medical illnesses 1A.

Anxiety disorder due to a general medical condition

- A. Prominent anxiety, Panic Attacks, or obsessions or compulsions predominate in the clinical picture.
- B. There is evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that the disturbance is the direct physiological consequence of a general medical condition.
- C. The disturbance is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Adjustment Disorder With Anxiety in which the stressor is a serious general medical condition).
- D. The disturbance does not occur exclusively during the course of a Delirium.

Earhe disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupa-It has been 5 tional, or other important areas of functioning.

1B. If the subject takes abused substances or medication, consider the following:

Substance-induced anxiety disorder (including medication)

- A. Prominent anxiety, Panic Attacks, or obsessions or compulsions predominate in the clinical picture.
- (1) the symptoms in Criterion A developed during, or within 1 month of, Substance
 (2) medication use is etiologically related to a set of the symptometry of the set of t B. There is evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings of either

- C. The disturbance is not better accounted for by an Anxiety Disorder that is not substance induced. Evidence that the symptoms are better accounted for by an Andrety Disorder that is not substance induced might include the following: the symptoms precede the onset of the substance use (or medication use); the symptoms persist for a substantial period of time (e.g., about a month) after the cessation of acute withdrawal or severe intoxication or are substantially in excess of what would be expected given the type or amount of the substance used or the duration of use; or there is other evidence suggesting the existence of an independent non-substance-induced Anxiety Disorder (e.g., a history of recurrent non-substance-related episodes)
- D. The disturbance does not occur exclusively during the course of a Delirium.
- E. The disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

1C. Consider the role of other mental disorders that could explain the anxiety symptoms better

Additional comments:

Differential diagnosis:

In the case of a patient that presents a differential diagnosis with an anxiety disorder, systemic illnesses should be reasonably ruled out. To do this, you should take into account the physical symptoms that predominate, the knowledge of the prior medical and psychological history of both the patient and the patient's family and the illnesses that generate anxiety disorders, as well as the probability of the ones that may be affecting the patient. Do not forget high capacity of toxins such as caffeine, cannabis, or cocaine and other synthetic Trugs to induce anxiety attacks and panic in predisposed subjects. It is also necessary to consider the importance of alcohol for many of the people who suffer anxiety (especially generalized anxiety, panic disorder, and social phobia) since it is used as a tranquilizer to relieve the anxiety symptoms. Based on all of these factors, determine the additional tests that should be carried out, depending on the level of suspicion and the immediacy with which the tests must be carried out, depending on the symptoms and the evaluation.

• Medical comorbidity in anxiety disorders:

A wide range of medical illnesses can produce symptoms of anxiety, although this field – comorbidity - is likely to change because an increasing number of somatic disorders are being described in patients affected by pathological anxiety. The current differentiation between primary disorders or those "due" to a medical illness will give way to those that are "associated with somatic pathology". As is the case of depression or bipolar disorder, the coexistence of auto-immune thyroid pathology, asthma, migraines, etc. progressively highlights the probability that these are different manifestations of a single systemic source 43 . In the case of patients with diagnosed anxiety disorders, several studies have shown a higher prevalence of gastrointestinal, genitourinary, osteomuscular, thyroid, and allergic ideline and it is subject disorders, as well as migraines, cardipathy, and hyperlaxitude in joints, in comparison with patients without anxiety disorders 44-47.

Step 2

Panic attack

Panic attacks are defined as follows:

A discrete period of intense fear or discomfort, in which four (or more) of the following symptoms developed abruptly and reached a peak within 10 minutes:

Cardiopulmonary symptoms:

- 1. chest pain or discomfort.
- 2. sensations of shortness of breath or smothering.
- 3. palpitations, pounding heart, or accelerated heart rate.

Autonomic symptoms:

- 4. Sweating.
- 5. chills or hot flushes.

Gastrointestinal symptoms:

- 6. Feeling of choking.
- 7. Nausea or abdominal distress.

Neurological symptoms:

- trembling or shaking.
 - 9. paresthesias (numbress or tingling sensations).
 - 10. feeling dizzy, unsteady, lightheaded, or faint.

ting

Psychiatric symptoms:

- 11. derealization (feelings of unreality) or depersonalization (being detached from oneself).
- 12. Fear of losing control or going crazy.
- 13. Fear of dying.
- are not related to a situational trigger) and they are clinically signifi-2A. it is subject to

Panic disorder with agoraphobia

- A. Both (1) and (2):
 - (1) recurrent unexpected Panic Attacks.

(2) at least one of the attacks has been followed by 1 month (or more) of one (or more) of the following:

(a) persistent concern about having additional attacks.

(b) worry about the implications of the attack or its consequences (e.g., losing control, having a heart attack, "going crazy").

- (c) A significant change in behavior related to the attacks.
- B. The presence of agoraphobia:
 - (1) Anxiety about being in places or situations from which escape might be difficult (or embarrassing) or in which help may not be available in the event of having an unexpected or situationally predisposed Panic Attack or panic-like symptoms. Agoraphobic fears typically involve characteristic clusters of situations that include being outside the home alone; being in a crowd or standing in a line; being on a bridge; and traveling in a bus, train, or automobile.
 - Note: Consider the diagnosis of Specific Phobia if the avoidance is limited to one or only a few specific situations, or Social Phobia if the avoidance is limited to social situations.
 - (2) The situations are avoided (e.g., travel is restricted) or else are endured with marked distress or with anxiety about having a Panic Attack or panic-like symptoms, or reequire the presence of a companion.
 - (3) The anxiety or phobic avoidance is not better accounted for by another mental disorder, such as Social Phobia (e.g., avoidance limited to social situations because of fear of embarrassment), Specific Phobia (e.g., avoidance limited to a single situation like elevators), Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (e.g., avoidance of dirt in someone with an obsession about contamination), Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (e.g., avoidance of stimuli associated with a severe stressor), or Separation Anxiety Disorder (e.g., avoidance of leaving home or relatives).

- C. The Panic Attacks are not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or a general medical condition (e.g., hyperthyroidism).
- D. The Panic Attacks are not better accounted for by another mental disorder, such as Social Phobia (e.g., occurring on exposure to feared social situations), Specific Phobia (e.g., on exposure to a specific phobic situation), Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (e.g., on exndities subject to updating. posure to dirt in someone with an obsession about contamination), Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (e.g., in response to stimuli associated with a severe stressor), or Separation Anxiety Disorder (e.g., in response to being away from home or close relatives).

OR

Panic disorder without agoraphobia

- A. Criterion A of panic disorder with agoraphobia is fulfilled.
- B. Absence of agoraphobia.

C and D. Same as in the case of panic disorder with agoraphobia.

If the panic attack is related to a situational trigger associated with 2B. another mental disorder, consider the following:

Panic attacks that occur in the context of other anxiety disorders (e.g. social phobia, specific phobia, post-traumatic stress disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder).

Step 3

If the symptom is fear, avoidance, or anxious anticipation of one or more specific situations, consider 3A, 3B, and 3C:

If the symptoms are related to social situations or actions in which 3A. the individual is exposed to people from outside the family circle or the possible evaluation by others, consider:

Social phobia

A. A marked and persistent fear of one or more social or performance situations in which the person is exposed to unfamiliar people or to possible scrutiny by others. The individual fears that he or she will act in a way (or show anxiety symptoms) that will be humiliating or embarrassing.

Note: In children, there must be evidence of the capacity for age-appropriate social relationships with familiar people and the anxiety must occur in peer settings, not just in interactions with adults.

B. Exposure to the feared social situation almost invariably provokes anxiety, which may take the form of a situationally bound or situationally predisposed Panic Attack. Note: In children, the anxiety may be expressed by crying, tantrums, freezing, or shrinking from social situations with unfamiliar people.
- C. The person recognizes that the fear is excessive or unreasonable. Note: In children, this feature may be absent.
- D. The feared social or performance situations are avoided or else are endured with intense anxiety or distress.
- E. The avoidance, anxious anticipation, or distress in the feared social or performance situation(s) interferes significantly with the person's normal routine, occupational (academic) functioning, or social activities or relationships, or there is marked distress about having the phobia.
- F. In individuals under age 18 years, the duration is at least 6 months.
- G. The fear or avoidance is not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or a general medical condition and is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Panic Disorder With or Without Agoraphobia, Separation Anxiety Disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, a Pervasive Developmental Disorder, or Schizoid Personality Disorder).
- H. If a general medical condition or another mental disorder is present, the fear in Criterion A is unrelated to it, e.g., the fear is not of Stuttering, trembling in Parkinson's disease, or exhibiting abnormal eating behavior in Anorexia Nervosa or Bulimia Nervosa.

3B. If the symptoms include the avoidance of specific situations or objects, consider the following:

Specific phobia

- A. Marked and persistent fear that is excessive or unreasonable, cued by the presence or anticipation of a specific object or situation (e.g., flying, heights, animals, receiving an injection, seeing blood).
- B. Exposure to the phobic stimulus almost invariably provokes an immediate anxiety response, which may take the form of a situationally bound or situationally predisposed Panic Attack.

Note: In children, the anxiety may be expressed by crying, tantrums, freezing, or clinging.

- C. The person recognizes that the fear is excessive or unreasonable. Note: In children, this feature may be absent.
- D. The phobic situation(s) is avoided or else is endured with intense anxiety or distress.

E. The avoidance, anxious anticipation, or distress in the feared situation(s) interferes significantly with the person's normal routine, occupational (or academic) functioning, or social activities or relationships, or there is marked distress about having the phobia.

- F. In individuals under age 18 years, the duration is at least 6 months.
- G. The anxiety, Panic Attacks, or phobic avoidance associated with the specific object or situation are not better accounted for by another mental disorder, such as Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (e.g., fear of dirt in someone with an obsession about contamination), Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (e.g., avoidance of stimuli associated with a severe

stressor), Separation Anxiety Disorder (e.g., avoidance of school), Social Phobia (e.g., avoidance of social situations because of fear of embarrassment), Panic Disorder with Agoraphobia, or Agoraphobia Without History of Panic Disorder.

3C. If the anxiety or avoidance is related to situations in which escape upiect to updating. may be difficult or situations in which there is no help available if a panic attack occurs and there is no history of panic attacks, consider the following:

Panic disorder with agoraphobia

If the symptom is related to a situation in which escape may be 3D. difficult or situations in which there is no help available if a panic attack occurs and there is no history of panic attacks, consider the following:

Agoraphobia without history of panic disorder

- A. The presence of Agoraphobia related to fear of developing panic-like symptoms (e.g., dizziness or diarrhea). S
- B. Criteria have never been met for Panic Disorder?
- C. The disturbance is not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or a general medical condition.
- D. If an associated general medical condition is present, the fear described in Criterion A is in sually sually increases ince the publication of clearly in excess of that usually associated with the condition.

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN THE SPANISH NHS

Step 4

4. If the apprehension or anxiety are related to persistent thoughts (obsessions) and/or rituals or recurrent mental acts (compulsions), consider the following:

Obsessive-compulsive disorder

- A. Either obsessions or compulsions: **Obsessions** as defined by (1), (2), (3), and (4):
 - (1) recurrent and persistent thoughts, impulses, or images that are experienced, at some time during the disturbance, as intrusive and inappropriate and that cause marked anxiety or distress.
 - (2) the thoughts, impulses, or images are not simply excessive worries about real-life problems.
 - (3) the person attempts to ignore or suppress such thoughts, impulses, or images, or to neutralize them with some other thought or action.
 - (4) the person recognizes that the obsessional thoughts, impuises, or images are a product of his or her own mind (not imposed from without as in thought insertion).

Compulsions as defined by (1) and (2):

- (1) repetitive behaviors (e.g., hand washing, ordering, checking) or mental acts (e.g., praying, counting, repeating words silently) that the person feels driven to perform in response to an obsession, or according to rules that must be applied rigidly.
- (2) the behaviors or mental acts are ained at preventing or reducing distress or preventing some dreaded event or situation; however, these behaviors or mental acts either are not connected in a realistic way with what they are designed to neutralize or prevent or are clearly excessive.
- B. At some point during the course of the disorder, the person has recognized that the obsessions or compulsions are excessive or unreasonable. Note: This does not apply to children.
- C. The obsessions or compulsions cause marked distress, are time consuming (take more than 1 hour a day), or significantly interfere with the person's normal routine, occupational (or academic) functioning, or usual social activities or relationships.
- D. If another Axis I disorder is present, the content of the obsessions or compulsions is not restricted to it (e.g., preoccupation with food in the presence of an Eating Disorders; hair pulling in the presence of Trichotillomania; concern with appearance in the presence of Body Dysmorphic Disorder; preoccupation with drugs in the presence of a Substance Use

Axis III General medical conditions

Axis V Global assessment of functioning

The multi-axis classification of the DSM-IV-TR⁴⁰ includes five axes:

Axis I Clinical disorders. Other conditions that may be a focus of clinical attention

Axis II Personality disorders. Mental retardation

Axis IV Psychosocial and environmental problems

Disorder; preoccupation with having a serious illness in the presence of Hypochondriasis; preoccupation with sexual urges or fantasies in the presence of a Paraphilia; or guilty ruminations in the presence of Major Depressive Disorder)

E. The disturbance is not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or a general medical condition.

If the symptoms are related to reexperiencing of highly traumatic events, consider 5A and being 5B:

5A. If the symptoms are related to the reexperience of highly traumatic events and the symptoms last less than 4 weeks, consider:

Post-traumatic stress disorder

- A. The person has been exposed to a traumatic event in which both of the following were present:
 - (1) the person experienced, witnessed, or was confronted with an event or events that involved actual or threatened death or serious injury or a threat to the physical integrity of self or others.
 - (2) the person's response involved intense fear, helplessness, or horror. Note: In children, this may be expressed instead by disorganized or agitated behavior.
- B. The traumatic event is persistently reexperienced in one (or more) of the following ways:
 - (1) recurrent and intrusive distressing recollections of the event, including images, thoughts, or perceptions. Note: In young children, repetitive play may occur in which themes or aspects of the trauma are expressed.
 - (2) recurrent distressing dreams of the event. Note: In children, there may be frightening dreams without recognizable content.
 - (3) acting or feeling as if the traumatic event were recurring (includes a sense of reliving the experience, illusions, hallucinations, and dissociative flashback episodes, including those that occur on awakening or when intoxicated). Note: In young children, trauma-specific reenactment may occur.

(4) intense psychological distress at exposure to internal or external cues that symbolize or resemble an aspect of the traumatic event.

(5) physiological reactivity on exposure to internal or external cues that symbolize or resemble an aspect of the traumatic event.

- C. Persistent avoidance of stimuli associated with the trauma and numbing of general responsiveness (not present before the trauma), as indicated by three (or more) of the following:
 - (1) efforts to avoid thoughts, feelings, or conversations associated with the trauma.
 - (2) efforts to avoid activities, places, or people that arouse recollections of the trauma. to updating.
 - (3) inability to recall an important aspect of the trauma.
 - (4) markedly diminished interest or participation in significant activities.
 - (5) feeling of detachment or estrangement from others.
 - (6) restricted range of affect (e.g., unable to have loving feelings).
 - (7) sense of a foreshortened future (e.g., does not expect to have a career, marriage, children, or a normal life span).
- D. Persistent symptoms of increased arousal (not present before the trauma), as indicated by .d anideline an two (or more) of the following:
 - (1) difficulty falling or staying asleep.
 - (2) irritability or outbursts of anger.
 - (3) difficulty concentrating.
 - (4) hypervigilance.
 - (5) exaggerated startle response.
- E. Duration of the disturbance (symptoms in Criteria B, C, and D) is more than 1 month.
- F. The disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.
- If the symptoms persist for at least 2 weeks but not more than 4 5B. weeks, consider

Acute stress disorder

A. The person has been exposed to a traumatic event in which both of the following were present:

(1) the person experienced, witnessed, or was confronted with an event or events that in-Solved actual or threatened death or serious injury, or a threat to the physical integrity of self or others.

(2) the person's response involved intense fear, helplessness, or horror.

- B. Either while experiencing or after experiencing the distressing event, the individual has three (or more) of the following dissociative symptoms:
 - (1) a subjective sense of numbing, detachment, or absence of emotional responsiveness.
 - (2) a reduction in awareness of his or her surroundings (e.g., "being in a daze").
 - (3) Derealization.
 - (4) Depersonalization.
 - (5) dissociative amnesia (i.e., inability to recall an important aspect of the trauma).
- C. The traumatic event is persistently reexperienced in at least one of the following ways: recurrent images, thoughts, dreams, illusions, flashback episodes, or a sense of reliving the experience; or distress on exposure to reminders of the traumatic event.
- D. Marked avoidance of stimuli that arouse recollections of the trauma (e.g., thoughts, feelings, conversations, activities, places, people).
- E. Marked symptoms of anxiety or increased arousal (e.g., difficulty sleeping, irritability, poor concentration, hypervigilance, exaggerated startle response, motor restlessness).
- F. The disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning or impairs the individual's ability to pursue some necessary task, such as obtaining necessary assistance or mobilizing personal resources by telling family members about the traumatic experience.
- G. The disturbance lasts for a minimum of 2 days and a maximum of 4 weeks and occurs within 4 weeks of the traumatic event.
- H. The disturbance is not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or a general medical condition, is not better accounted for by Brief Psychotic Disorder, and is not merely an exacerbation of a preexisting Axis I or Axis II disorder.

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN THE SPANISH NHS

odating.

Step 6

If the symptoms of intense anxiety and worry are related to a variety of events or situations, consider the following:

Generalized anxiety disorder

- for at least 6 months, about a number of events or activities (such as work or school per-formance). A. Excessive anxiety and worry (apprehensive expectation), occurring more days than not
- B. The person finds it difficult to control the worry.
- C. The anxiety and worry are associated with three (or more) of the following six symptoms (with at least some symptoms present for more days than not for the past 6 months). Note: stice Guideline and it Only one item is required in children:
 - (1) restlessness or feeling keyed up or on edge.
 - (2) being easily fatigued.
 - (3) difficulty concentrating or mind going blank.
 - (4) Irritability.
 - (5) muscle tension.
 - (6) sleep disturbance (difficulty falling or staying asleep, or restless unsatisfying sleep).
- D. The focus of the anxiety and worry is not confined to features of an Axis I disorder, e.g., the anxiety or worry is not about having a Panic Attack (as in Panic Disorder), being embarrassed in public (as in Social Phobia), being contaminated (as in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder), being away from home or close relatives (as in Separation Anxiety Disorder), gaining weight (as in Anorexia Nervosa), having multiple physical complaints (as in Somatization Disorder), or having a serious illness (as in Hypochondriasis), and the anxiety and worry do not occur exclusively during Posttraumatic Stress Disorder.
- E. The anxiety, worry or physical symptoms cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.
- F. The disturbance is not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or a general medical condition (e.g., hyperthyroidism) and does not occur exclusively during a Mood Disorder, a Psychotic Disorder, or a Pervasive Hthas been 5 years Developmental Disorder.

Step 7

If the symptoms appear in response to specific psycho-social stress, consider:

Adjustment Disorder with anxiety

- A. The development of emotional or behavioral symptoms in response to an identifiable stressor(s) occurring within 3 months of the onset of the stressor(s).
- B. These symptoms or behaviors are clinically significant as evidenced by either of the following:
 - (1) marked distress that is in excess of what would be expected from exposure to the stressor.
 - (2) significant impairment in social or occupational (academic) functioning.
- C. The stress-related disturbance does not meet the criteria for another specific Axis I disorder and is not merely an exacerbation of a preexisting Axis I or Axis II disorder.
- D. The symptoms do not represent Bereavement.
- E. Once the stressor (or its consequences) has terminated the symptoms do not persist for more than an additional 6 months.

Step 8

If the anxiety is clinically significant and the criteria are not fulfilled for any of the specific disorders described above, consider:

Non-specific anxiety disorder

This includes disorders with prominent symptoms of anxiety or phobic avoidance that do no fulfill the diagnostic criteria for any of the specific disorders described above. The following are several examples:

- (1) *Mixed anxiety-depressive disorder:* this is a persistent or recurring dysphoric mood state that last, at least 1 month and is accompanied for at least 1 month by other anxious and depressive symptoms (e.g. difficulty concentrating or having your mind blank, sleep disorders, fatigue or lack of energy, irritability, worry, crying easily, hypervigilance, anticipation of danger, desperation, and low self-esteem or feelings of uselessness). These symptoms can cause deterioration of the individual's social or work relations or other important areas of their activities.
- (2) Clinically significant social phobic symptoms that are related to the social impact of having a general medical condition or mental disorder (e.g., Parkinson's disease, dermatological conditions, stuttering, anorexia nervosa, body dysmorphic disorder.

- (3) Situations in which the alteration is serious enough to require a diagnosis of anxiety disorder, even though the individual does not present a sufficient number of symptoms to fulfill all of the criteria for a specific anxiety disorder.
- (4) Situations in which the clinical evidence confirms the presence of an anxiety disorder, but it is impossible to determine whether it is a primary disorder, due to medical illness, or substance-induced. updating.

Cultural aspects related to anxiety

The immigrant population in Spain is continually increasing. This population presents some specific clinical characteristics in the different psychiatric disorders, with symptoms that are dependent on their individual cultures. In the case of anxiety disorders, many of these disorders are diagnosed as psychosis due to the presence of hallucinations and delirious intense fears. Likewise, panic attacks can be triggered by fear of magic or witchcraft. There are also syndromes connected to culture, which have now been described in our context, that are related to anxiety disorders, Guideline such "Koro" and "nervous breakdown" 48-52.

5.2. Semi-structured interview

To achieve an overall understanding of the patient and to be able to establish a diagnosis of anxiety disorders, the ideal instrument is the clinical interview ^{53,54}. The interview is used to establish or update the basis of the relationship and gathers or fails to gather the information needed to guideline the diagnosis and the decision as to the strategies to be followed.

By attempting to systematize the technique, between a guided interview and an open interview, the semi-structured interview combines both types, adapting to the characteristics of the doctor-patient encounter that takes place in the Primary Care environment (it combines time management, bio-psychosocial approach, and focuses on the patient as the expert on him or herself. It begins with more open questions (the content of which is partially pre-determined by the healthcare professional), supports the patient's narrative, and later directs the encounter with more specific or closed questions that avoid leaving unanswered questions that are essential to identify and treat the problem The different parts of a semi-structured interview are described in the table Hthas been 5 years since t

Preliminary phase	Exploratory phase	Resolution phase	Final phase
 Empathetic reception Determine the reason for the visit Avoid the "and while I'm here", limiting the reasons for the visit 	 Obtain basic specific information: What the symptoms are like Location Intensity Chronology and evolution Gather specific additional information: Presence of organic or yatrogenic pathology Trigger factors: changes, grieving Social-family environment Personal history: manic episodes, prior episodes of depression Situations that improve or worsen Exploration of the psychosocial sphere: Beliefs and expectations Content of thought Affectivity Personality 	 Synthesis and listing of the problem(s) Inform the patient regarding the nature of the problem Verify that the patient has understood the explanations Involve the patient in the preparation of a diagnostic-therapeutic plan: Agreements Negotiation 	 Taking precautions Final agreement Goodbye

Table 8. Phases of the semi-structured interview⁵⁹⁻⁶¹

In the exploratory phase, normally the Primary Care professional has already gathered much of the supplementary information and the information on the psycho-social environment of a patient whom the professional and the rest of the team already know, which facilitates the process. In the final phase of the interview, the *final agreement* should be emphasized, as the reconversion of the ideas and agreements reached ⁵⁹⁻⁶¹.

5.3. Use of scalescolion

The confirmation of the aforementioned under-diagnosis of anxiety has given rise to a large number of structured instruments or scales that try to detect "potential cases" of illness.

Many of the scales are intended to serve as filtering instruments, and with all of them, once the potential case has been detected, the corresponding diagnostic procedure can then be applied.

The scales in and of themselves do not generate diagnoses, but rather make it possible to select people with high scores who are suspected of suffering a mental pathology, which justifies the later execution of a more in-depth study ⁶².

These measurement instruments also serve to complete a proper evaluation, since they reinforce the diagnostic judgment prepared after the clinical interview and the psychopathological exploration.

All of these instruments have the limitations of detecting false positives and negatives, since they all have a sensitivity and specificity that is lower than 100%. It is therefore neither feasible nor advisable to use the scales routinely in Primary Care for clinical purposes, and under no circumstances should they substitute the clinical interview, even though they are useful as a guideline for the interview and to support the clinical judgment, and they have also become essential tools in clinical research, and also serve to verify the effect that the different therapeutic interventions have on the evolution of the illness ^{62,63}.

ments to be used should be easy to use and interpret. The following sections describe several of the scales related to anxiety ^{59,64,65}. iolect to

Goldberg Anxiety and Depression Scale (GADS)⁶⁶

This scale was conceived to allow the detection of the two most frequent psychopanological disorders in Primary Care. It is a simple instrument that is short and easy to use, and is suitable for administration by Primary Care doctors. It can be used as a guideline for the interview, as well as an indicator of the prevalence, gravity, and evolution of these disorders. The Spanish version has demonstrated its reliability and validity in Primary Care use and has adequate sensitivity (83.1%), specificity (81.8%) and positive predictive value (95.3%).

Hospital, Anxiety, and Depression (HAD)67

A scale of 14 items designed to evaluate anxiety and depression in non-psychiatric hospital outpatient services. This is a state measurement that contains two scales, one for anxiety and the other for depression. One of the main virtues is the suppression of somatic symptoms so that it is possible to independently evaluate the underlying somatic illness. This is a useful instrument validated in our system and is especially interesting and useful in the context of Primary Care 68.

ile

HARS-Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (Chamorro)

This scale evaluates anxiety intensity. It consists of 14 items that evaluate mental, physical, and somatic aspects of anxiety. On item will evaluate depressed mood. It is a externally-applied scale. There is a version adapted to Spanish by Carrobles and cols. (1986). Depending on the type of Hhasbeen 5 years since symptom, it will be measured in terms of seriousness, duration, and dysfunction, from lower to

Clinical Anxiety Scale (CAS) and Physician Questionnaire (PQ)

These are externally-administered scales that evaluate the gravity of the symptoms in diagnosed anxiety patients. The evaluation lapse of the CAS covers the last two days, with the PQ covering the last week. The CAS was designed based on the content areas present in the HARS (Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale) and consists of 7 items. It is specially designed to evaluate psychological symptomology and is influenced very little by somatic manifestations of anxiety. The PQ includes 14 items and evaluates neurotic symptomology and response to treatment. The symptomology covered includes the symptoms that are most familiar to and most commonly observed by general physicians. This test includes a group of emotional symptoms, another group of somatic symptoms, an overall rating, and 1 independent item that evaluates the general gravity of the anxiety disorder. Because they are brief, both scales may be useful in evaluating anxiety disorders in outpatient care, either in hospitals or in Primary Care facilities.

The appendices include two scales, one self-administered (HAD) and the other externallyadministered (GADS) (Appendix 2), since they are easy to handle and interpret within the scope of PC, and are useful to provide key questions to guideline the clinical interview and to evaluate the changes achieved with the different interventions, but not to filter the population. These scales have not been validated with the immigrant population, so it is possible that their sensitivity/specificity, as well as their clinical utility for these patients will be more immided ⁴⁸.

Another appendix also includes a series of key questions to be asked during the interview with the patient to assist healthcare professionals to detect anxiety disorders, specifically Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Panic Disorder ⁷⁰ (Appendix 3).

dating.

5.4. Diagnostic algorithm

The following diagnostic algorithm provides some initial guidelines when faced with a patient with anxiety symptoms:



Source: Modified from Pascual Pascual P., Villena Ferrer A., Morena Rayo S., Téllez Lapeira J.M., *El paciente ansioso*. Internet. Fisterra.com; 2005.

6. Treating anxiety

This chapter will answer the following questions:

- What is the most effective treatment for general anxiety disorder? (GAD) •
- What is the most effective treatment for panic disorders? (PD)
- What is the most effective treatment for panic attacks?

The treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorders (GAD) and Panic Disorder (PD) in Primary Care has the following objectives: relieve the symptoms, prevent the consequences and help and/or advise on the resolution of psycho-social problems, seeking effectiveness in terms of cost/benefit. An integrated focus must be applied, taking into account psychosocial, biological, and pharmaideline and cological measures.

6.1. Psychological treatment

Psychotherapy is a process of interpersonal communication between an expert professional (therapist) and a subject who needs help in regard to mental health problems (patient), the goal of which is to produce changes to improve the patient's montal health⁷¹, for the purpose of causing existing symptoms to disappear or change, attenuate or change behavior and promote growth and development of a positive personality⁷².

Qualitative study

The published results of studies that ask people who visit Primary Care indicate that they either positively accept the psychological interventions²², or they prefer psychological therapy to pharmacological treatments as a way of treating mental health disorders⁷³.

A clinical research study done in Spain emphasized that the principles that must be included in a "support" relationship offered by the Primary Care doctor⁷⁴ and that are the core and the start of any therapeutic intervention. It is crucial that the clinical interview and adequate communication of the diagnosis and the etiological approach for the patient be suitable. The doctor-patient relationship can itself be considered an important therapeutic instrument⁷⁵.

Hthas been 5 years When the professional, making use of the skill of the clinical interview, constructs a relationship based on active listening, he or she validates the patient's ideas and feelings, encourages the expression of emotions and from there comforts, dissents, informs, and reinforces independence.

Although the treatment is proposed from many different theoretical focuses, the following sections, within the different models of psychotherapeutic intervention for the treatment of anxiety disorders, describe the two main groups on which research has focused, mainly, its studies and within which brief and structured psychological interventions are being carried out in Primary Care.

Jodatino.

×0

Cognitive-behavioral therapies^{76.77}

This heading covers a set of techniques that incorporate elements of both Behavioral Therapy - which considers symptoms as a learning of maladapted patterns of behavior and its goal is to correct these patterns – and Cognitive Therapy, which takes into account affective and cognitive processes (expectations, beliefs, thoughts) whose distortion could be the cause of the symptoms, and whose purpose is the identification and analysis of those dysfunctional thoughts and beliefs Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) is an active and directive method in which the patient therapist work jointly in a structured manner, with tasks outside of the session It uses both behavioral and cognitive and their relationship with the symptoms, and the construction of more adaptive and functional response techniques.

and therapist work jointly in a structured manner, with tasks outside of the session.

symptoms to be counteracted: relaxation and breathing, autogenic training, cognitive restructuring, live and deferred exposure, thought-stopping, resolving problems, etc.

Psychodynamic psychotherapies⁷⁸

This heading covers an entire series of psychotherapies whose historic origins lie in Freud's research and psychoanalysis, and which have certain fundamental concepts in common, such as the conflict between the different aspects of the Ego, the existence of unconscious motivations in our behavior, the importance of early experiences, defense mechanisms as strategies to modulate psychic pain and anguish and the consideration of the therapeutic relationship as the promoting factor of the comprehension of the origin and continuation of the symptoms.

0

The goal of psychodynamic psychotherapies to promote the comprehension and integration of the aspects of the Ego in conflict, finding new ways to integrate them to function and develop with greater freedom and effectivenes Some of the techniques included in psychodynamic psychotherapies are brief psychotherapy and group psychotherapy.

In the most recent developments, psychodynamic psychotherapies have included aspects of cognitive and behavioral theories, which have led to the use of more directive intervention techniques, with precise delineation of the conflicts to be resolved. These include brief family psychotherapy, interpersonal therapy, and cognitive-analytical therapy.

In the study of anxiety disorders, interventions based on psychodynamic theories have been given little attention.

The guideline is mainly focused on CBT interventions. However, the distinction between the interventions included in treatments with CBT in the different studies covered here is difficult to an yec make and different types of interventions are frequently combined within each CBT described.

6.1.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

The psychological treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) must apply techniques that allow patients to learn to control themselves gradually, keeping in mind that symptoms can be expected to increase in extreme situations. The idea is to give the subject resources that can be put into action as soon as an increase in anxiety symptoms is noted, without having to turn to medication automatically⁷⁹.

odating. The Clinical Practice Guidelines that were consulted while preparing this guide-CPG (SR and RCTS) line^{70.80-82} consider Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) to be the treatment of choice for GAD. In the Canadian guideline, the meta-analyses show that CBT reduces the symptoms of anxiety and is more effective for GAD than non-treatment or non-specific psychological treatment methods. The advantages of the therapy, in long-term studies, tend to persist from 6 months to 2 years after termination of the treatment⁸³⁻⁸⁵.

> For the NICE, short-term CBT is as effective as pharmacological therapies, but comparative evidence is lacking to demonstrate king-term effectiveness. However, there is evidence that the majority of patients that have been tracked after treatment with CBT continue to enjoy the benefits of this treatment over the long term. Also, patient preferences must always be taken into account⁸⁰.

In the MOH guideline, of the patients treated with CBT, approximately 50% showed a clinically significant improvement, and maintained the improvement within a range of 6 to 12 months of monitoring⁸².

SR of RCTS 1++

 1_{++}

RCTS 1++

A review from the Cochrane examines the efficacy and acceptability of psychological therapies categorized as cognitive-behavioral therapies (CBT), psychodynamic therapies, and support therapies, compared with normal treatment or with a patient on the waiting list for treatment, comparing them to each other, for patients with GAD⁸⁶. Each study identified the description of the normal type of treatment to ensure that treatment with active support treatments would not be included. The CBT interventions applied included: training for treatment of anxiety, cognitive restructuring, situational exposure, and desensitization through selfcontrol. Relaxation training is also a key intervention in almost all of the studies on which the teview was based. The general average duration of the treatment was eight months. The results were measured in two ways: 20% reduction in anxiety symptoms, as the definition of a clinically significant change in patients, or a reduction in symptoms measured using scales. Of the patients assigned to CBT, 46% showed a favorable clinical response after the treatment, significantly reducing the symptoms of anxiety, worry, and depression, in contrast to 14% in the groups of patients who were on the waiting list for treatment or with normal treatment.

Hthas been 5 years Both individual and group intervention showed a similar effect after the treatment, but the patients assigned to individual psychological therapy were less likely to abandon the treatment than the patients assigned to group therapy. Older subjects also had a higher probability of abandoning the therapy⁸⁶.

The Cochrane review concluded that psychological therapy that uses a cognitive-behavioral focus is effective in treating GAD, but it ultimately demonstrates that there is no evidence on the effectiveness of psychological therapy to treat GAD over the long-term, for more than 12 months. There is no data available that demonstrates the effectiveness of focuses other than CBT because there is insufficient evidence. More studies must be done to determine whether psychodynamic and support therapies are effective in treating GAD and whether CBT is more useful than them in treating this disorder⁸⁶.

SR of RCTS Another systematic review, based on two systematic reviews and seven later RCTSs also found that CBT (through a combination of interventions such as cognitive restructuring, exposure, relaxation, and systematic desensitization) compared with the control on the waiting list (no treatment) improved generalized anxiety after 4 to 12 weeks of treatment. In studies that compare the effectiveness of CBTs and relaxation techniques, practically all indicate the superiority of CBT.

RCTS 1++

1++

There is a healthcare technology evaluation report that investigates the long term results of treatment with CBT, in comparison with placebos, waiting list, pharmacological treatments (diazepam, fluvoxamine) and non-pharmacological treatments (Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) and analytical psychotherapy)⁸⁸. The clinical tests were carried out within the scope of Primary Care and included anxiety disorders such as GAD. The average number of hours of therapy was 5.6, distributed over seven sessions. The cognitive-behavioral interventions included progressive muscular relaxation or relaxation, self-control of desensitization, gradual exposure or in vivo and in vitro exposure, cognitive restructuring, seeking alternative activities and enjoyable tasks and support through therapeutic counseling. Treatment with CBT was associated with better-long-term results, in terms of overall gravity of symptoms, but not with respect to the change status of the diagnosis⁸⁹.

The report concludes that as a result of the chronic nature associated with anxiety disorders, failure to complete the treatment, and the quantity of intermediate treatments during the period monitored, the results obtained in the short term are not guaranteed over a longer period of time. Worse results were obtained in long-term treatment when patients presented more complex or serious GAD. No evidence was found to indicate that longer duration of CBT achieves longer-term effects, so the conclusion is that it is unlikely that clinics that go beyond the standard treatment protocols of approximately 10 sessions over a period of 6 months will achieve greater effectiveness⁸⁸.

The effectiveness of CBT has generated a need to develop accessible techniques for practice in Primary Care based on these principles. The RCTSs analyzed in preparing his guideline show different models, but the results are ultimately similar.

RCTS 1+

There are two RCTSs^{90.91} in which an integrated model in which family physicians are supported by specialists. The intervention lasts between four to eight sessions over 8 weeks, during which the patients are assisted in developing cognitive-behavioral skills that include: physical and cognitive relaxation strategies, recognition and analysis of thoughts that generate anxiety and lack of self-confidence, techniques to detect these thoughts, seeking useful alternatives and training in actions to resolve problems, techniques to improve sleep and work at home.

RCTS 1+

Other RCTSs⁹², in the context of PC, compare three interventions of increasing complexity: self-help with a manual – guided by the family physician – following the recommendations of clinical practice guidelines and referral to CBT in Specialized Care. Good results were obtained in all interventions, but the most feasible and useful, according to the family physicians themselves, was guided selfhelp, consisting of five 20-minute sessions, in which the doctors explain anxiety and simple cognitive techniques, based on relaxation exercises and in vivo exposure, to identify anxiety-inducing thoughts and replace them with other more realistic and rational thoughts. Patients then work three hours per week at home. This allows family physicians to effectively treat patients that they do not feel need to be referred.

The effectiveness of CBT has also been demonstrated in experiences in our own context, with different studies done in healthcare centres to evaluate the effectiveness of group workshops on cognitive and relaxation techniques in reducing disorders such as GAD.

Pre-poststudy-1 A pre-post-intervention study evaluated the effectiveness of group learning of controlled breathing and relaxation techniques and cognitive-behavioral techniques in 18 patient groups. The intervention is a workshop with 8 weekly sessions, lasting an hour and a half and including training in breathing control and psycho-relaxation, relaxation techniques (Jacobson and Schultz autogenic training) and cognitive techniques (dealing with stress, cognitive restructuring, assertiveness, problem-resolution techniques, self-esteem) using group dynamics. The professional who organizes and directs the workshops is a social worker. Ten-twelve people participate for 2 months, and using the Goldberg anxiety-depression scale (EADG) – 18 items, an average drop of post-intervention anxiety was demonstrated.

Nonrandomized controlled study 1+ In another non-randomized controlled intervention in people with GAD and PD, the control group consisted of patients who received conventional treatment with anxiolytics and/or support therapy and the intervention group completed a course with 10 weekly sessions, given by a nurse, in which patients learned a relaxation exercise based on the Shultz autogenic method, and carried out group exercises on perception, communication, and handling stress and anxiety, among others. A qualitative evaluation was done at the end through discussion groups. The STAI (State Anxiety Inventory) test was used before and after the intervention in both groups. The conclusions drawn by the authors are that this type of intervention is effective to diminish temporary anxiety situations and to a lesser degree improves the normal tendency of a subject to react anxiously. Qualitatively, these groups improve self-esteem and the network of relations.

These experiences in our own setting^{93,94} coincide in that future research should advance the knowledge of the effect on non-pharmacological therapies in psychological disorders in Primary Care. The long-term effects must be measured, including a control group and blind procedures, evaluating the effect on the consumption of psycho-active drugs. All aimed at eliminating possible biases that may affect these studies.

Evidence on treatment with Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

1 ++	CBT is effective in the treatment of GAD, since it decreases symptoms of anxiety, worry, and <i>depression</i> ^{70,80-82,86} .	
1++	The CBT studied includes cognitive restructuring, exposure, relaxation and systematic desensitization, with an average of eight months of <i>treatment</i> ^{66.87}	
1++	There is no evidence to indicate that CBT applied for more than 6 months (10 sessions results in greater long-term effectiveness ⁸⁸ .	dating
1++	CBT applied individually has a similar effect to group treatment, although individual therapy shows lower abandonment rates ⁸⁶ .	2000
1++	Short-term CBT is as effective as pharmacological therapy, although there is no comparative evidence to demonstrate this effectiveness over the long term ⁸⁰ .	
1++	Over the long term, the advantages of CBT lasted from 6 months to 2 years after completion of treatment ⁸³⁻⁸⁵ .]
1++	The presentation of more complex or serious GAD initially, failure to complete the treatment, and the number of intermediate treatments during the period monitored are associated with worse long-term CBT results ⁸⁸ .	
1++	There are insufficient studies that have evaluated the effectiveness of psychotherapeutic intervention techniques other than CBT for the treatment of GAD ⁸⁶ .	
1. Inter	ation within the scope of Primary Care national s evidence of the application of CBT and its effectiveness in PC through:	-
1+	An integrated model in which family physicians are supported by specialists over a period of 8 weeks (4-8 sessions) to help patients to develop cognitive-behavioral skills through relaxation, recognition of thoughts that generate anxiety and lack of self-confidence, seeking useful alternatives, and training in actions to resolve problems, techniques to improve sleep, and working at home ^{90.91} .	-
1 +	Using self-help with a manual, guided by the family physician. Five 20-minute sessions to explain anxiety, simple cognitive techniques (relaxation and in vivo exposure and identification of anxiety-inducing thoughts), with three hours of work at home per week ⁹² .	
2. Natio	onal]
1+/ 1-	In our context, group workshops, based on relaxation and simple cognitive techniques, given at healthcare centres by social workers and/or nursing staff (8 sessions, for week) improve anxiety situations and self-esteem ^{93.94} .	

the provention of the province the province

Recommendations on Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

Gene	ral recommendations]
A	Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) is recommended as one of the treatments of choice for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) due to its effectiveness at reducing the symptoms of anxiety, worry, and sadness, in both the short and long term, although patient preferences must be taken into consideration.	
A	Actions with CBT must include a combination of measures such as cognitive restructuring, exposure, relaxation, and systematic desensitization.	-0
A	CBT should be applied over the course of approximately 10 sessions (6 months) on average, as greater effectiveness is not achieved by applying the therapy for a longer time.	<i>6</i> 0'
A	CBT can be applied individually or in a group, since the effects are similar, although individual treatment generates lower abandonment rates.	
Prima	ry Care]
В	The application of cognitive-behavioral actions (relaxation, recognition of anxiety-causing thoughts, and lack of self- confidence, seeking useful alternatives, and training in problem-solving techniques, techniques to improve sleep and work at home) by trained professionals in healthcare centres is recommended.	
в	The organization of group workshops based on relaxation and applicable cognitive techniques in nealthcare centres is recommended.	
	Group workshops should run for at least 8 sessions (1 per week), be structured and be directed by trained professionals from the Primary Attention teams.	

6.1.2. Panic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD)

The essential characteristic of panic disorder (PD) is the presence of recurring serious anxiety attacks (panic attack). A distinction must be made between the symptomatic treatment of panic attacks and the treatment of the disorder as such. Panic attacks normally abate either spontaneously or with mediation, after 5 or 10 minutes. Treatment of panic disorder is a continuous treatment that is intended to suppress panic attacks and prevent relapses.

The main goal of psychological treatment of panic disorder (PD) is to consistently reduce the frequency, duration, and intensity of crises, with respect to the levels recorded before the diagnostic process and therapeutic treatment⁷⁹.

Meta-analysis 1+ The first reviews that were done demonstrated the effectiveness of different modes of psychotherapy for treating PD, comparing their effectiveness with respect to a short-term control treatment⁹⁵ or during follow-up⁹⁶; but they did show the need for an RCTS that will investigate the effects of long-term treatment and the effects of interruption of treatment.

SR of RCTs

A systematic review evaluated the effectiveness of short-term psychodynamic psychotherapies for frequent mental disorders in relation to a minimal treatment, and with controls with no treatment. The results found for PD show moderate benefits that were maintained during short and medium-term monitoring; however the variability of the design of the study means that these conclusions are tentative and need to be confirmed with additional research.

SR of RCTS 1++ Results were also found that show other therapies, such as applied relaxation and client-centreed therapy, to be therapies with probable beneficial effects for the treatment of PD⁹⁸.

However, most of the studies done thus far have focused more on evaluating the effectiveness of CBT. In the guidelines from the NICE, the Canadian Psychiatric Association, and the CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+ MOH CBT is considered to be the treatment of choice for PD. For the NICE, CBT, due to the existence of proof of a longer-lasting effect, is the recommended intervention for PD⁸⁰. However, patient preferences must be taken into account. CBT is effective with or without exposure, and for most patients, weekly sessions of 1 to 2 hours are recommended, until treatment is completed, at most 4 months after it starts. According to the Canadian guideline, based on the meta-analyses studied, CBT Pre-post study 1is the most effective psychological treatment for PD. Also, there is cumulative evidence that shows that CBT may be more effective than medication in the prevention of relapse and that in long-term studies⁹⁹⁻¹⁰¹, the advantages of CBT were maintained for up to 2 years after treatment finished. 70 The MOH shows the evidence of the effectiveness of CBT that includes compo-CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+ nents such as psycho-education, exposure to symptoms or situations, cognitive restructuring, breathing techniques, and techniques to handle panic⁸². There is a meta-analysis¹⁰² that evaluates the effectiveness of CBT, comparing it Meta-analysis 1++ with the control of non-treatment or the use of a placebo. Two-thirds of the studies included compare CBTs that include exposure techniques, with an average duration of 16 weeks. Questionnaires and scales were used to measure the results. The conclusion of the meta-analysis is that CBQ, in addition to being effective in reducing PD, improves the quality of life of the patients and is associated with a reduction of depressive symptoms associated with the disorder. The limitations of the studies included in the meta-analysis are also specified, since the final results are always measured in terms of frequency of panic attacks, so it is suggested that future research also take the anticipatory anxiety state in to account and include criteria of all aspects of the disorder (cognitive, behavioral, and arousal or activation state). The aforementioned meta-analysis also evaluates the effectiveness of CBT and pharmacotherapy for PD, comparing the two treatments. Anti-depressants, especially tricyclics and serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), were used for the pharmacological treatment. The average duration of the treatment was around 12 to 13 weeks.

SR of RCTS AS

CBT was slightly higher.

The systematic review of Clinical Evidence analyzes the reviews and RCTSs on interventions whose goal is either to r educe the gravity or frequency of the panic attacks, or the phobic avoidance and anticipatory anxiety behavior, or to improve social and occupational functioning with minimum adverse effects generated by the treatment⁹⁸. To evaluate the effectiveness results, measurements were taken of the number of panic attacks, the intensity of agoraphobia, and the association of disability using specific and general scales, before and after treatment, and long term. This review concludes that CBT, in 20 sessions and lasting no more than 12-16 weeks, and using interventions such as relaxation, exposure procedures, and changing of

According to the final results, both treatments are equally effective in improving anxiety symptoms, although depending on the type of analysis, effectiveness for dysfunctional beliefs and negative automatic thoughts, compared with a pharmacological placebo, significantly increased the proportion of people with clinically and statistically significant improvement of panic symptoms in the six months of tracking.

Meta-analysis/SR of RCTS 1+

A systematic review from the Swedish technology evaluation agency indicates that CBT that includes exposure relieves symptoms in PD without agoraphobia and with average or moderate agoraphobia. Its effectiveness for PD with serious agoraphobia was not established. In vivo exposure therapy as monotherapy relieves the symptoms of agoraphobic avoidance^{95,103}.

There are different primary studies that research the availability of protocols and resources to help PC physicians to put CBT-based interventions into practice specifically for PD.

A review article on the handling of PD in PC, in addition to highlighting the importance of communication skills in the evaluation of the disorder, psycho-education, and changes in lifestyle, proposes what is known as FPS (Focused Psychological Strategies) for CBT provided by family physicians, including: relaxation and breathing exercises, cognitive restructuring, and gradual exposure.

The variation of intervention models in PC is as broad as in the case of GAD.

Therapy is sometimes provided by psychologists, especially in healthcare systems in which they are integrated into PC. There is an **RCT**¹⁰⁵, for patients with PD and agoraphobia that compares three types of CBTs administered over the course of 12 weeks: standard (with eight 45-nunute sessions), minimal contact (three 10-minute sessions and three 30-minute cessions), and bibliotherapy (three 11/2 hour sessions). Standard CBT was found to be most effective in terms of reducing the seriousness, altering symptoms, and social function, and was the treatment that, as it is shorter than other CBTs, represents an effective treatment for PD and agoraphobia in PC.

RCTS 1+

RCTS 1+

Another RCT in the context of PC, already mentioned in reference to the treatment of GAD, which compared self-help interventions guided by the family physician with a manual, following the recommendations in clinical practice guidelines, and referral to CBT in specialized care, also demonstrates that in patients with PD, the most feasible and beneficial intervention was guided self-help, which consisted of five 20-minute sessions, in which doctors explain anxiety and simple cognitive techniques (relaxation exercises and in vivo exposure) to identify anxiety-inducing thoughts and replace them with others. The therapy is supplemented by three hours of work at home per week, thus avoiding referrals to specialists⁹².

RCTS 148

When the relative effectiveness of CBT was researched when applied individually and in groups by psychologists in the context of PC, no statistically significant differences were found between both treatments, but there was a clinically relevant difference in favor of individual therapy¹⁰⁶.

In Spain, some studies mention the need for close cooperation between Primary Care and Specialized Mental Health Care (MH) and continuous training program in MH for PC physicians was found to be important.

rentres by social workers and/or nr. (BAD, also support the effectiveness of its gerses, cognitive restructuring, techniques for identities to a state of the transmission of the trans

1 +	There is evidence that shows CBT as the best treatment for PD based on its longer-lasting effects ⁸⁰ .
1++	CBT significantly increases the proportion of people with clinically significant improvement of panic symptoms in a six-month follow-up, improved quality of life of the patient, and is associated with a reduction of depressive symptoms associated with the disorder. 98.102
1+	The CBT studied includes psycho-education, exposure to symptoms or situations, cognitive restructuring, breathing and relaxation techniques, and handling panic, with weekly sessions lasting 1 to 2 hours, over the course of 4 months of treatment ^{80.82} .
1 +	CBT that includes exposure relieves the symptoms of PD without agoraphobia or with average or moderate agoraphobia ⁹⁵ .
1 -	There is evidence that CBT may be effective in preventing relapse99-101.
1+	When the effectiveness of CBT and pharmacotherapy (SSRI and TADs) is compared, both treatments are equally effective in improving anxiety symptoms, although depending on the type of analysis, effectiveness was found to be slightly higher for CBT ¹⁰² .
1 +	Over the long term, the advantages of CBT lasted from 6 months to 2 years after completion of treatment ⁷⁰
I. Inter	ation within the scope of Primary Care national s evidence of the application of CBT and its effectiveness in PC for PD through
1 +	An integrated model in which family physicians are supported by psychologists. Patients receive a manual and for 12 weeks (8 sessions) CBT interventions are applied through exposure and cognitive restructuring, which are much more effective in reducing the gravity and altering symptoms and improving social functioning than tamimal contact therapy (6 sessions) and bibliotherapy ¹⁰⁵ .
1 +	Self-help with a manual, under the guidance of the family physician. The family physicians hold five 20-minute sessions to explain anxiety, simple cognitive techniques (relaxation and <i>in vivo</i> excosure and identification of anxiety-inducing thoughts), with three hours of patient work at home per week ⁹² .
1 +	Between CBT applied individually and in groups, no statistically significant differences were found, but there was a clinically relevant difference in favor of individual therapy ¹⁰⁶ .
2. Natio	onal
+/ 1-	In our context, group workshops, based on relaxation and simple cognitive techniques, given at healthcare centres by social workers and/or nursing staff (8 sessions, 1 per week) improve anxiety situations and self-esteem ^{93.94} .
	O ^N

Evidence on Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Panic Disorder (PD)

Recommendations regarding Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Panic Disorder (PD)

General recommendations					
	A	Cognitive-Behaviorar Therapy (CBT) is recommended as one of the treatments of choice for Panic Disorder (PD) because of its effectiveness in improving panic symptoms, quality of life, and reducing depression systems, although patient preferences must be taken into consideration.			
	A	CBT actions should include a combination of actions such as psycho-education, exposure to symptoms or situations, cognitive restructuring, techniques for relaxation, breathing, and handling panic.			
	A	CPT should be applied, on average, in 8-16 weekly sessions of 1 to 2 hours.			
	B	To relieve symptoms of PD with average or moderate agoraphobia, CBT actions are recommended, including in vivo exposure.			
00	Primary Care				
It has be	в	The application of cognitive-behavioral actions is recommended for application in healthcare centres by trained professionals, preferably individually, through exposure and cognitive restructuring.			
	в	The organization of group workshops based on relaxation and applicable cognitive techniques in healthcare centres is recommended.			
	\checkmark	Group workshops should run for at least 8 sessions (1 per week), be structured and be directed by trained professionals from the Primary Attention teams.			

6.1.3. Panic attack

Due to the high level of incapacitation perceived by patients who suffer panic attacks, this aspect has been considered to be an important part of the research.

In treating panic attacks, it is necessary to keep in mind that the episodes that characterize the disorder have a significant effect on the lives of the people who suffer it and that while they may occasionally improve, they do not normally disappear unless adequate treatment is received¹⁰⁸.

Some studies indicate that of people with panic attacks who go to a healthcare centre, 32% go to hospital emergency rooms, 26% to mental health facilities, and 35% to Primary Care. The family physician plays a very important role in the case of patients suffering from panic attacks. Patients who go to a healthcare centre with a panic attack are responding to the initial manifestations of their illness and present less serious symptoms than those who go to mental health services. This may partly explain why the results obtained with treatment in Primary Care are better in terms of lower frequency of visits and need for medication for this condition, as well as lower incidence of self-medication¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹².

CPG (Expert opinions) 4

Sufficient evidence was not found in trials researching symptomatic treatment of panic attacks, especially in terms of acute treatment of the crisis^{70.80-82}.

The Canadian guideline emphasizes the role of cognitive-behavioral therapy as an effective psychotherapeutic strategy for handling anxiety crises⁶¹. In our context, and within the scope of Primary Care, behavioral and support measures that contain psycho-education (calming the patient, written advice on actions), training in handling the symptoms (instruction in relaxation techniques and learning breathing exercises to handle hyperventilation), and exposure techniques could also be included. It is also important to inform the family regarding this type of actions in response to the appearance of a new crisis.

Evidence on Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Panic Attack

- Sufficient evidence was not found in trials researching symptomatic treatment of panic attacks, especially in terms of acute treatment of the crisis^{70.80-82}.
 The following techniques a erecommended in PC to control symptoms related to panic attacks:

 Behavioral and support measures the include psycho-education: calm the patient and advised actions in writing.
 Training in the hardling of symptoms: teaching of relaxation techniques and learning breathing exercises to handle
 - hyperventilation.
 - Exposure techniques.
- 4 Information given to the family in regard to previous action can help if a new panic attack occurs.

Recommendations regarding Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) in PC for Panic Attack

	 The following psychological techniques are recommended in PC to control symptoms related to panic attacks: Behavioral and support measures the include psycho-education: calm the patient and advised actions in writing. Training in the handling of symptoms: teaching of relaxation techniques and learning breathing exercises to handle hyperventilation. Exposure techniques.
	The family should be informed regarding the type of actions to help in resolving any new attacks.

6.2. Psychological techniques for Primary Care setting of the under the individually or set is done individually or set by for the set of the s by trained professionals and must have common characteristics of applicability⁷⁷, which are the characteristics which differentiate them from the exercise of the support relationship that is created in Primary Care facilities:

- Structured: simple to learn and easy to apply.
- Brief and with specified times in the initial manualization.
- With specific objectives established after evaluation.
- Effectiveness described for the diagnosis to be treated.

6.2.1. Cognitive-behavioral techniques

Behavioral Techniques

The purpose of these techniques to reduce symptoms by modifying the factors that reinforce the symptoms and/or gradual exposure to the anxiety-inducing stimuli. The table below describes thas been 5 years since the pl

Expert	Relaxation techniques: to achieve a state of hypoactivation that counteracts and helps control anxiety					
opinions 4	Training in progressive relaxation					
	• Training in breathing control					
	Exposure techniques: exposure to stimuli that cause anxiety, in order to predict and reduce adaptive responses					
	Systematic desensitization	À.				
	Gradual exposure in vivo	ipdating.				
	Self-control techniques: these teach the patient the principles that govern the undesired behavior					
	Self-observation	<u>8</u>				
	Self-reinforcement or self-punishment					
	Control of stimuli					
	 Self-observation Self-reinforcement or self-punishment Control of stimuli Training in social skills: after analyzing the problem behavior and retraining it. 					
*Modified Garcí	ra-Vera in Vázquez-Barquero ⁵⁹ .	_				
Cognitiv	/e Techniques					
Identify a	nd analyze the dysfunctional thoughts and beliefs and their relationship with the symp	_				

Table 9*. Behavioral Techniques in Primary Care^{59,113}

Cognitive Techniques

Identify and analyze the dysfunctional thoughts and beliefs and their relationship with the symptoms, and construct more adaptive and functional response techniques. ^{76.77}

Table 10. Cognitive Techniques^{113,114}

Expert opinions 4	Self-instruction: detect the negative self-verbalization ("I won't be able to") and replace them with positive sel instruction ("I will be able to") and prevent evasive responses to anticipatory anxiety.
	Training in the handling of anxiety symptoms: teaches the patient to use applied relaxation to control anx. The patient is trained to recognize the symptoms that reflect the presence of anxiety, in order to learn how to recognize the anxiety responses as they form, and to be able to use them as indicators to initiate the relaxation response.
	Cognitive distraction and thought stopping: focus attention on neutral, non-threatening stimuli (count streetlights, shoe store display windows, etc.).
	Problem-resolution techniques ^{76,115,116} : in order to resolve stressful life situations in the most appropriate way. These techniques help to identify and define problems. They provide method for prioritizing objectives an specifying the steps to be carried out. This reduces the intensity of the apprehension, increases the feeling of control in response to negative circumstances, recognizing the milestones achieved, fosters initiative, and gen a more effective way of facing future problems.
	Cognitive restructuring ^{58,59,76,77,117} : replaces irrational or distorted thoughts with other more rational ones. T work is structured around a skill-training model to help patients develop the ability to identify the disadaptive cognitions, comparing them with reality, and deactivating them by generating their own rational thoughts.
been 5 year	is sint

6.2.2. Psychodynamic orientation techniques

Psychodynamic Techniques

Expert opinions 4

iect to updating. These techniques help to understand the symptoms and underlying conflicts (from the internal world or personal relations) through an empathic focus in which the therapist observes, comprehends, and receives the person's anxieties, and returns them so that they can be recognized and accepted by the patient, encouraging thinking and taking responsibility for themselves⁷⁸.

Table 11. Psychodynamic Techniques in Primary Care

Interpersonal Therapy (IPT)^{58,78,118}: frequent interpersonal aspects are identified: grieving, role transition, disputes, and interpersonal deficit. This is a manual-based intervention that is specifically designed for patients who present anxiety or depression symptoms in relation to stressful life events and who do not suffer from a serious mental disorder. The goal is to reduce stress and the symptoms, improving social functioning. Practice Guideline

6.2.3. Other Techniques

Brief Family Therapy (BFT)¹¹⁹⁻¹²¹

Expert opinions 4

Hthas been 5 year

This therapy understands the family as a set of elements that interact with each other and that cause people to persist in activities that keep the problems alive. The goal of the professional must be to stimulate to initiate a process of change. A proposal is formulated for actions that foster the desired changes to resolve the problem. The patient and the patient's family complete the process, without accompanying them to the end of the solution and without the entire family visiting the doctor.

Counseling Techniques (assisted counseling)59,117

Use of relationships that develop self-awareness, emotional acceptance, growth, and personal resources. This may be directed to resolve specific problems, to make decisions, confronting a crisis, working through the feelings within conflicts, or im-5 proving relations with others. The problem is explored with the patient from effective comprehension to allow the patient to establish goals and objectives.

Most of these techniques, both cognitive-behavioral and psychodynamic, can be applied individually or in groups, provided that the intervention fulfills the requirements described earlier and is properly structured for application in a group format.

The most commonly used group therapies used in Primary Care for anxiety disorders are those called "Skill development". They are used to apply the learning of breathing and relaxation techniques, facing and handling stress, resolving problems, and training and handling of anxiety, among others.

Evidence on psychological techniques applicable in Primary Care for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) and Panic Disorder (PD)

	The following common characteristics have been found in the brief interventions carried out in PC, individually or in groups, to obtain greater effectiveness ⁷⁷ : Done by trained professionals Structured: simple to learn and easy to apply Brief and with specified times in the initial manualization With specific objectives established after evaluation Effectiveness for the diagnosis to be treated should be described
	Done by trained professionals
4	Structured: simple to learn and easy to apply
	Brief and with specified times in the initial manualization
	With specific objectives established after evaluation
	Effectiveness for the diagnosis to be treated should be described
	The following techniques are recommended in PC to reduce symptoms related to panic attacks:
	Relaxation techniques: training in progressive relaxation or breathing control
	Exposure: systematic desensitization and gradual exposure in vivo
	• Self-control techniques: self-observation, self-reinforcement and self-punishment, and control of stimuli
	Training in social skills: retraining problematic behaviors
	Self-instruction: from negative self-verbalization to positive self-instruction
4	• Training in the handling of anxiety symptoms: applied relaxation
	Cognitive distraction and thought stopping: neutral, non-threatening stimuli
	Problem-resolution techniques: identify and define problems
	Cognitive restructuring: irrational or distorted thoughts replaced with other more rational ones
	Interpersonal Therapy (IPT): identify interpersonal aspects
	• Brief family therapy (BFT): change process that understands the family as a set of elements that interact with each other.
	• Counseling: use of relations that develop self-awareness, emotional acceptance, growth, and personal resources.

Recommendations regarding psychological techniques applicable in Primary Care for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) and Panic Disorder (PD)

Brief actions in PC should be carried out by trained professionals and should have a series of common characteristics of $\sqrt{}$ applicability: they should be structured, simple, easy to apply, short, with defined times, specific objectives, and described effectiveness

The following are recommended as psychological techniques for possible application in PC to reduce anxiety symptoms associated with GAD and PD: techniques for relaxation, exposure, self-control, training in social skills, self-instruction, training in handling anxiety, cognitive distraction and thought stoppage, resolution of problems, cognitive restructuring, and interpersonal therapy.

It has been

6.3. Pharmacological treatment

The goal of pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders is to relieve the symptoms, prevent relapses, as well as the lasting effects, all with the best possible toleration of the medication.

6.3.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

The chronic nature of the disorder must be taken into consideration when determining the therapeutic actions. Normally, prolonged treatments that can provide clinical stability are rec-Litie SUDI ommended.

Anti-depressants

One of the first systematic reviews of RCTSs that use anti-depressants (imi-SR of RCTS 1+ pramine, paroxetine, and trazodone) to treat anxiety disorders showed comparable effectiveness between benzodiazepines and anti-depressants for acute treatment of GAD¹²². The data gathered over the course of the last two decades has continued to highlight the effectiveness of anti-depressants in the treatment of GAD.

When the effectiveness of the anti-depressants imipramine, venlafaxine, and parox-SR of RCTS 1++, RCTS 1+ etine and their degree of acceptance, measuring the results in terms of "absence of response" (the response defined as the absence of symptoms sufficient to fulfill the diagnostic criteria, with ratings of Cor 2 – very significant improvement – in the Clinical Global Impressions - CGD, "abandonment rate", and "specific side effects", were studied against a placebo, it was observed that there is a greater probability of response to the treatment in the short term in the case of anti-depressants versus the placebo, with a global NNT for anti-depressants of 5.5 (CI of 95%:4.1;8.4), that there were no significant differences in terms of abandonment between the two, and that the side effects manifested themselves most frequently in the groups treated with drugs versus those treated with the placebo. The fact that the abandonment rates did not show significant differences between the groups treated with anti-depressants and those treated with the placebo suggests that patients with GAD can tolerate the use of these drugs well. When tricyclic anti-depressants are compared with new anti-depressants, the results in terms of effectiveness and tolerability are similar for paroxetine and imipramine. Although venlafaxine and paroxetine are associated with It has been 5 year a better level of acceptance, no differences were found with tricyclic imipramine in terms of abandonment, which is possibly a more solid indicator of the level of acceptance^{123,124}.

Jpdating.

SR of RCTS 1++, Another systematic review and later trials expanded the evaluation of the aforemen-RCTS 1+ tioned anti-depressants with sertraline, escitalopram, and opipramol*, comparing them with a placebo. It was observed that these drugs increase response rates and improve symptoms of GAD. 87,125 Research with other anti-depressants for treating GAD highlight the role of other drugs, such as duloxetine, for its good tolerance levels and effectiveness in comparison with a placebo to reduce functional alterations of patients and improve quality of life and well-being. More studies are needed on its effectives in comparison with other anti-depressants¹²⁶-¹²⁸.

SR of RCTS 1++. Series of cases 3

Theadverseeffects found for the aforementioned families of anti-depressants areassociated with sedation, dizziness, nausea, dry mouth, constipation, falls, and sexual dysfunction, among others, although many of the trials does not reflect their statistical significance. However, there is evidence that demonstrates that most of them (with the exception of dizziness and sexual dysfunction) decrease after 6 months in patients who continued with the medication. On the other hand, the sudden interruption of treatment with SSRIs is associated with adverse effects such as dizziness, headache, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, movement disorders, insomnia, irritability, visual alterations, lethargy, anorexia, and states of despondency. The possible increase in the risk of self-inflicted injuries, suicide, and hyponatremia must be taken into consideration in regard to the use of SSRIs. .66

SR of RCTS 1++, SR of different types of studies/ Cohort studies 2++, Meta-analysis 1+

The US FDA (Food and Drug Administration) has warned of complications when Series of cases 3, taken during pregnancy: congenital malformations, especially cardiac malformations, if paroxetine is used in the first trimester of pregnancy, increasing its pregnancy risk category from C to D (the FDA's classification for medications based on their teratogenic potential)^{87,130}. Also, when SSRIs are taken in the final phases of pregnancy, there is some evidence that indicates that these drugs interfere with the respiratory and parasympathetic systems of neonatal infants, along with increased risk of respiratory and central nervous system symptoms. Hypoglycemia and neonatal adaptation problems may also be encountered. However, all of these results are not always due to the toxicity or removal of SSRIs. To reduce the potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration as monotherapy whenever feasible. During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whether the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the fetus¹³¹⁻¹³⁶.

Opipramol: anti-depressant not marketed in Spain.

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1++, RCTS 1++, RCTS 1+ The guidelines from the NICE, Canadian Psychiatric Association, and MOH^{70.80-82}, consider the use of anti-depressants to be one of the treatments of choice for GAD. The Canadian guideline specified paroxetine, escitalopram, sertraline, and slow-release venlafaxine as the best options for pharmacological treatment because of their significant improvements in quality of life and the symptoms related to functional disability^{70,137}. Paroxetine, escitalopram, and venlafaxine have demonstrated long-term effectiveness, with response rates that continue to increase beyond 6 months of treatment. For patients who interrupt treatment, there is a risk of relapse from 20% to 40% between 6 and 12 months after treatment is interrupted. This therefore suggests that long-term treatment will often be necessary^{70,138-140}.

CPG (Series of cases) 3, CPG (Expert opinions) 4 *Warning regarding venlafaxine*: the NICE guideline indicates that this drug has a higher probability of interruption of treatment due to side effects and higher cost than SSRIs, compared with the same level of effectiveness. *It also includes a warning based on evidence provided by the MHRA (Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency)*. This agency has warned against the cardio-toxic and hypertensive effects of this drug, especially associated with higher-than-therapeutic dosages (a dosage not exceeding 75 mg/day is recommended). NICE recommends that when venlafaxine is prescribed to patients with hypertension, that the hypertension be controlled and that it not be prescribed to patients with a high risk of cardiac arrhythmia or recent heart attack^{81,141}.

When the response to the optimal dosage or one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if SSRIs are not well tolerated, the patient should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (NSRI, TAD)⁷⁰⁸⁰

Evidence regarding anti-depressants for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

Recommendations regarding anti-depressants for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

Α	The use of anti-depressants is recommended as one of the pharmacological treatments of choice for GAD.
в	The anti-depressants recommended for use are SSRIs (paroxetine, sertraline, or escitalopram), SNSRIs (slow-release venlafaxine) y and TADs (imipramine).
С	The prescription of venlafaxine is not recommended to patients at high risk of cardiac arrhythmia or recent myocardial infarct, and will only be used in patients with hypertension when the hypertension is controlled.
\checkmark	When the response to the optimal dosage of one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if they are not well tolerated, the patient should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (SNSRI, TAD).
в	During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whether the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the embryo.
в	To reduce the potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, as monotherapy.
	In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of sudden interruption of the treatment.
	The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness.

Note: The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS)¹⁴² for Sertraline does not include the therapeutic indication for GAD. In the case of imipramine (Technical Dossier unavailable), the prospectus cose hot include this indication either. ,ctice Gl

Anxiolytics: benzodiazepines (BDZs)

BDZs are agents that depress the nervous system and they have general effect against anxiety, since they promote physical and mental relaxation, reducing nervous activity in the brain (gabaergic action).

BDZs are part of a family of drugs that have demonstrated their effectiveness in the CPG (SR and RCTS) 1++,1+ treatment of generalized anxiety70.80-82.

> Alprazolam, bromazepam, lorazepam, and diazepam have been proven to be effective in the treatment of GAD, and the Canadian guideline includes them as the second-tier pharmacological treatment. There is insufficient evidence evaluating the effectiveness of clonazepam, with long average life and low potential for rebound anxiety, but it is probable that benefits similar to those of other BDZs will be obtained?

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+ It has been 5 yea

BDZs provide fast initial relief of anxiety symptoms, but the evidence suggests that their effects do not differ significantly from those obtained with a placebo after 4 to 6 weeks of treatment. Also, BDZs primarily reduce somatic symptoms more than psychic symptoms (apprehension), which are the symptoms that define GAD⁷⁰.

SR of different types of studies 2++, SR of different types of studies 2++, Observational study 2+, Metaanalysis 1++, SR of different types of studies 2++/ Observational studies 2+, CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+

Sideeffectshavebeen observed with the use of benzodiazepines in terms of increased risk of dependency, tolerance, sedation, traffic accidents, and effects of suspension of treatment (rebound anxiety)⁸⁷. Existing evidence is insufficient to determine whether during pregnancy, the potential benefits of BDZs for the mother outweigh the possible risks to the fetus¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴. To avoid the potential risk of congenital defects, the lowest effective dosage of BDZs should be used, with the shortest possible treatment duration, and as monotherapy. If higher concentrations are required, the daily dosage should be divided into two or three doses, always avoiding use during the first trimester^{143,145}. In advanced stages of pregnancy or during nursing, BDZs can cause adverse effects in neonatal infants (neonatal hypotonia, withdrawal syndrome, sedation, and hypothermia)^{82,87,146-149}.

Due to its effectiveness and the adverse effects described, short-term use is recommended, not extending beyond 2 to 4 weeks, especially when rapid control of the symptoms is required and while waiting for response to the benefits of treatment with anti-depressants or CBT. Long-term use must be closely supervised^{70,80-82}.

Evidence on benzodiazepines (BDZ) for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

	1++	Alprazolam, bromazepam, lorazepam, and diazepam have been proven to be effective in the treatment of GAD ⁷⁰ .
	1 +	There is insufficient evidence evaluating the effectiveness of clonazepam, with long average life and low potential for rebound anxiety, but it is probable that benefits similar to those or other BDZs will be obtained ⁷⁰ .
	1 +	BDZs provide fast initial relief of anxiety symptoms, but the evidence suggests that their effects do not differ significantly from those obtained with a placebo after 4 to 6 weeks of treatment.
	1 +	Also, BDZs primarily reduce somatic symptoms more than psychic symptoms (apprehension), which are the symptoms that define GAD ⁷⁰ .
	2++	The use of BDZs is associated with higher risk of dependence, tolerance, sedation, traffic accidents, and withdrawal effects (rebound anxiety) ⁸⁷ .
	2++ 2+	Existing evidence is insufficient to determine whether during pregnancy, the potential benefits of BDZs for the mother outweigh the possible risks to the letus ¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴ .
	2++ 2+	There are adverse effects for neonatal infants when prescribed in advanced stages of pregnancy or during nursing (neonatal hypotonia, withdrawal syndrome, sedation, and hypothermia) ^{82,87,146-149} .
2++ 2+ There are adverse enects to neonatal mains when prescribed in advanced stages of pregnancy of during nursing hypotonia, withdrawal syndrome, sedation, and hypothermia) ^{82,87,146-149} .		Jears since the .

Recommendations regarding benzodiazepines (BDZ) for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

в	The short-term use of BDZs not longer than 4 weeks is recommended when rapid control of symptoms is not crucial or while waiting fro the response to treatment with anti-depressants or CBT.	
В	Alprazolam, bromazepam, lorazepam, and diazepam are the BDZs recommended for use.	
в	To avoid the potential risk of congenital defects, the lowest effective dosage of BDZs should be used, with the shortest possible treatment duration, and as monotherapy. If higher concentrations are required, the daily dosage should be divided into two or three doses, always avoiding use during the first trimester.	dating.
\checkmark	When prescribing BDZs, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, and the possible side effects.	,190°
\checkmark	The following should be taken into consideration when prescribing BDZs: age, previous treatments, tolerability, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness.	
Othe	r drugs drugs considered in the treatment of GAD are: Azapirones	
Other	drugs considered in the treatment of GAD are:	
	Azapirones	
CPG (SR RCTS) 1+	and Azapirones are a family of anxiolytic drugs that act on the 5-HT1A receptor. The	

Other drugs

Azapirones

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+, SR of RCTS 1++, Meta-analysis 1_{++}

Azapirones are a family of anxiolytic drugs that act on the 5-HT1A receptor. The effectiveness and acceptability of azapirones (buspirone) compared with a placebo or other treatments has been evaluated, and they appear to be useful and better than the placebo over the short term (four to nine weeks) in treating GAD, especially if patients have not taken benzodiazepines before. It is not possible to conclude whether azapirones are better than benzodiazepines, anti-depressants, psychotherapy, hydroxicine, or the extract from the kava kava plant. The side effects do not appear to be serious and they involve physical symptoms (nausea, dizziness, and drowsiness) above all^{70,145,150}. O

Since GAD is generally chronic in nature, more studies must be done to establish conclusions regarding its long-term effectiveness.

Although azapirones have been approved for treatment of GAD in Spain, their use is very limited.

X Pregabaline

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+ RCTS 1+C It has been 5

Pregabaline in an anti-convulsive that when compared with a placebo, has been proven effective against the psychic and somatic symptoms of GAD, and is also tolerated by the majority of patients. The adverse effects associated with it include drowsiness, vertigo, and headache. Clinical experience with this drug is limited^{70.87,151-154}.
Hydroxicine

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+, SR of RCTS 1+

Hydroxicine is a medication derived from piperidine, used generally as an anti-his tamine. It also acts as a sedative and tranquilizer, which makes it useful for treating anxiety.

When hydroxicine was compared with a placebo, it was found to improve anxi-Ject to updating. ety symptoms. When compared with other drugs, such as bromazepam and buspirone, no significant differences in effectiveness were observed. The side effects found are, above all, headache and drowsiness. Clinical experience with this drug is also limited^{70.87}.

Atypical anti-psychotics

Open trials with small sample sizes suggest that the atypical anti-psychotics olan-CPG (RCTS) 1-, RCTS 1zapine, risperidone, and zyprasidone can have some benefit as adjuvant drugs in the treatment of refractory GAD, although controlled trials with placebos, randomized double-blind studies, and greater strength are required to verifying effectiveness and safety^{70,155,156}.

Other

CPG (RCTS) 1+, RCTS 1+/1-

Otheranti-depressants such as mirtazapine, zital opram, trazodone, and slow-release bupropion, anti-convulsives such as tiagabine, the drug used in treating Lateral Amyotrophic Sclerosis (ryluzol), and new anxiolytics like deramcyclane may show some effectiveness in treating GAD^{70,157}

RCTS with placebos and larger sample sizes are needed to confirm these results.

Not recommended

CPG (RCTS) 1+

Beta-blockers such as propranolol have not been found to be more effective than .reatin .reatin publice the publice the publice placebos in treating GAD^{70.80}.

Azapir	ones	
1 + 1 ++	Azapirones (buspirone) appear to be effective in controlling the symptoms of GAD over the short term (4 to 9 weeks), especially if the patients have not taken BDZs before ^{70,145,150} .	
1 + 1 ++	It is not possible to conclude whether azapirones are better than benzodiazepines, anti-depressants, psychotherapy, hydroxicine, or the extract from the kava kava plant ^{70,145,150} .	
1 + 1 ++	The side effects described do not appear to be serious and they involve physical symptoms (nausea, dizziness, and drowsiness) above all ^{70,145,150} .	
Pregab	paline	6.
1 +	Has been shown to be effective against the psychic and somatic symptoms of GAD and is also tolerated by most patients ^{70.87,151-154} .	Í
1 +	The adverse effects include drowsiness, vertigo, and headache ^{70.87,151-154} .]
Hydrox	ricine S ^V	1
1 +	Improves anxiety symptoms when compared with a placebo, although differences in effectiveness were not observed when compared with bromazepam and buspirone ^{70.87} .	-
1 +	The side effects found include headache and drowsiness ^{70.87} .]
Atypic	al anti-psychotics	1
1-	Olanzapine, risperidone, and zyprasidone can have some benefit as adjuvant drugs in the treatment of refractory GAD, although controlled trials with placebos, randomized double-blind studies, and greater strength are required to verify its effectiveness and safety ^{70,155-156} .	
Other	, Co]
1+, 1-	Other anti-depressants such as mirtazapine, zitalopram, trazodone, and slow-release bupropion, anti-convulsives such as tiagabine, the drug used in treating Lateral Amyotrophic Sclerosis (ryluzol), and new anxiolytics like deramcyclane may show some effectiveness in treating GAD ^{70,157-159} .	
Not rec	commended	1
1+	Beta-blockers (propranolol) have not been found to be more effective than placebos in treating GAD ^{70.80} .	
		-

Evidence on other drugs for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

Recommendations regarding other drugs for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

	Other	drugs
	В	Azapirones (buspirone) can be used short term, especially in patients with GAD who have not previously taken BDZs, although their use is very limited in Spain.
	\checkmark	The use of other drugs such as pregabline, hydroxicine, atypical anti-psychotics, and others, either due to their limited clinical experience or indication for refractory GAD, should be prescribed after the patient has been evaluated in a Centre specializing in Mental Health.
_	Not re	commended
	В	The use of Beta-blockers (propranolol) is not recommended to treat GAD.
It has been)

6.3.2. Panic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD)

The basic goal of pharmacological treatment of panic disorder is to block the appearance of new panic attacks. As a secondary effect, this also provokes other beneficial actions in patients, relieving anticipatory anxiety, improving self-confidence, and phobic avoidance, with a positive effect on associated depression and improved overall functioning^{160,161}.

piect to updating. As with generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder is also characterized by a high tendency to become chronic and is also associated with frequent complications¹⁶². Specific control is therefore advisable with prolonged treatments to ensure clinical maintenance.

Anti-depressants

- One of the first meta-analyses with RCTS that used anti-depressants to treat PD Meta-analysis 1+ demonstrated the effectiveness of SSRIs for this disorder¹⁶³.
- Along this same line, later reviews that analyzed the effectiveness of anti-SR of RCTS 1+ depressants found that paroxetine, fluoxetine, fluoxamin@citalopram, sertraline, chlorimipramine, and imipramine improved the symptoms of PD in comparison with a placebo. The adverse affects associated with these drugs are headache, trembling, dry mouth, drowsiness, nausea, and dizziness, among others. The percentage of abandonment due to adverse effects was 11% and was similar among the SSRIs and TADs98,164.

Series of cases 3, SR of different types of studies/ Cohort studies 2++, Metaanalysis 1+

TheUSFDA(FoodandDrugAdministration)hasissuedseveralwarningsinregardto the use of SSRIs and increased risk of self-inflicted injury, suicide, and hyponatremia¹²⁹. It has also warned of complications when taken during pregnancy: persistent neonatal pulmonary hypertension and congenital malformations, especially cardiac malformations, if paroxetine is used in the first trimester of pregnancy, increasing its pregnancy risk category from C to D (the FDA's classification for medications based on their teratogenic potential)¹³⁰. Also, when SSRIs are taken in the final phases of pregnancy, there is some evidence that indicates that these drugs interfere with the respiratory and parasympathetic systems of neonatal infants, along with increased risk of respiratory and central nervous system symptoms. Effects of hypoglycemia and adaptation problems may also be observed. However, all of these results are not always due to the toxicity or removal of SSRIs. To prevent potential risk of adverse neoratal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy¹³¹⁻¹³⁶.

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1++ 1+ has been 5

The guidelines from the NICE, Canadian Psychiatric Association, and MOH consider the use of SSRI anti-depressants to be the pharmacological treatment of choice for PD70.80-82.

CPG (SR and	The Canadian guideline specifies citalopram, escitalopram, fluoxetine, fluvoxa-
RCTS) 1+,	mine, paroxetine, sertraline and slow-release venlafaxine as the best choices for phar-
RCTS 1+	macological treatment due to their significant improvement in the gravity of the pan-
	ic. The aforementioned SSRIs also show a significant improvement in anticipatory
	anxiety and in agoraphobic avoidance, as well as in the symptoms related to func-
	tional disability and quality of life. Paroxetine, citalopram, fluoxetine, sertraline, and
	venlafaxine have demonstrated prolonged benefits and continued improvements over
	the course of 6 to 12 months of treatment ^{70,165,166} .

Series of cases 3

In terms of the use of venlafaxine, the MHRA (Medicines and Healthcare prod-Regulatory Agency) has warned of the cardio-toxic and hypertensive affects ucts Regulatory Agency) has warned of the cardio-toxic and hypertensive effects of venlafaxine, especially associated higher-than-therapeutic doses¹⁴¹.

SR of different types of studies 2++, CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+, RCTS 1+

There is limited evidence in regard to long-term persistence (longer than 5 months after treatment has been completed) of the benefits obtained with short-term treatments when the continuation of the treatment is not maintained¹⁶⁷ and it is difficult to establish the ideal duration of pharmacological treatment for PD. Although imipramine and venlafaxine have been proven to prevent long term relapse in comparison with the placebo, the interruption of treatment with anti-depressants poses a risk of relapse, so therapy in many patients should be applied long-term (at least 12 months) 70,168.

The treatments administered during the studies and their follow-up period must be better supervised in order to obtain more data on the long-term results.

Research with other anti-depressants in the treatment of PD have demonstrated the CPG (RCTS) 1+. RCTS 1effectiveness of mirtazapine and milnacipran (anti-depressant serotonin-5HT and noradrenalin-NA reuptake inhibitor in open trials^{70,169}.

Other studies with MAOIs and MARIs show that some, such as fenelzine, ap-CPG (RCTS) 1+ pear to be effective in the treament of PD. Trials on the effectiveness of MARI (moclobemide) do not show such clear results. Due to the potentially serious side effects and interactions with other drugs and dietary components, its use is recommended only when other drugs have failed^{70.82}.

CPG (expert opinions) 4

When the response to the optimal dosage of one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if they are not well tolerated, the patient should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechathas been 5 years since nism effaction (NSRI, TAD, mirtazapine)70.80.

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN THE SPANISH NHS

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE FOR TREATMENT OF PATIENTS WITH ANXIETY DISORDERS IN PRIMARY CARE

A	The use of anti-depressants is recommended as one of the pharmacological treatments of choice for PD.]
В	In terms of anti-depressants recommended for use, SSRI (citalopram, escitalopram, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, paroxetine, and sertraline), SNSRIs (slow-release venlafaxine) and TADs (chlorimipramine, imipramine).	
С	The prescription of venlafaxine is not recommended to patients at high risk of cardiac arrhythmia or recent myocardial infarct, and will only be used in patients with hypertension when the hypertension is controlled.	
	When the response to the optimal dosage of one of the SSRIs is inadequate or if they are not well tolerated, the patient should switch to another SSRI. If there is no improvement after 8-12 weeks, consider using another drug with a different mechanism of action (NSRI, TAD, mirtazapine).	odatin
в	The interruption of treatment with anti-depressants poses a risk of relapse, so therapy in many patients should be applied long-term (at least 12 months).	
В	During pregnancy, the choice of the treatment must consider whether the potential advantages for the mother of the prescribed SSRIs outweigh the possible risks to the embryo.	
в	To prevent potential risk of adverse neonatal effects, the lowest effective dose of SSRIs should be used with the shortest possible treatment duration, with the possibility of use as monotherapy.	
	In prescribing anti-depressants, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, possible side effects, and the risks of sudden interruption of the treatment.	
\checkmark	The following must be taken into account when prescribing anti-depressants: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness.	
loto142.		-

Recommendations regarding anti-depressants for Panic Disorder (PD)

Note¹⁴²

 The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS) for venlafaxine, fluoxetine, and fluvoxamine does not include the therapeutic indication for PD.

The Technical Dossier for chlorimipramine and the prospectus of imipramine (Technical Dossier not available) includes indication for panic attacks, but not panic disorder.

Anxiolytics - benzodiazepines (BDZ)

Benzodiazepines form part of a family of drugs that have proven their effectiveness in treating PD^{70.80-82}.

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1++, SR of RCTS 1++, RCTS 1+, CPG (RCTS 1+, CPG (RCTS) 1+, SR of RCTS 1+, RCTS 1+, RCTS 1+

Alprazolam, clonazepam, lorazepam, and diazepam have been proven to be effective in the treatment of PD, and the Canadian guideline includes them as the second-tier pharmacological treatment^{70.98}. Alprazolam has been proven to reduce the frequency of panic attacks and symptoms of agoraphobia and anticipatory anxiety¹⁶⁶. The slow-release formula appears to have good initial speed of effect, with the advantage of longer duration of its therapeutic action¹⁷⁰. The short-term use of clonazepam at the start of treatment, along with SSRIs can result in faster response⁶¹. However, BDZs are associated with a wide spectrum of adverse effects both during and after treatment (dependence, withdrawal syndrome when stopped, and recurrence if treatment is discontinued). This effect of sudden withdrawal has been observed in patients with PD with alprazolam^{82.98,171}.

Since the long-term use of BDZs is associated with problems, their use is recom CPG (SR and mended for a limited time (short term), with the lowest possible dosage to reduce RCTS) 1+ symptoms of PD, with the dosage reduced gradually. Short-term use is also recommended at any time to reduce agitation or acute or serious anxiety. The selected guidelines do not recommend long-term use, but if used, they add that usage must be supervised70.80-82.

SR of different 2++/ Observational studies 2+

SExistingevidence is insufficient to determine whether during pregnancy, the potentypes of studies tial benefits of BDZs for the mother outweigh the possible risks to the fetus¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴. To avoid the potential risk of congenital defects, the lowest effective dosage of BDZs should be used, with the shortest possible treatment duration, and as monotherapy. If higher concentrations are required, the daily dosage should be divided into two or three doses, always avoiding use during the first trimester¹⁴³. In advance@stages of pregnancy or during nursing, BDZs can cause adverse effects in neonatal infants (neonatal hypotonia, withdrawal syndrome, sedation, and hypothermia). 82.87,146-149

Evidence on benzodiazepines for Panic Disorder (PD)

1++	Alprazolam, clonazepam, lorazepam, and diazepam have been proven to be effective in the meatment of GAD ^{70.98} .
1 + 1-	Alprazolam has been proven to reduce panic attacks and symptoms of agoraphobia and anticipatory anxiety. Its slow-release formula has the same initiation speed, with the advantage of longer duration of the drug's action ^{166,170} .
1+	The short-term use of clonazepam at the start of treatment, along with SSRIs can result in faster response ⁷⁰ .
1 +	However, BDZs are associated with a wide spectrum of adverse effects both during and after treatment (dependence, withdrawal syndrome and recurrence if treatment is discontinued) ^{82,38,171} .
2++ 2+	Existing evidence is insufficient to determine whether during sregnancy, the potential benefits of BDZs for the mother outweigh the possible risks to the fetus ¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴ .
2++ 2+	There are adverse effects for neonatal infants when prescribed in advanced stages of pregnancy or during nursing (neonatal hypotonia, withdrawal syndrome, sedation, and hypothermia) ^{82.87,146-149} .

Recommendations regarding benzodiazepines for Panic Disorder (PD)

В	If BDZs are used in PD, short-term use is recommended or when crucial due to acute or serious anxiety or agitation, with the lowest possible dosage, which must be reduced gradually.
В	Use for longer periods must always be supervised.
В	Alprazolam, clonazepam, lorazepam, and diazepam are the BDZs recommended for use.
в	To avoid the potential risk of congenital defects, the lowest effective dosage of BDZs should be used, with the shortest possible treatment duration, and as monotherapy if possible. If higher concentrations are required, the daily dosage should be oivided into two or three doses, always avoiding use during the first trimester.
so a	When prescribing BDZs, patients should be informed of the therapeutic objectives, the duration of the treatment, and the possible side effects.
S`√	The following should be taken into consideration when prescribing BDZs: age, previous treatments, tolerance, possibility of pregnancy, side effects, patient preferences, and cost as well as effectiveness.

Note: The Technical Dossier from the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS)¹⁴² for clonazepam does not include the therapeutic indication for PD.

Other drugs

Other drugs considered in the treatment of PD are:

Azapirones

CPG (RCTS) 1+, The effectiveness of azapirones (buspirone) in the treatment of PD has not been nbqsting. SR of RCTS 1++, clearly demonstrated so their use is not recommended^{70.98,102}. Meta-analysis 1++

Atypical anti-psychotics

CPG (RCTS) 1-, Open studies suggest that atypical anti-psychotics olanzapine, quetiapine, and risp RCTS 1- eridone added to anti-depressive trust eridone, added to anti-depressive treatment, may have some benefit in the treatment of refractory PD^{70,155,172}.

CPG (RCTS) 1+/1-

- Pindolol: beta-blocker and antagonist of the 1A seratoninergic receptor (5-HT 1A), added to fluoxetine appears to improve symptoms in treatment-resistant PD patients.
 - Gabapentine: anti-convulsive with a certain degree of effectiveness in gravely ill patients.

S

• Sodium valproate (anti-convulsive) and slow-release bupropion (anti-depressant): these have demonstrated a certain degree of effectiveness in open trials.

Until more data becomes available, these drugs should only be used in patients with refractory PD.

CPG (RCTS) 1+ Not recommended⁷⁰

Other⁷⁰

Other agents such as tracozone (anti-depressant), propanolol (beta-blocker) and car-.ti. use is publice the publice bamazepine (anti-convulsive) have not been shown to be effective in the treatment of PD, so their use is not recommended.

Azapir	ones	
1 + 1++	The effectiveness of azapirones (buspirone) in the treatment of PD has not been clearly demonstrated ^{70.98,103} .	
Atypic	al anti-psychotics	_
1-	Open studies suggest that atypical anti-psychotics olanzapine, quetiapine, and risperidone, added to anti-depressive treatment, may have some benefit in the treatment of refractory PD ^{70,155,172} .	
Other:	pindolol, gabapentine, sodium valproate, slow-release bupropion	1 ANN
1 + 1-	It appears that these may improve symptoms in treatment-resistant PD patients ⁷⁰ .	10
Not red	commended	Ť
1 +	Tradozone, propanolol, and carbamazepine have not been shown to be effective in treating PD ⁷⁰ .	
	SUDI	-
Reco	mmendations regarding other drugs for Panic Disorder (PD)	
Other		7

Evidence regarding other drugs for Panic Disorder (PD)

Recommendations regarding other drugs for Panic Disorder (PD)

Other	Other drugs	
в	The use of azapirones (buspirone) is not recommended in the treatment of PD.	
	The use of other drugs such as pindolol, gabapentine, sodium valproate, and slow-release bupriopion, due to their indication for refractory PD should be prescribed after the patient has been evaluated by a Centre specialized in Mental Health.	
Not re	ecommended	
В	The use of tradozone, propanolol, and carbamazepine is not recommer ded.	
6.3.	3. Panic attack	

6.3.3. Panic attack

As in the case of psychological interventions, there is minimal evidence regarding acute pharmacological treatment of panic attacks.

In immediate treatment of panic attacks, BDZs have the advantage, in regard to Ads, that its action begins faster. Alprazolam and lorazepam are commonly used in emergency cases. The advantages of sub-lingual use of alprazolam and lorazepam over oral ingestion have not been clearly demonstrated. 0

RCTS 1+

Interms of pharmacological treatment to maintain benefits, SSRIs and TADs are treatments of choice. In a study with a duration from 8 to 10 weeks, which Hthas been 5 years included patient groups treated with a placebo, imipramine, or with fluoxetine, it was concluded that the patients treated with either imipramine or fluoxetine showed a statistically significant effect in the reduction of the number of spontaneous panic attacks, compared with the patients treated with the placebo¹⁷³.

Evidence on pharmacological treatment of Panic Attacks

	The use of SSRIs and TADs as the drugs of choice in pharmacological treatment for maintenance of benefits to reduce the
1 +	number of panic attacks has been demonstrated ¹⁷³ .

Recommendations on pharmacological treatment of Panic Attacks

mmendations on pharmacological treatment of Panic Attacks The BDZs alprazolam and lorazepam may be used for the immediate treatment of serious panic attacks.
The use of SSRI and TAD anti-depressants is recommended for pharmacological treatment of panic attacks.
Combined treatment: psychological and pharmacological therapies

6.4. Combined treatment: psychological and pharmacological therapies

SR of RCTS 1+ A systematic review¹⁷⁴ that analyzes the data from nine RCTS with a sample size of 1,400 individuals, where the participants were patients were diagnosed with anxiety disorders, examines the effectiveness of CBT combined with medication (benzodiazepines, azaspirones, anti-depressants) in comparison with the effectiveness of each one of these therapies separately, measuring it with different scales (the scale of phobic avoidance, the WP2 anxiety inhibition scale, panic disorder severity scale – PDSS, and the Hamilton anxiety scale – HAM-A). It concludes that there are few studies that are methodologically suited for determining whether combined therapy is between than monotherapy, but those that directly compare combined therapy with pharmacological treatment show that combined treatment is better, which suggests that the use of a cycle of CBT should be considered for patients that have obtained partial response from medications after receiving pharmacotherapy alone. Also, with the exception of PD, adding drugs to CBT appears to not interfere negatively in the effects achieved over the long term with CBT alone.

_		
	1 +	There are few methodologically suitable studies to determine whether combined treatment with CBT and medication is better than each one separately ¹⁷⁴ .
	1 +	The few studies that directly compare combined therapy with pharmacological treatment (benzodiazepines, azaspirones, and anti-depressants) show that combined therapy is better ¹⁷⁴ .
	1 +	With the exception of PD, the addition of medication to CBT does not interfere negatively on the effects achieved over the long term with CBT ¹⁷⁴
1+1 N25 D86	57	

Evidence on combined treatment (CBT and medication)

Recommendations regarding combined treatment (CBT and medication)

A

Combined treatment with CBT and medication is recommended based on its effectiveness, although more comparison studies are needed.

6.4.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

In one RCTS done in the context of Primary Care and in which psychologists provide CBT in the healthcare facility, CBT was combined with the use of diagram. CBT consisted of 7 sessions over a restrict RCTS 1+ ventions such as cognitive therapy and progressive muscle relaxation, and took work home, working on the technique of exposure to situations and thoughts that generate anxiety. The evaluation of the effectiveness, using the Hamilton scale, continued until six months after the treatment. The study concluded that there is an advantage, in terms of severity and overall change in symptoms, of the combined treatment over the use of diazepam alone, but not over the use of CBT alone. The CBT either alone or in combination with a drug or placebo, showed the lowest incidence of referrals to psychologists and/or psychiatrists at a six-month follow-up.

> The authors highlighted the need for more RCTSs that directly compare combined treatment with CBT and treatment with drugs. They also indicate that research should take into account patient preferences, long-term results, and the organizational coordination that the clinical practice reflects.

Inourcontext, experiences have shown both a direct¹⁷⁶ and indirect^{93.94}, improvement RCTS 1+, Pre-post in symptoms when group relaxation and cognitive interventions are added to pharstudy 1-, f. .aff an .aff an of publication of the publication of the publication of the publication of the publication of macological treatment. These interventions are carried out in the healthcare facility, Non-randomized controlled study, mainly by nursing staff and/or social workers.

Evidence of combined treatment (CBT and medication) for Generalized Anxiety **Disorder (GAD)**

Appli	cation within the scope of Primary Care.	
Intern	ational	
1+	There is evidence that the combined treatment of CBT and diazepam is superior in terms of severity and overall change in symptoms in comparison with the use of diazepam alone, but not in comparison with the use of CBT alone ¹⁷⁵ .	
1+	The CBT reviewed was done by psychologists in Primary Care in 7 sessions over the course of nine weeks. and includes interventions such as cognitive therapy and progressive muscle relaxation. Patients took work home, working on the technique of exposure to situations and thoughts that generate anxiety ¹⁷⁵ .	dating
1+	The CBT either alone or in combination with a diazepam or placebo, showed the lowest incidence of referrals to Specialized Care psychologists and/or psychiatrists at a six-month follow-up ¹⁷⁵ .	27
2. Nat	ional	-
1+ 1-	There is evidence of effectiveness in terms of the reduction in anxiety symptoms of combined therapies in healthcare centres that include group relaxation and cognitive interventions led by nursing staff and/or social workers ^{93,94,776} .	

Recommendations on combined treatment (CBT and medication) for Generalized **Anxiety Disorder (GAD)**

Applic	Application within the scope of Primary Care				
в	The combined treatment of CBT and diazepam or CBT alone, versus the use of diazepam alone, due to its advantage in terms of gravity and overall change of symptoms is recommended, although patient preferences must be taken into account.				
в	In combined treatment, such as CBT in healthcare centres, 7 sessions over 9 weeks are recommended, provided by professionals trained in cognitive therapy and progressive muscular relaxation. The patient should also do work at home.				
\checkmark	In healthcare centres, combined therapy that includes group actions, cognitive therapy, and relaxation is recommended, with at least 8 sessions (1 per week), carried out in a structured manner and directed by trained professionals from the Primary Care teams.				

of this 6.4.2. Panic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD)

RCTS 1+

The first trials that examine the effectiveness of CBT combined with medication (benzodiazepines, azaspirones, anti-depressants) as compared to the effectiveness of each one of these therapies used separately show that the differences between these thas been 5 years BCT¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁷⁹. treatments are not very clear. Also, during follow-up, it was observed that combined therapy interfered with the maintenance of the benefits obtained long-term by

- Later, a systematic review from the Cochrane¹⁸⁰ that covers this question indicates SR of RCTS that increasingly, pharmacological treatment not only tends to show high rates of recurrence when interrupted, but also when adequate dosage is maintained, and that CBT may also be unable to prevent recurrence over the long term. For this reason, combined treatment appears to be practiced quite frequently in real conditions, possibly due to the insufficiency of any of the monotherapies mentioned previously. This review evaluates RCTS that examine the effectiveness and adverse effects of combined treatment, with psychotherapy plus antidepressants, in comparison with either of the two applied separately for treating PD with or without agoraphobia. The results obtained indicate that in the short term, in other words, during the acute phase (2-4 months), combined treatment is more effective than psychotherapy alone or treatment with antidepressants alone, while over the long term, combined treatment is as effective as psychotherapy alone, and is more effective than neatment with anti-depressants alone. The most solid tests in terms of psychotherapy were for CBT, which used techniques of exposure and cognitive restructuring. The analysis of sub-groups with anti-depressants showed similar results for TAGs and SSRIs. The review concluded that either the combination of CBT and pharmacological treatment or CBT alone can be chosen as the first treatment option for panic disorder with or without agoraphobia, depending on the patient's preferences. Treatment with antidepressants alone should not be recommended as a first treatment option when other more appropriate therapies are available¹⁸⁰.
- Mitte'smeta-analysisalsostudiestheeffectivenessofcombinedtreatmentwithCBT Meta-analysis and SSRI or tricyclic anti-depressants, and concludes that it is slightly more effective than CBT alone for all of the categories of symptoms, except for quality of life. This study also demonstrates the need for more research to compare, above all, the negative long-term effects of the combination of these treatments with proper blind RCTSs that evaluate all of the aspects of panic syndrome.

RCTS 1+

It has been 5 year

1++

1++

The intervention models applied in PC in combined treatment with psychological and pharmacological therapy also follow different lines. There is a model based on collaboration between Primary Care and Specialized Care, in which the pharmacological part is directed by the family physician and the CBT part is coordinated and/or handled by a psychotherapist. Three RCTSs based on this model were selected. One RCTS¹⁸¹ evaluated the effectiveness of the combination of anxiolytic medication and CBT as opposed to the use of medication alone. CBT techniques such as relaxation, exposure, behavioral assignment, information on panic attacks, identification of cognitive errors and handling those errors were used. It was found that the combination with CBT, in comparison with the use of medication alone, generates an improvement in indicators such as sensitivity to anxiety, social avoidance, and incapacitation, after 3 months of treatment and at a 12-month follow-up.

- There was another RCTS on patients with PD, which combines the use of anti-RCTS 1+ depressants and/or benzodiazepines with reduced CBT intervention that includes 6 sessions of cognitive-behavioral therapy over the course of 12 weeks, followed by 6 brief telephone contacts in the following 9 months. The patients also received an informational video to prepare them in regard to panic disorder and its treatment, and a revised and condensed version of a manual for doing work at home. The study conpolating. cluded that the combined intervention produced a sustained and gradually increasing improvement according to the measurement scales used, in comparison with the improvement obtained with pharmacological treatment alone.
- Along the same line as the previous ones, another RCTS¹⁸³ compares combined RCTS 1+ treatments, treatments alone, and with placebo. They all showed better results than the placebo, but the CBT group obtained a more robust and consistent response. CBT, with the treatment provided in 8 sessions over the course of 12 weeks, included techniques of gradual exposure and managing panic, and a treatment manual for patients, which included information on anxiety and panic attacks, and emphasized the importance of patients facing these crises with alternative actions and responses.

There are three lines of future research that deserve additional study. Strategies SR of RCTS 1++ need to be developed to treat patients who do not respond or who respond only partially to these therapies. Complementary research is also needed with a number of fully-recovered patients, without additional treatment during follow-up, to confirm that combined treatment does not complicate evinterfere with psychotherapy over the long term. Lastly, it should be noted that the available data on the effects of the combination of anti-depressants with non-cognitive-behavioral therapies, such as psychodynamic and interpersonal therapies, is limited¹⁸⁰.

RCTS 1+ pre-postestudy 1-

The studies carried out in our healthcare centers, as already mentioned for treating GAD, indicate the benefit, also in the case of PD, of group relaxation and cognien the publication of the public tive interventions, added to pharmacological treatment, in terms of improvement of

1 + 1-	There is evidence of effectiveness in terms of the reduction in anxiety symptoms of combined therapies in healthcare centres that include group relaxation and cognitive interventions led by nursing staff and/or social workers ^{93.94,176} .
2. Natio	onal
1+	Combined therapy in PC* with brief CBT and medication showed a more robust and consistent response than pharmacological treatment alone ^{182,183} . *Note: Brief CBT includes a written manual for the treatment and techniques of exposure and handling panic prepared by psychologists, with an average of 6-8 sessions over the course of 12 weeks. Brief telephone contact is sometimes included. The medication includes anxiolytics and/or anti-depressants.
1+	There is evidence of the application of combined treatment with CBT and medication in Primary Care through an integrated model in which general practitioners are supported by specialists and/or psychologists ¹⁸¹ .
	ation within the scope of Primary Care. national
1++	The CBT reviewed used techniques of exposure and cognitive restructuring. The anti-depressants show similar results in the case of tricyclics and SSRIs ¹⁸⁰ .
1 +	During follow-up, combined therapy (combining anti-depressant medication and CBT) interfered in the maintenance of the long-term benefits obtained by CBT alone ¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁷⁹ .
1++	In the long term, combined treatment of CBT and anti-depressants is as effective as CBT alone and is more effective than treatment with anti-depressants alone ¹⁸⁰ .
1++	In the short term, combined treatment of CBT and anti-depressants in comparison with CBT or anti-depressants alone is more effective in improving PD symptoms ¹⁸⁰ .

Evidence on combined treatment (CBT and medication) for Panic Disorder (PD)

Recommendations regarding combined treatment (CBT and medication) for Panic Disorder (PD)

Gener	ral recommendations:		
A The combination of CBT (exposure and cognitive restructuring techniques) and anti-depressants (TADs a recommended, depending on patient preferences.			
A Treatment with anti-depressants alone is no recommended as first-line treatment, when the appropriate reso provide CBT are available.			
B In long-term treatments, if anti-depressant drugs are added to the CBT, they should be monitored to ensure that the interfere with the beneficial effects of the CBT alone.			
Applic	cation within the scope of Primary Care		
B In healthcare centres, incombined treatment, the application of cognitive-behavioral actions is recommended in 6-8 sess course of 12 weeks provided by trained professionals, through brief CBT that includes techniques of exposure and handle			
	In healthcare centres, combined therapy that includes group actions, cognitive therapy, and relaxation is recommended, with at least 8 sessions (1 per week), carried out in a structured manner and directed by trained professionals from the Primary Care teams.		
5			

6.4.3. Panic attack

The treatment of panic attack is particularly symptomatic, so the recommendations in terms of the combination of psychotherapy and medication to prevent later crises are the same as those already discussed in the combined treatment of PD. biect to updating.

6.5 Other treatments

6.5.1 Self-help treatment

SR and meta-analysis of RCTS 1+

Self-help programs can offers some advantages in treating panic disorders in Primary Care^{184,185}. The most commonly-used alternatives in this type of treatment are biblioideline ar therapy and help using online programs.

Bibliotherapy

Bibliotherapy is defined as the guided use of reading with therapeutic functions and consists basically in the acquisition of knowledge and therapeutic practices by reading a specific bibliography selected and recommended by the therapist.

Manuals that teach methods that are easy to learn and put into practice are used. This type of self-help is considered as a method to complement and facilitate treatment of panic disorders.

CPG (SR and RCTS) 1+

Of the three guidelines selected, the NICE guideline is the one that recommends self-help therapy as one of the treatments of choice for both GAD and for PD, recommending the use of bibliotherapy based on the principles of CBT 81.82.

SR of RCTS 1+

One systematic review evaluated the effectiveness of treatment of GAD with self-help manuals in Primary Care, comparing this intervention either with educational health brochures or with the waiting list, or with the normal treatment, or with a combination of advice, manual, a certain degree of contact, and CBT¹⁸⁶. The review concluded that manuals may be effective in the treatment of GAD, but that there was no evidence of the feasibility and benefits of this procedure. Future research should examine the feasibility of using a self-help manual under guidance and evaluate the benefits of the manuals.

SR of RCTS Hthas been 5

Another systematic review that compares self-help interventions that use the principles of CBT, with a control group (normal treatment or waiting list) and with relaxation therapy, concluded that self-help is effective in reducing the symptoms (frequency of panic attacks), changing cognitive attitudes related to panic, and impact on quality of life of patients with PD¹⁸⁷. Due to the relatively small size of the studies and their duration, longer RCTSs based on larger and more heterogeneous samples are needed, along with the analysis of the clinical effectiveness and benefits of the interventions. The optimum length of the intervention also needs to be determined for each case, as well as how much professional participation is required to produce a positive change in the patient when this type of intervention is used¹⁸⁷.

- There is another intervention study, in a series of cases, on the use of biblio-Pre-post study 1therapy in Primary Care for patients with mild and moderate anxiety, that highlights the significant improvement after its application, and persistence of the benefits for the following months¹⁸⁸.
- RCTS 1+ Another RCTS evaluates the effectiveness of self-help based on the principles of CBT through a manual for patients with mild and moderate anxiety, guided by nursing staff in Primary Care¹⁸⁹. The therapy includes three sessions guided by nurses, two the first week and another during the third month, with patients working at home with a manual and with intermediate tracking through visits or by phone. This method was compared with the normal treatment provided by family physicians, and both were found to have a similar cost and were equally effective in reducing anxiety symptoms, but the patients were more satisfied with the self-help guide@by the nurses than the customary treatment.
- It therefore appears important that certain indications (guidance) are important RCTS 1+ in the use of bibliotherapy, as the application of this effective self help without guidance could generate low levels of motivation or fulfillment. The use of short phone calls and/or comments by email can ensure that the bibliotherapy materials are used properly¹⁹⁰.

In our context, the most recent studies done in Spain have concluded, however, that while preliminary results allow for a reasonable degree of optimism, four research is required to more precisely evaluate the clinical effectiveness, persistence of the benefits achieved over the long term, and the optimum selection of materials for each type of patient¹⁹¹.

Bibliotherapy and panic attack

Bibliotherapy has also been found to be effective in the treatment of panic attacks. RCTS 1-In a recent study carried out over 8 weeks, patients with panic attacks were assigned to three types of intervention: bibliotherapy alone, bibliotherapy plus telephone contact, and telephone contact alone. The individuals who received bibliotherapy alone and those that received bibliotherapy plus phone contact significantly reduced their perception of panic and fear when suffering a panic attack. The patients who received bibliotherapy with phone contact also obtained significant reductions in panic symptoms and incapacitation¹⁹².

RCTS 1+

One study evaluated the effectiveness of a program to prevent relapse, consisting of the administration of a self-help manual with monthly telephone contact for Hthas been 5 years patients who had previously followed an intervention with bibliotherapy and monitoring by phone contact. The duration of the intervention was 6 months. Compared with a control group of patients on the waiting list, the individuals who received the relapse-prevention program significantly reduced their measurements of panic attack frequency, panic cognition, anticipatory anxiety, incapacitation, and depression. The results also reflect the importance of contact with the family physician, though brief, for the patients in order to increase motivation in the active participation in bibliotherapy interventions¹⁹⁰.

On-line programs

On-line self-help programs based on the principles of CBT could eventually become a valid alternative for the treatment of anxiety disorders in Primary Care. The recipients of this type of therapy could be patients that due to some type of geographical or personal isolation (such as agoraphobia), have limited access to a direct contact with a psychologist⁶¹, people who have moved or who travel frequently, or those who are familiarized with the use of internet and wish to maintain their anonymity.

SR of different types of studies 1+/2++, RCTS 1+

В

Some reports and trials highlight this option as an effective and cost-effective approach, although it must be noted that the evidence is minimal and RCTSs with easy-to-use programs are required, with comparison to other types of self-help such as bibliotherapy, with placebos, or with individual or group CBT, both short and long term^{33,193-197}. In any case, it appears that these programs could be a valid and acceptable alternative in the context of Primary Care, helping to respond to the high demand for psychological treatment, especially in these patients.

Evidence on self-help for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Papic Disorder (PD), and Panic Attack

1 +	There is evidence of the application and effectiveness of bibliotherapy as self-help therapy, based on the principles of CBT, in the treatment of GAD and PD in Primary Care ^{70.81.82} .
1 +	A self-help program with bibliotherapy based on the principles of CBT directed by nursing staff in Primary Care, with three on-site sessions, work at home with a manual, and intermediate monitoring with visits or phone calls, has been shown to be effective in the treatment of patients with mild and moderate anxiety ¹⁸⁹ .
1 + 1-	Bibliotherapy has been shown to be effective in the treatment of patients with panic attacks, reducing the perception of panic, fear of suffering a crisis, panic symptoms, and incapacitation ^{187,192} .
1 +	The use of bibliotherapy in the context of relapse-prevention programs (self-help manual and monthly telephone contact over the course of 6 months) reduces the frequency of panic attacks, panic cognition, anticipatory anxiety, incapacity, and depression ¹⁹⁰ .
1+	Contact with the family physician, though brief, generates greater active participation in bibliotherapy interventions ¹⁹⁰ .
1 + 2++	Online self-help program based on CBT appear to be cost-effective, but more CBSs are required to compare this with other types of self-help, such as bibliomerapy, placebo, and with individual or group CBT over both the short and long term ^{33,193-197} .

Recommendations regarding bibliotherapy for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Panic Disorder (PD), and Panic Attack

The application of bibliotherapy is recommended based on the principles of CBT in public healthcare centres, by trained professionals using self-help manuals and telephone contact or brief personal contacts. t has been 5

ating

6.5.2. Herbal medicine

In recent years, studies on the usefulness of herbal remedies to treat mild and moderate anxiety have proliferated. Medicinal herbs are popular, used worldwide, and could be considered as an option in the treatment of anxiety if they can be proven to be effective and safe. Family physicians need to know how to recognize both the benefits and risks in these formulations. This would avoid the attitudes of rejection that could be transferred to the patient if their use is hidden from the patient, masking possible adverse effects¹⁹⁸.

Kava kava (Piper methisticum)

Meta-analysis 1+

nethisticum) Kava is a beverage prepared from the rhizome of the Kava oceanica plant and has been used for centuries for ceremonial and medicinal purposes. In the sixties, some non-controlled clinical studies indicet beneficial in the treatment of anxiety. A system indicating a significant reduct maxiety scale of anxiety scale (HAM-A) in favor of kava in comparison with a placebo.¹⁹⁹

SR of RCTS 1+

The review cited earlier was updated with data from an RCTS, concluding that kava extract appears to be an effective option in the symptomatic treatment of anxiety in comparison with the placebo. The adverse effects indicated in the included RCTSs also indicate that this extract is relatively innocuous in short-term treatment (1 to 24 weeks), but the review concluden that additional and more rigorous studies on kava's long-term effectiveness and harmlessness were required²⁰⁰.

RCTS 1+

The doubts regarding kava's effectiveness continue to motivate different studies. There is an RCT that dissents in regard to its effectiveness and does not reveal any difference between its use and a placebo in anxiety disorders such as GAD^{201} . But the sample size and duration of the study (four weeks) is very small. Other RCTS have demonstrated that Kava needs to be used for a longer time (eight weeks) to show its effectiveness¹⁹⁸; its use may be as effective as buspirone or opipramol for acute treatment of GAD²⁰² and significantly improves sleep disorders associated with anxiety disorders²⁰³.

RCTS 1+. Series of cases 3. Legal

It continues to be the object of controversy regarding its safety of usage²⁰⁴. There are RCTS that focus more on the side effects associated with hepatic toxicity; the FDA has ssued warnings in this regard²⁰⁶, , and the Spanish Agency for Medications and H has been 5 years Healthcare Products (AEMPS) includes it in the list of plants whose sale to the public is prohibited or restricted due to its toxicity²⁰⁷. Later studies have emphasized the quality of the formulations, and suggest that inclusion, without a standard process, of the plant's bark increases the level of hepatic toxicity¹⁹⁸. It is important to consider the possible interactions with other drugs and with other medicinal herbs, and in this sense, the RCTS conclude that the dosage and quality of the formulations must be monitored in order to prevent cases of intoxication. For patients with mild or moderate anxiety who want to use natural remedies and do not drink alcohol or use other drugs that could be metabolized by the liver, short-term use of kava appears to be acceptable198.

Valerian (Valeriana officinalis)

SR of RCTS 1+ Valerian is one of the most widely-used medicinal herbs for insomnia, and it is also used for treating anxiety. It is used in dried herb form, as an extract, or tincture.

> On review studied the effectiveness and safety of valerian in treating anxiety disorders²⁰⁸. The review included an RCT with patients who suffered from GAD. This was a pilot study, with a duration of four weeks, with valerian, diazepam, and placebo. The review concluded that since it was based on a single small study, there was insufficient proof to draw conclusions regarding the effectiveness or safety of valerian in comparison with the placebo or diazepam for GAD. RCTS that include larger samples and that compare valerian with a placebo or other interventions used it is subit to treat anxiety disorders such as anti-depressants are needed.

Passion flower (Passiflora caerulea)

Passion flower (passion flower extract) is a popular remedy used for anxiety. It has been used for many years in the US and has not been associated with any chronic or acute toxic effects. It is available for oral use, mainly in the form tablets made from the dried herb or as an infusion. The variation in the preparation, depending on the different formulations produced by manufacturers, makes it even more difficult to compare the effectiveness of the different products.

One systematic review included an RCP with patients with GAD, studying the SR of RCTS 1+ effectiveness and safety of passion flower in the treatment of anxiety, comparing oxazolam with passion flower over a period of four weeks^{209,210}. The evidence of this small study shows a similar response model for passion flower and benzodiazepines in the evaluation in short-term treatment of GAD; but the number of randomized controlled studies that examine the effectiveness of passion flower for this disorder is too small to allow clear conclusions to be drawn. Nor are there any comparisons of passion flower with the drugs most commonly used for the treatment of generalized anxiety, anti-depressants, which limits the ability to draw any useful conclusions for clinical practice

Ginkgo biloba (Ginkgo biloba L., Salisburia adiantifolia Smith)

RCTS 1+ It has been 5 years

Extract of Ginkgo Biloba is extracted from the leaves and seeds of the Ginkgo Biloba cree. It has been used for years because of its therapeutic actions.

One RCT has demonstrated its effectiveness in patients with GAD, significantly reducing anxiety according to the Hamilton scale, comparing it with a placebo. It is also tolerated well (the adverse effects were mild-moderate in nature, related to allergic reactions or a drop in systolic blood pressure readings), shows no risk of dependence, and apparently does not alter cognitive functions²¹¹.

More studies and longer-term studies are needed to confirm the data obtained.

Yellow globeflower (Galphimia Glauca)

RCTS 1+ Yellow globeflower is a plant used in traditional Mexican medicine as a "nervous tranquilizer". One RCT compared its effectiveness, safety, and tolerability with lorazepam in patients with GAD over the course of 4 weeks. Both treatments were found to be effective and safe anxiolytics, with the plant extract tolerated better²¹². Jodatino.

Formulation of whitethorn (Crataegus Oxyacanta), California poppy (Eschscholtzia californica) and magnesium

Whitethorn is a small thorny tree with abundant leaves. Its therapeutic history is quite recent and it has been called the "heart plant". The California poppy beings to the same family as the poppy and has sedative and hypnotic properties.

A formulation with the extracts from both plants combined with magnesium RCTS 1+ in fixed amounts has been demonstrated in one RCT to be better than a placebo at reducing mild or moderate anxiety in patients with GAD. It appears that the difference with the placebo increases over the course of treatment, but longer-term studies are needed to confirm this trend. The side effects were associated with digestive disorders and mild-moderate psychological disorders so the researchers concluded that the formulation could be effective and safe for symptomatic treatment in clinical practice of mild-moderate states of anxiety²¹³.

Evidence on treatment using medicinal herbs for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) and Panic Disorder (PD)

1+, 3	Kava extract, in comparison with the placebo, appears to be an effective option in short-term symptomatic treatment (1 to 24 weeks) of anxiety, although the FDA and the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products have warned of its hepatic toxicity ^{199,200,205-207} .
1+	There are insufficient studies to draw conclusions regarding the effectiveness or safety of valerian in the treatment of GAD. ²⁰⁸
1+	Passion flower has been demonstrated to have a certain degree of effectiveness in the short-term treatment of GAD ^{209,210} .
1 +	Other herbs (ginkgo biloba, yellow globeflower) and the combination of whitethorn, California poppy, and magnesium appear to be effective in the short-term treatment of GAD ²¹¹⁻²¹³ .

Recommendations regarding treatment using medicinal herbs for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAR) and Panic Disorder (PD)

Due to hepatic toxicity, kava* is recommended only for short-term use and for patients with minor or moderate anxiety who prefer to use natural remedies, provided that they do not have any prior hepatic alterations, do not consume alcohol, or B. D use other medications metabolized by the liver, with medical supervision required. There are not sufficient studies on the effectiveness of valerian, passion flower, ginkgo biloba, yellow globeflower, and the B

preparation of whitethorn, California poppy, and magnesium to encourage their use.

Professionals are advised to ask patients regarding any other herbal medicinal products that they are taking or have taken.

In 2004, the Spanish Agency for Medications and Healthcare Products (AEMPS)¹⁴² included kava in the list of plants prohibited or restricted for sale to the public due to its hepatic toxicity.

7. Information/communication with the patient^{80.82}

This chapter will answer the following questions:

- What is the basic information that should be given to patients with anxiety disorders?
- What is the basic information that should be given to the families of patients with anxiety disorders?
- What is the best way to inform patients of their disorders?

CPG (Expert opinions) 4

it is subject to Apdating. Patient information forms part of the integrated treatment of generalized anxiety disorders, panic disorder, and/or panic attack, at the Primary Care Level.

Providing the patient, and when appropriate, the family, information based on the evidence, nature, and origin of their symptoms, the treatment options, and the possibilities of treating their anxiety disorder, facilitates shared decision making. This involvement of patients in the decision-making process, as well as an interactions style based on empathy and understanding, increases satisfaction with the visit - increasing trust - and improves the clinical results. Shared decision-making begins with the diagnostic process, and is maintained in all of the phases of treatment. Common language, and if appropriate, written material that is also understandable for the patient should be used to facilitate this^{80.82}.

In regard to the possible treatment options, the patient preferences and experi-ربر those related to me بربر those related to me بربر در بین ده و patients in the doctor's office requires the eval بربر tamily support, taking into account the available social re-بربر tamily support, taking into account the patient does the patient the information aimed at the patient/family is included in Appendix 4. ences with other treatments must be taken into account, guided by the most common concerns in patients with anxiety disorders, especially those related to medication,

Proper handling of these patients in the doctor's office requires the evaluation of the possibility of family support, taking into account the available social resources, and suggesting the lifestyle changes that would be best suited for the patients.

Evidence on information/communication with patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Panic Disorder (PD) and/or Panic Attack

4	Patient information forms part of the integrated treatment of generalized anxiety disorders, panic disorder, and/or panic attack, at the Primary Care Level ^{80.82} .	
4	Providing the patient, and when appropriate, the family, information based on the evidence, nature, and origin of their symptoms, the treatment options, and the possibilities of treating their anxiety disorder, facilitates shared decision making ^{80.82} .	
4	This involvement of patients in the decision-making process, as well as an interactions style based on empathy and understanding, increases satisfaction with the visit – increasing trust – and improves the clinical results ^{80.82} .	dating
4	Shared decision-making begins with the diagnostic process, and is maintained in all of the phases of treatment ^{80.82} .	<u>}</u> ,

Recommendations regarding information/communication with patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Panic Disorder (PD) and/or Panic Attack

Information for the patient should form part of the integrated treatment of anxiety disorders at the Primary Ca					
D	The patient, and when appropriate, the family, should be given information based on the evidence regarding their symptoms, treatment options, and the possibilities of treating their disorders, taking patient preferences into account to facilitate joint decision-making.				
A contact style based on empathy and understanding is recommended to improve patient satisfaction.					
D	The possibility of family support should be assessed, taking into account the available social resources, and suggesting the most appropriate changes in lifestyle.				
Ht has been 5	A contact style based on empathy and understanding is recommended to improve patient satisfaction. The possibility of family support should be assessed, taking into account the available social resources, and suggesting the most appropriate changes in lifestyle.				

8. Diagnostic and therapeutic strategies

This chapter will answer the following questions:

- What are the steps to be followed in response to an anxiety disorder (GAD, PD, and panic attack)? •
- What are the criteria for referral from Primary Care to Mental Health? •

biect to updating. The answers to these questions are included in the following treatment algorithms presented in the following pages:

• Treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder

• Treatment of Panic Disorder

• Treatment of Panic Attack

e the curricalion of this curricalion the publication of this curricalion of the publication of the publicat

8.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)



1. Brief psychological interventions

Done by trained professionals:

- · Relaxation and breathing
- Self-control
- Training in social skills
- Training to handle anxiety

2. Referral criteria

- Difficult or uncertain diagnosis (non-specific physical symptoms, somatizations, etc.)
- Psychiatric or organic comorbidity (major depression, alcohol dependence and/or substance abuse)
- Suicidal tendencies (urgent referral)
- ect to . In case of persistent elevated anxiety for more than 12 weeks of pharmacological treatment and/or psychotherapy support
- Highly incapacitating symptoms (social and/or work adaptation)

3. Treatment selection

- Evaluate the severity of the symptoms and criteria for referral to Specialized Mental Health Care²
- Inform the patient regarding therapeutic objectives and options depending on the available resources
- Evaluate the patient's preferences and beliefs/expectations regarding the treatment 0

Hthas beensy

...eractions with other medications ...eractions with other medications ...sible pregnancy • Patient's preference Inform the patient regarding the following: • Possible side effects* • Possible withdrawal symptoms after internet • Non-immediacy of the effect • Duration Need for compliance ake we Make written information available to the patient (Appendix 4).

*To reduce side effects; begin with a lower dosage and increase until the satisfactory therapeutic dosage is reached.

8.2. Panic Disorder (PD)



1. Diagnostic criteria for panic attack (DSM-IV-TR-AP)

Temporary or isolated appearance of intense discomfort or fear, accompanies by four (or more) of the following symptoms, which appear suddenly and achieve their maximum intensity within the first 10 minutes:

- 1. Chest discomfort or tightness
- 2. Feeling of suffocation or lack of breath
- 3. Palpitations, heart pounding, or elevation of heart rate
- 4. Sweating
- 5. Shivering or suffocation
- 6. Feeling of choking
- 7. Nausea or abdominal discomfort
- 8. Shaking or trembling
- 9. Paresthesia (feeling of numbress or tingling)
- 10. Instability, dizziness, or fainting
- Guideline and it is subject to violating 11. Derealization (feeling of unreality) or depersonalization (being separated from one's self)
- 12. Fear of losing control or going crazy
- 13. Fear of dying

2. Brief psychological interventions

Done by trained professionals:

- · Relaxation and breathing
- Self-control
- Training in social skills
- Training in the handling of anxiety symptoms

3. Referral criteria

- Difficult or questionable diagnosis
- Organic or psychiatric comorbidity (major depression, alcohol dependency and/or substance abuse)
- Suicidal tendencies (urgent referral)
- If intense anxiety persists for more than 12 weeks of pharmacological treatment and/or support psychotherapy
- Highly incapacitating symptoms (social and/or work adaptation)

4. Selecting treatment

- Evaluate the seriousness of the symptoms and criteria for referral to Specialized Mental Health Care³
- Inform the patient regarding the options and therapeutic objectives depending on the available resources
- Evaluate the patient's preferences and beliefs/expectations regarding the treatment

5. Pharmacological reatment

- Consider the following before prescribing:
- Age
- Previous treatment
- · Risk of autowtic attempts or occasional overdose
- Tolerance
- · Possible interactions with other medications
- Possible pregnancy
- Patient's preference

Inform the patient regarding the following:

- Possible side effects*
- · Possible withdrawal symptoms after interruption of treatment
- Non-immediacy of the effect
- Duration
- Need for compliance
- Make written information available to the patient (Appendix 4).

*To reduce side effects, begin with a lower dosage and increase until the satisfactory therapeutic dosage is reached.

8.3. Panic Attack



9. Dissemination and implementation

This chapter will answer the following questions:

9.1. Dissemination and implementation strategies subject to the strategies in the strategies is to convince the profession of an implementation strategy aimed at he which they will be applied.

The plan to implement the guideline on the treatment of patients with anxiety disorders in Primary Care includes the following actions:

- Presentation of the guideline by healthcare authorities to the communication media.
- Presentation of the guideline to the directorates and sub-directorates of Primary Care and Specialized Care of the different Regional Healthcare Services.
- Institutional presentation of the guideline in collaboration with the Quality Agency of the Ministry of Healthcare and Consumption to the different scientific and professional associations involved.
- All of the presentations will highlight the materials prepared for patients in order to encourage distribution among all of the healthcare professionals, and in turn among the patients with this health problem.
- Effective distribution aimed at the professional groups involved (Primary Care doctors, nurses, and social workers, Specialized Mental Health psychiatrists, psychologists, and nurses) to facilitate Dissemination.
- Interactive presentation of the guideline in healthcare centers by local opinion leaders.
- Distribution of the guideline in electronic format through the websites of the Ministry of Healthcare and Consumers Affairs, GUIASALUD, the UETS, and the organizations involved in the project.
- Publication of the guideline in medical journals.
- Establishment of criteria for good care of anxiety patients in the program and clinical management contracts, as specified in the guideline.

• Evaluation of the effectiveness of the implementation, establishing systems to support clinical decisions, integrating the guideline and the selected indicators into the computer program used in Primary Care.

9.2. Proposed indicators

The authors of this CPG have designed a series of indicators that should be able to be measured through the Primary Care information system, for the purpose of evaluating both healther tion for patients with anxiety or will tion for patients with anxiety as well as the possible impact of the implementation of the guideline. It was not the intention of the authors to design an exhaustive and detailed evaluation that involves the use of all of the proposed indicators. The objective was to provide a tool for interested clinics and managers, which could be useful in the specific design of the evaluation of the care received by patients with anxiety disorders in Primary Care.

Two types of indicators are proposed:

- Tracking indicators: This set of indicators is intended to track the distribution of patients based on the use of the evaluation tools and treatments proposed in the guideline.
- Compliance indicators: These are based on the recommendations proposed in this guideline, and therefore on the available scientific evidence and the consensus of healthcare professionals. Although the proposed compliance standards should be 100%, the reality of the context of PC was taken into account when establishing these standards.

Ev	valuation criteria	Tracking indicators O
1.	Anxiety diagnosis	Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder, and/or Panic Attacks, out of the overall number of patients attended in Primary Care
2.	Treatment options	Of the patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, the number who receive psychological, pharmacological, combined (psychological and pharmacological), or other treatments
3.	Use of scales	Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic attack and/or Panic Attack who are being evaluated with the scales proposed in this guideline
	Referral to Specialized Mental Health Care	Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder, and/or Panic Attacks, referred to Specialized Care out of the overall number of patients with these disorders attended in Primary Care
125 10881	5 years since	

1. Anxiety diagnosis 1. Percentage of patients diagnosed with Generalized Anxiety Disorder following the clinical criteria established in this guideline 90% 2. Percentage of patients diagnosed with Panic Disorder with without Agoraphobia following the clinical criteria established in this guideline 90% 2. Information for the patient 1. Percentage of patients diagnosed with Panic Disorder with without Agoraphobia following the clinical criteria established in this guideline 100% 3. Interatment options 1. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive psychological treatment according to the proposed criteria 100% 3. Treatment options 1. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive pharmacological treatment according to the proposed criteria 80% 4. Referral to Specialized Mental Heaventage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive pharmacological treatment according to the proposed criteria 80% 4. Referral to Specialized Mental Heaventage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Papic Reference and Panic Attack referred to Specialized Care based ont/of Criteria and/or Panic Attack, referred to Specialized Care based ont/of Criteria and Panic Attack referred to Specialized Care based ont/of Criteria and Panic Attack referred to Specialized Care based ont/of Criteria 80% 4. Referral to Specialized Mental Health Care 1. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Panic Disorder and/or P		Compliance indicators	Standard
 3. Treatment options 1. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive psychological treatment according to the proposed criteria 2. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive pharmacological treatment according to the proposed criteria 3. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive other treatments (self-help, medicinal herbs) according to the proposed criteria 4. Referral to Specialized Mental Health Care 1. Percentage of patients with Generalized Care based on the criteria proposed in this guideline 	1. Anxiety diagnosis	following the clinical criteria established in this guideline2. Percentage of patients diagnosed with Panic Disorder with/without Agoraphobia following the clinical criteria established in this guideline3. Percentage of patients diagnosed with Panic Attack following the clinical	
3. Treatment options 1. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive psychological treatment according to the proposed criteria 2. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive pharmacological treatment according to the proposed criteria 3. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive other treatments (self-help, medicinat herbs) according to the proposed criteria 60% 4. Referral to Specialized Mental Health Care 1. Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and Panic Attack referred to Specialized Care based on the criteria 80%	2. Information for the patient	disorders is offered: treatment options, evolution, and handling of anxiety,	100%
Health Care and Panic Attack referred to Specialized Care based on the criteria 80% proposed in this guideline 80%	3. Treatment options	 and/or Panic Attack, who receive psychological treatment according to the proposed criteria Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive pharmacological treatment according to the proposed criteria Percentage of patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder and/or Panic Attack, who receive other treatments (self-help, medicinal) 	10 to
The publication of this clinical practice	Health Care	and Panic Attack referred to Specialized Care based on the criteria	80%
N N		ublication of this clim	

10. Recommendations for future research

10.1. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)

10.1.1. Psychological therapies

ipdating. Additional studies should be done to determine whether psychodynamic therapies and other techniques such as brief family therapy and counseling are effective for treating patients with GAD, and comparative studies should also be done on these therapies with CBT to determine which is the most useful for treating this disorder.

Within the context of Primary Care in Spain, future studies should advance in the knowledge of the effect of these psychological therapies, measuring the long-term effects including control groups, blind procedures, all assessing the effect on the consumption of psycho-active drugs. Clideline

10.1.2. Pharmacological treatment

Since GAD is generally a chronic disorder, longer RCTS need to be done to draw conclusion regarding the long-term effectiveness of the drugs, and questionnaires need to be used that include indicators to measure the quality of life of the patients with the medication used.

More studies are needed to compare the effectiveness of new anti-depressants, such as duloxetine, with that of other anti-depressants for which there is already sufficient evidence available.

10.1.3. Combined treatment

More studies are needed to directly compare the combined treatment of CBT and pharmacotherapy with both therapies separately, taking into account the long-term results and the organizational mechanism reflected by clinical practice.

These studies should also examine patient preferences for each one of the possible thera-It has been 5 yed pies.

10.2. Panic Disorder with or without agoraphobia (PD)

10.2.1. Psychological therapies

Longer studies need to be done on psychological interventions based on CBT for patients with PD, to evaluate the long-term effects of treatment and the consequences of interruption of the treatment. Also, as result variables, frequency of panic attacks, along with other variables such as anticipatory anxiety should also be included, in addition to criteria for all of the aspects of the illness (cognitive, behavioral, and "arousal" or activation state).

The effectiveness of psychodynamic psychotherapy on patients with PD should be better evaluated, homogenizing the study design and always using randomized controlled studies whenever possible. The effectiveness of other therapies such as brief family therapy and courseling for patients with PD should also be evaluated.

The effect of the psychological interventions currently available in Primary Care should be ine Guideline studied with methodologically appropriate controlled and randomized trials, also evaluating the effect on the consumption psycho-active drugs in patients with PD.

10.2.2. Pharmacological treatment

As already mentioned in the case of GAD, studies need to be done on anti-depressants in patients with PD, studying the long-term effect of these drugs. The effectiveness of the anti-depressants also needs to be compared not only with a placebo, but also among the different drugs.

10.2.3. Combined treatment

The existence of possible long-term negative effects of the combination of CBT and pharmacotherapy should be evaluated Proper blind RCTS should be done with a number of completely recovered PD patients, without additional treatment during the follow-up, to confirm that the combined treatment does not complicated or interfere with psychotherapy in the long term.

Strategies need to be developed and evaluated to treat patients with refractory PD or patients who respond only partially to therapies.

More studies are needed to research the effects of the combination of anti-depressants with non-cognitive-behavioral therapies, such as psychodynamic therapies.

It has been 5

10.3. Panic attack

The effectiveness of both pharmacological (BDZ, other drugs) and non-pharmacological interventions in patients with panic attacks needs to be evaluated using variables such as time to recovery from the crisis and prevention of panic attacks. Joject to updating.

10.4. Other treatments

10.4.1. Self-help treatment-bibliotherapy

Longer-duration studies are needed, based on larger samples that are able to control the large number of variables that may be skewing the results, to precisely evaluate the chinical effectiveness, maintenance of the benefits achieved long-term, and the optimal selection of material for each type of patient.

In the context of Primary Care, the viability of the directed use of self-help should be examined, evaluating the benefits of its use, determining the optimum length of the intervention in each uir Inical Practice case, as well as how much professional participation is required to produce a positive change in patients with anxiety disorders.

10.4.2. Herbal medicines

Additional studies are required, if possible, well-designed trials with a sufficient number of pa-.ae .ore rot .on. ion the publication tients, to compare the effect of medicinal herbs with other treatments used in anxiety disorders, to make it possible to draw more robust conclusions regarding the effectiveness and safety of this

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE FOR TREATMENT OF PATIENTS WITH ANXIETY DISORDERS IN PRIMARY CARE

11. Appendices

Appendix 1. Levels of evidence and grades of recommendation (SIGN)²¹⁴

Levels of evidence

(510		Ò.
Level	s of evidence	dating.
1++	High quality meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a very low risk of bias	<u>2</u>
1 +	Well-conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a low risk of bias	
1-	Meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a high risk of bias	
2++	High quality systematic reviews of case control or cohort or studies High quality case control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding or bias and a high probability that the relationship is causal	
2+	Well-conducted case control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding or bias and a mode are probability that the relationship is causal	
2-	Case control or cohort studies with a high risk of confounding or bias and a significant risk that the relationship is not causal	
3	Non-analytic studies, e.g. case reports, case series	
4	Expert opinion	

Grades of recommendations

4	Expert opinion
Grad	es of recommendations
A	At least one meta-analysis, systematic review, or RCT rated as 1++, and directly applicable to the target population; or A body of evidence consisting principally of studies rated as 1+, directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results
в	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2++, directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results; or Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 1++ or 1+
с	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2+, directly applicable to the target population and demonstrating overall consistency of results; or Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2++
D	Evidence level 3 or 4 or Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2+

Studies classified as 1- and 2- should not be used in the process of preparing recommendations due to the high possibility of bias.

Recommended best practice based on the clinical experience of the guideline development group

🕼 n some cases, the guide-preparation team observes that there are important practical aspects that they would like to emphasize and for which there is probably no supporting scientific evidence. In general, these cases are related to some aspect of the treatment that is considered to be good clinical practice and that is not normally questioned. These aspects are classified as points of good clinical practice. These messages are not alternatives to the recommendations based on scientific evidence, but rather should be considered only when there is no other way to highlight the aspect in question.
Appendix 2. Anxiety measurement instruments

HAD⁵⁷: Hospital, anxiety, and depression (self-administered)

Doctor	rs understand the importance of emotional factors in the majority of illnesses. If the doctor knows the emotional state of the	
patient This q pay att	t, it will be possible to provide better assistance. uestionnaire was prepared to help your doctor to determine how you are feeling affectively and emotionally. You don't have to tention to the numbers on the left. Read each question and underline the response that you feel describes your own emotional ver the last week.	dating
	hink about each response for too long: in this questionnaire, spontaneous responses are better than the ones that you think $\pm \psi$	2
A.1.	I feel tense or 'wound up' :	
	3. Most of the time	
	2. A lot of the time	
	1. From time to time, occasionally	
	0. Not at all	
D.1.	I still enjoy the things I used to enjoy: 0. Definitely as much 1. Not quite so much 2. Only a little 3. Hardly at all	
	0. Definitely as much	
	1. Not quite so much	
	2. Only a little	
	3. Hardly at all	
A.2.	l get a sort of frightened feeling as if something awful is about to happen:	
A.L.	3. Very definitely and quite badly	
	2. Yes, but not too badly	
	1. A little, but it doesn't worry me	
	0. Not at all	
D.2.	Lean lough and eas the funny side of things:	
D.2.	I can laugh and see the funny side of things: 0. As much as I always could	
	1. Not quite so much now	
	2. Definitely not so much now	
	3. Not at all	
A.3.	Worrying thoughts go through my mind	
	3. A great deal of the time	
	2. A tot of the time	
	0. Only occasionally	
5		
D.3.	l feel cheerful:	
	3. Not at all	
	2. Not often	
1	1 Competiment	
	1. Sometimes 0. Most of the time	

A.4.	I can sit at ease and feel relaxed: 0. Definitely 1. Usually
	2. Not often 3. Not at all
D.4.	I feel as if I am slowed down: 3. Nearly all the time 2. Very often 1. Sometimes 0. Not at all
A.5.	 2. Not often 3. Not at all I feel as if I am slowed down: 3. Nearly all the time 2. Very often 1. Sometimes 0. Not at all I get a sort of frightened feeling like 'butterflies' in the stomach: 0. Not at all 1. Occasionally 2. Quite often 3. Very often I have lost interest in my appearance: 3. Definitely 2. I don't take so much care as I should 1. I may not take quite as much care 0. I take just as much care as ever I feel restless, as if I have to be on the move:
D.5.	I have lost interest in my appearance: 3. Definitely 2 I don't take so much care as I should 1. I may not take quite as much care 0. I take just as much care as ever
A.6.	I feel restless, as if I have to be on the move: 3. Very much indeed 2. Quite a lot 1. Not very much 0. Not at all
D.6.	I look forward with enjoyment to things: 0. As much as ever I did 1. Rather less than I used to 2. Definitely less than I used to 3. Hardly at all
A.7.	I get sudden feelings of panic: 3. Very often indeed 2. Quite often 1 Not very often 6. Not at all
Q .7.	I can enjoy a good book or radio or TV programme: 0. Often 1. Sometimes 2. Not often 3. Very seldom

HAD⁵⁷: Hospital, anxiety, and depression (self-administered)

Score: a score between 0 and 7 does not indicate a case, between 8 and 10 a questionable case, and scores of more than 11 are probably cases in each one of the sub-scales.

GADS⁵⁶: Goldberg anxiety and depression scale (clinician administered) (Version adapted to Spanish by A. Lobo and cols.)

This is a scale that is very simple to use and highly effective in detecting depression and/or anxiety disorders. It is also an instrument for evaluating the severity and evolution of these disorders. It can also be used as a guideline for the interview. Instructions for administering: • Aimed at the general population. • This is a clinician-administered questionnaire with two sub-scales: • The probability of suffering a disorder is greater the higher the number of positive responses. • The symptoms included in the scales refer to the 15 days prior to the visit. • All of the items have the same point values... They follow an order of increasing severity. • The last items in each scale appear in patients with the most severe disorders. Anxiety sub-scale: • Have you felt keyed up, on edge? • Have you been worrying a lot? Have you been irritable? • Have you had difficulty relaxing? (If there are 3 or more affirmative responses, continue with questions) • Have you been sleeping poorly? Have you had any of the following: trembling, tingling, dizzy spots, sweating, frequency, diarrhoea? • Have you had headaches or neck aches? • Have you been worried about your health? of this · Have you had difficulty falling asleep? Total anxiety: ion Depression subscale: • Have you had low energy? · Have you had loss of interests? • Have you lost confidence in yourself? • Have you felt hopeless? (If the response to any of the previous questions is affirmative, continue) • Have you had difficulty concentrating? • Have you lost weight (due to poor appetite)? Have you been waking early? • Have you felt slowed up? • Have you tended to feel worse in the mornings? Sotal depression: **Evaluation criteria:** Anxiety sub-scale: 4 or more affirmative responses. Depression subscale: 2 or more affirmative responses.

Appendix 3. Interview questions to screen for anxiety symptoms and specific anxiety disorders

	Responses
Part 1: Identify anxiety	[IF YES] Could you tell me about
"How have things been going for you recently?"	that?
"Any problems with excessive stress, worry, or anxiety?"	When did the extra difficulty seem to start?
	Were there any major changes or
	stresses in your life at that time?
Part 2: Explore positive responses above with the following types of	X
questions. Modify questions to patient's responses	biec
"What kinds of things do you worry about? Do you worry excessively about	[IF YES] Could you telline about
everyday things like your family, your health, work, or finances? Do friends or loved	that? See section on GAD
ones tell you that you worry too much? Do you have difficulty controlling your worry, such that the worry keeps you from sleeping or makes you feel physically ill	See Section on GAD
with headaches, stomach troubles, or fatigue?"	a de la construcción de la const
"Do you have times when you experience a sudden rush of symptoms or	[IFVES] Could you tell me about
uncomfortable physical feelings such as racing heart or dizziness? Do you have	that?
feelings of fear or panic at	See section on GAD
these times? Have these spells ever occurred out of the blue, without any obvious trigger or cause?"	
"Do you avoid any situations because you might experience these spells of	[IF YES] Could you tell me about
symptoms or feelings of fear or anxiety?" (for example, crowds, enclosed places,	that?
driving, leaving the house alone, or other situations)	See section on GAD
causes interference or a high level of distress Does this problem with [THE SYMPTOMS DESCRIBED BY THE PATIENT] bother you a lot? Does it interfere with your work, activities, or relationships?	
Adapted from the proposal in the Canadian Guideline ⁶¹ .	

Appendix 4. Information for the patient

Learning to recognize and handle anxiety

Generalized anxiety and panic

It has be



spdating.

10)

Contents

- What is anxiety?
- What are the factors that influence anxiety?
- How is it diagnosed?
- What types of anxiety disorders are there?
- What are the treatment options?
- What is the evolution of anxiety and panic?
- What should I keep in mind when I visit my healthcare centre?
- How can I handle my anxiety so that it evolves favorably?
- How can my family and friends help me?
- Where can I learn more about anxiety?

It has be

Polating.

What is anxiety?

It has be

Anxiety is a normal part of life and is a common response to people's day-to-day situations. A reaction is generated in response to a signal or threat of danger to confront and respond to it. So a certain degree of anxiety is even desirable for the normal handling of day-to-day demands (preparing for an exam, go to a job interview, having to speak in public, etc.).

Anxiety is an emotion that is accompanied by bodily reactions such as muscular tension, sweating, trembling, shortness of breath, headache, chest or back pain, palpitations, "knots in your stomach", diarrhea, and many others.

When anxiety becomes intolerably intense, or when it limits a person's capacity to adapt, anxiety can affect daily life, and can become a problem.

If you are one of the many people who have anxiety problems, don't lose heart – with proper attention, it can be overcome. If you cannot make the anxiety disappear completely from your life, you can learn to control it.

"I feel bad, I don't know what's wrong with me, I feel dizzy, have a headache, butterflies in my stomach, palpitations... I also have so many things to do that I don't know where to start. I freeze up, can't think clearly...I'm paralyzed." Josting.

What are the factors that influence anxiety?

The causes of anxiety disorders are not completely understood, but it appears that they can be caused by a combination of several factors.

Genetic factors are involved (hereditary and family), neurobiological factors (brain areas and organic substances), psychological, social, and cultural factors. In the process of the appearance of anxiety, both individual predisposition factors (personality) as well as environmental factors are important.

How is it diagnosed?

Your family physician will use different tools to be able to establish the diagnosis of your illness.

- **Clinical History:** the doctor will ask you about different aspects of your family history and other illnesses that you may have.
- **Physical examination:** help your doctor to know whether your symptoms are caused by something other than an anxiety disorder.
- Questionnaires: your healthcare centre may use a specific questionnaire to help in the diagnosis or to see the changes that are experienced over time.

To rule out any other illness, your doctor may feel that certain tests are needed.

It has be

Jolating.

What types of anxiety disorders are there?

There are different types of anxiety disorders, but generalized anxiety and panic are the two most common ones in Primary Care.

These two disorders are characterized by the following symptoms:

Generalized anxiety disorder

People who suffer from this disorder present excessive anxiety and worry in regard to day-to-day activities or of so. events, which, when it persists over time and is constant, may be very bothersome due to the presence of some or all of the following physical symptoms:

- Restlessness or impatience
- Fatigue
- Difficulty concentrating or drawing a blank
- Irritability

It has be

- Muscle tension
- Sleep alterations
- Trembling, sweating, hot flashes

"I don't recognize myself. I'm not myself. I'm exhausted even though I don't don anything. I can't sleep and I'm nervous and very irritable. Everything scares me. I distrust others and think that they think badly of me. I distance myself from my family, from my friends...I'm isolating myself more and more."

2C,®

odating.

Panic disorder

Panic disorder is characterized by the appearance of panic attacks* that cause:

- Persistent apprehension due to the possibility of having more attacks.
- Concern for the implications of the attack or its consequences (e.g. losing control, suffering a heart attack, "going crazy").
- Changes in behavior related to the crisis, such as what are known as "agoraphobia and avoidance behavior". Specific situations and places are feared and avoided, such as: traveling on a train, subway, or bus, going to shopping centres, places with lots of people, or where you cannot get out easily.

*Panic attack

This is the main symptom of panic disorder. It is characterized by the sudden appearance of uncontrollable fear or intense discomfort that begins suddenly and reaches its maximum intensity within the first 10 minutes, and may last up to 1 or 2 hours, with physical symptoms such as:

- Tightness, feeling of suffocation
- Palpitations, heart pounding
- Sweating, shivering, or asphyxiation
- Nausea, feeling of choking
- Dizziness or fainting



pdating.

"I can't take it any more, I'm suffocating...my heart is going to jump out of my chest, I'm losing my mind, I'm going to go crazy. Don't touch me, don't talk to me... I'm going to explode."

It has be

What are the treatment options?

There are several objectives of the treatment of your anxiety problem:

- Relieve the symptoms and prevent relapses.
- If you have panic attacks, to reduce their frequency, duration, and intensity, and reduce avoidance behavior.

The usual treatments are psychotherapy and medication, which may or may not be used together, depending on the type of anxiety disorder that you have.

Psychotherapy

Individual or group psychological interventions, with different degrees of complexity, aimed at treating and modifying the emotional, thought, and behavioral factors that maintain the anxiety and/or its consequences.

Medication

It has be

Anti-depressants and anxiolytics are the most commonly-used medications for the treatment of anxiety.

Your family physician is the proper person to tell you which drug is most convenient, how long it is needed, and the possible side effects that it could cause.

Jdating.

Other treatments

- **Self-help treatments:** Reading and applying specific self-help programs for anxiety problems (text with a programmed sequence of exercises to learn to handle and control anxiety).
- **Medicinal herbs:** Some herbs such as valerian, passion flower, ginkgo biloba, and kava extract* appear to reduce anxiety symptoms, but more research on their safety and effectiveness is needed.

Inform your doctor in regard to any substance, medicine, herbal product, or alternative medicine that you are taking.

Evaluate the possibilities available in your healthcare centre with the professional staff and discoss the treatment to be followed with them. Your opinion is very important when deciding. In some cases, your doctor may feel that you need to be referred to a specialist.

The Spanish medicine and healthcare products regulatory agency included in 2004, the medicinal plant Kava in the list of plants whose sale to public was forbidden or restricted due to hepatic toxicity.

It has be

Jdating.

How do anxiety and panic evolve?

Anxiety problems go through periods in which symptoms are reduced or disappear for a variable period of time.

As with other chronic illnesses (diabetes, hypertension, etc.), with proper treatment, it is possible to live with this problem and restore your life to normality. So don't suffer unnecessarily and visit your healthcare centre as soon as possible, because the evolution your problem will improve the sooner it is detected.

Effective treatment will help you to reduce the symptoms, improve your selfesteem, and allow you to enjoy life once again.

There are often ups and downs during the process, but the obstacles and steps backwards are a normal part of the learning process. Don't get discouraged.

"I'm coming out of it...little by little, with effort and help, I'm doing it. It's a hard and painful path, but it's worth it. Now I know that I can beat it."

It has be

Jolating.

What should I keep in mind when I visit my healthcare centre?

It is important that the stigma that surrounds this type of disorder not prevent you from seeking professional help. Visit your healthcare centre. The following are some useful tips for your next visit to your family physician.

- You can trust the professionals at your healthcare centre. They are people close to you, and they will understand your doubts, fears, and problems.
- Prepare what you want to say to the doctor beforehand. Tell your doctor your physical and emotional symptoms. It may be helpful if a family member or friend accompanies you.
- Don't be afraid to ask any questions that are still unclear to you.
- It is essential that you express your preferences in regard to the different treatment options.

Keep in mind that you are the most important part of this process.

"And who can I tell about what's happening to m?? I'm embarrassed and afraid. I don't even understand myself. How can someone else understand me?... I feel so alone. I need help but don't know where to turn."

It has be

Josting.

How can I deal with my anxiety so that it will improve?

Advice for handling your anxiety

, has be

- If you are doing psychotherapy, at home, it is important to practice the exercises learned in therapy, such as relaxation and breathing, because they will be of great use to you.
- Medication sometimes has disagreeable side effects, which normally disappear or diminish after the first few weeks, but you have to remember that the most important thing is to continue with the treatment and not interrupt it.
- Plan your daily tasks rationally, prioritize your needs, and if for some reason you can't do everything, remember that another day will come after today.
- Try to leave space everyday to include activities that will be enjoyable and fun among your tasks: read, listen to music, exercise, take a walk, anything that is relaxing for you.
- Don't stop doing the activities that give you the feeling of "recharging your batteries". Energy needs to be restored.
- Don't "accelerate". Remember that doing things faster doesn't make you more efficient.
- Learn to handle your feelings. Positive thoughts also have a positive effect on your mood.
- It's important to recognize oppressive thoughts, in those situations that worry you (the "all", "nothing", "always", "never", "nobody") and replace them with other more rational ones ("something", "some", "sometimes").
- Take advantage of your mistakes and learn from them. To err is human and you don't have to do your tasks to perfection.
- Eat a balanced diet and try to eliminate or reduce the intake of substances that are bad for anxiety, such as: caffeine and other beverage stimulants.
- · Remember that alcohol, cocaine, cannabis, and synthetic drugs can produce anxiety.
- If your sleep habits are not satisfactory, try to modify them. Try to get as much sleep as you need to rest.

Lastly, remember that you can learn to control anxiety and reduce it progressively.

"I've learned how to relax, avoid stimulants, I exercise, and that helps me sleep. I plan the activities that are more difficult for me to do...I've regained hobbies that I had completely forgotten."

boating

Recommendations for overcoming your panic attack

- It's important to remember that you are not facing a danger that is as serious as you may believe. Nothing worse will happen.
- Don't allow panic to increase with other scary thoughts. Interrupt what you are thinking and you'll notice that the fear will begin to disappear on its own.
- Try to calm down and relax little by little.
- Relax and slow your breathing. Imagine that you are a balloon that slowly inflates and then deflates.
- Wait and give the fear time to pass.
- Think of the progress that you've made thus far, despite all of the difficulties. Think of how satisfied you will feel when you succeed.
- When you start to feel better and are ready to continue, start out relaxed and calm. There is no need for effort by rushing.
- Try to distract yourself, now that the nervousness has diminished. Talk with someone, take a walk, etc.

.e . feel fr Guideline Cuideline Cuideline Cuideline The more you learn how to handle fear, the less afraid you'll be and you'll feel free \mathbb{R}^2

H has be

bdating.

How can my family and friends help me?

Your family and friends play a very important role in this whole process. For this reason, there are some recommendations specifically for them. It is important:

- Not to trivialize what is happening and make the person feel understood.
- To listen without being critical; avoid the "come on, it's nothing."
- To accompany the person to the healthcare centre if necessary or helpful.
- To inform yourself regarding the type of treatment that the person is following. Knowing the different treatment options also helps to learn more about anxiety.
- To observe and pay attention to changes in the behavior of the person who has the problem.
- To encourage the person to do activities that may be enjoyable or fun.
- To support the person to face his or her fears, always by mutual agreement and without pressuring.
- To help the person obtain additional useful information about anxiety.

"I'm still in treatment...and thanks to that and the help of my family, I'm doing better."

It has be

Josting.

Where can I learn more about anxiety?

Associations of patients and families

- FEAFES: Spanish Confederation of Family Groups and Individuals with Mental Illness
 Telephone: 91 507 92 48 (Madrid)
 E-mail: feafes@feafes.com
 Website: www.feafes.com/
- FEMASAM: Madrid Federation of Mental Health Associations Telephone: 91 472 98 14 (Madrid) E-mail: info@femasam.org Website: www.femasam.org/
- ACTAD: Catalan Association for the Treatment of Depression and Anxiety Disorders (formerly AADA and Camins Oberts) Telephone: 93 430 12 90 (Barcelona) E-mail: info@actad.org
 Website: www.actad.org/
- Associació Gironina d'Agorafóbics Telephone: 669 00 78 87 (Girona) E-mail: quimvencells@yahoo.es Website: http://www.agorafobia.es.vg/
- Association of Anxiety Disorders Mutual Assistance Groups Telephone: 646 71 53 94 and 666 29 29 73 (Barcelona) E-mail: atagam@ansietat.org Website: http://www.ansietat.org/
- ADEA: Albacete Association of Agoraphobia Sufferers Telephone: 967 61 18 83 and 967 52 31 44 (Albacete) E-mail: adeaba_2000@terra.com
 Website: http://www.geocities.com/adealba_2000/index.html
- AMADAG: Madrid Panic and Agoraphobia Association Tetephone: 617 83 79 30 (Madrid)
 B-mail: amadag_asociacion@hotmail.com
 Website: http://www.amadag.com/
- A.C.E.D.: Association against stress and depression Telephone: 91 532 84 14 (Madrid) E-mail: aced@estresydepresion.org Website: http://www.estresydepresion.org/index.html

It has be

pdating.

 AGORAMUR: Association for anxiety, panic and/or agoraphobia sufferers of Murcia Telephone: 654 52 94 48 (Madrid)

E-mail: agoramur@hotmail.com

- ASATRA: Aragon Association of Anxiety Disorders (Zaragoza) Telephone: 687 47 76 69 (Madrid) E-mail: asociacion-asatra@hotmail.com
- CAPAZ: Aragon Panic and Agoraphobia Centre Zaragoza collective of panic and agoraphobia sufferers Telephone: 976 25 98 07 (Zaragoza)
- AGOS: Association of persons affected by anxiety disorders and agoraphobia of the province of Cadiz Telephone: 956 27 19 37 (Cádiz)
 E-mail: carmenblanca35@hotmail.com
- Leku irekiak A.A.D.A.: Association for Agoraphobia Assistance and Awareness of the Basque Country Telephone: 94 493 78 33
 E-mail: lekuirekiak@terra.es
 Website: www.terra.es/personal6/lekuirekiak/
- Horizontes Abiertos Telephone: 928 24 91 68 (Las Palmas de Gran Canaria)

Internet Resources

It has be

- www.centrodeapoyoapa.org (American Psychology Association)
- www.lasalud.com/pacientes/ansiedad.htm
- www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/spanish
- www.juntospodemos.com/

boating

Useful references

- Bados López, A. *Tratando pánico y agorafobia*. Madrid: ediciones Pirámide, S.A., 2006.
- Roca, E. *Cómo superar el pánico: con o sin agorafobia*. Self-help program. Valencia: ACDE, 2005.
- Auger, L. Ayudarse a sí mismo. Una psicoterapia mediante la razón. Santander: Ed. Sal Terrea, 1997.
- Fensterheim, H., Baer, J. Viva sin temores: cómo dominar sus miedos, fobias y ansiedades. Barcelona: Grijalbo, 1995.
- Agras, S. Pánico. *Cómo superar los miedos, las fobias y la ansiedad.* Barcelona: Labor, 1989.
- Fabregas, J.J., García, E. *Técnicas de autocontrol*. Madrid: Alambra, Biblioteca de Recursos Didácticos, 1988.
- Meichenbaum, D., Jaremko, M. *Prevención y reducción del estrés*. Bilbao: Desclée de Brouwer, 1987.
- Davis, M., McKay, M., Eshelman, E.R. *Técnicas de autocontrol emocional*. Barcelona: Martínez Roca, Biblioteca de Psicología, Psiquiatría y Salud, Serie Práctica, 1985.
- Cautela, J.R., Groden, J. *Técnicas de relajación*. Barcelona: Martínez Roca, Biblioteca de Psicología, Psiquiatría y Salud, Serie Práctica, 1985.

It has be

Jdating.

Appendix 5. Glossary and abbreviations

Glossary

AGREE (**Appraisal of Guidelines, Research and Evaluation for Europe):** International initiative to facilitate the design and evaluation of clinical practice guidelines.

DALY (Disability-adjusted life year): Measurement of the overall burden of illness that reflects the number of years that a person could have lived, lost due to premature decease, and the year of productive life lost due to disability.

Bibliotherapy: Guided use of reading for therapeutic purposes. This consists of the acquisition of therapeutic knowledge and practices through reading a specifically selected bibliography recommended by the therapist.

Cochrane Library: An effectiveness database produced by the Cochrane Collaboration, made up of, among other things, the original systematic reviews by the organization.

DSM-IV: Fourth edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical manual of the mental disorders* by the American Psychiatric Association. This is a classification of mental disorders into different types based on a series of criteria with defining traits. It is prepared for clinical, educational, and research use. Its purpose is to provide clear descriptions of the diagnostic categories, so that clinics and researchers can diagnose, study, and exchange information, and treat the different mental disorders.

RCT (Randomized Clinical Trial): This is a study designed so that subjects are randomly assigned to two groups: one (experimental group) receives the treatment that is being tested, and the other (comparison or control group) receives a standard treatment (or sometimes a placebo). The two groups are monitored to observe any differences in the results. The effectiveness of the treatment is evaluated this way.

Multi-axial axes in the DSM-IV: Evaluations on multiple axes, each of which concerns a different area of information that can help the clinician to plan treatment and predict results.

Embase: European (Dutch) database produced by Exerpta Médica with pharmacology and clinical medicine content.

Open trial: 1. Clinical trial in which the researcher knows the intervention that is given to each participant. **2.** Clinical trial with open sequential design.

In-depth interview: A qualitative research technique to obtain information using a conversation between an informant with a series of previously established characteristics and an interviewer.

Blind of **double-blind trial:** Clinical trials in which neither the participants (blind) nor the medical personnel (double blind) know which of the possible therapies each individual is receiving.

Case-control study: A study that identifies persons with an illness (cases), lung cancer for example, and compares them with a group without the illness (control). The relationship between one or more factors (tobacco, for example) related to the illness is examined, comparing the frequency of exposure to that or other factors between the cases and the controls.

Cohort study: This consists of following one or more cohorts of individuals who present different degrees of exposure to a risk factor in whom the appearance of the illness or condition being studied is measured.

Cross-sectional-Descriptive Study: This is a study that describes the frequency of an event or an exposure at a given time (single measurement). It makes it possible to examine the relationship between a risk factor (or exposure) and an effect (or result) in a defined population and at a given time (a cut). Also called prevalence studies.

Exposure: This is a type of behavioral therapy that involves the deliberate exposure to situations that were previously avoided or feared stimuli. This can be done by asking the person to imagine these situations, especially when direct exposure is impractical or difficult, a mode that is called *in vitro*, interceptive, or imaginary. On the other hand, exposure may also be *in vivo*, or exteroceptive through real stimuli or situations.

Discussion group: Qualitative research technique that is used to identify attitudes, positions, evaluations, or perceptions regarding something or someone that are held by a group of individuals.

Confidence interval: This is the interval within which the true magnitude of the effect (which is never exactly known) is found with a pre-established degree of security or confidence. They often talk about "95% confidence interval" (or 95% confidence limits). This means that within that interval, the true value would be found in 95% of the cases.

Qualitative research: This is a methodology that covers a variety of theoretical trends, methods and techniques, and is characterized by the study of phenomena in their natural context, attempting to make sense of or interpret them based on the meanings that people give them. This is done using empirical materials (interviews, observations, texts, etc.) that can best describe both routine and problematic situations and what they mean in the lives of the individuals.

Medline: Predominantly clinical database produced by the US National Library of Medicine, available on CD-Rom and on the internet (PubMed).

Meta-analysis: This is a statistical technique that makes it possible to integrate the results of different studies (studies of diagnostic tests, clinical trials, cohort studies, etc.) into a single estimator, giving more weight to the larger studies.

Morbidity: Illness or frequency in which an illness is present in a population.

Mortality: Death rate or number of deaths due to a particular illness in a group of people and a specified period of time.

NICE: Forms part of the NHS ("National Health Service" of England). Its role is to provide doctors, patients, and the general public with the best evidence available, mainly in the form of clinical guidelines.

Participant observation: This is a qualitative research technique that establishes a deliberate communication between the observer and the observed phenomenon. The researcher gathers the keys of what is observed, interprets what is occurring, and thus obtains a systematic and complete knowledge of the observed reality.

Piacebo: A substance administered to the control group of a clinical trial, ideally identical in appearance and taste to the experimental treatment, which is believed to have no specific effect for the illness being studied. In the context of non-pharmacological interventions, the placebo is usually referred to as simulated treatment.

Prevalence: The proportion of people with a finding or illness in a particular population, at a given time.

Breathing retraining: This is an intervention that encourages people who hyperventilate to reduce their respiratory frequency using the diaphragm.

Cognitive restructuring: This is an intervention that involves asking questions to help people to question stereotypical and repetitive thoughts and images that increase fear, replacing these irrational or distorted thoughts with other more rational ones.

Applied relaxation: Training in relaxation techniques and self-control of the symptoms, without questioning beliefs. It is based on the principle that when the person learns deep muscle relaxation, it reduces body tension and the anxiety that is felt.

Systematic review (SR): This is a review in which the evidence on a question has been systematically identified, evaluated, and summarized according to a series of predetermined criteria. It may or may not include meta-analysis.

Case series: Analysis of series of patients with the illness.

SIGN: A multi-disciplinary agency in Scotland that prepares clinical practice guidelines based on the evidence, as well as methodological documents on how the guidelines should be designed.

Abandonment rate: The number of people who abandoned during the trial and the later specific exclusions from the random assignment.

Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT): This is a form of structured psycho-therapeutic intervention that uses different techniques to try to change dysfunctional beliefs and negative automatic thoughts.

Tolerance: The state present when the body becomes accustomed to a medication, so that a larger of this clinical amount of the medication is needed.

Abbreviations

AD: Anti-depressants

TAD: Tricyclic Anti-depressants

SC: Specialized Care

AEN: Spanish Neuropsychiatry Association

AGREE: Appraisal of Guidelines Research and Evaluation

AMADAG: Madrid Panic and Agoraphobia Association

PC: Primacy Care

DALY. Disability-Adjusted Life Years

BDZ: Benzodiazepines

CAS: Clinical Anxiety Scale

CGI: Clinical Global Impressions Scale

CINAHL: Cumulative Index to Nursing & Allied Health Literature

CINDOC: Scientific Documentation and Information Centre of the Senior Scientific Research Board

DARE: Database Abstracts of Reviews Effects

EMDR: Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing

GADS: Goldberg Anxiety and Depression Scale

RCT: Randomized Clinical Trial

ALS: Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

EMDR: Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing

FDA: Food and Drug Administration

olc FEAFES: Spanish Confederation of Family Groups and Individuals with Mental Illness

FEMASAM: Madrid Federation of Mental Health Associations

FPS: Focused Psychological Strategies

CPG: Clinical Practice Guideline

HAD: Anxiety and Depression Scale

HARS: Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale

HTA: Health Technology Assessment

CI: Confidence Interval

INAHTA: International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment.

SSRI Seratonin Reuptake Inhibitors

SNSRI: Seratonin and Noradrenalin Reuptake Inhibitors

MHRA: Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency

MOH: Ministry of Health (Singapore)

NHS: National Health Service

NICE: National Institute for Clinical Excellence

NNT: Necessary number of patients to treat to reduce an event.

PDSS: Panic Disorder Severity Scale

PICO: Patient/Intervention/Comparison/Outcome PQ: Physician Questionnaire

SEMERGEN: Spanish Society of Primary Care Physicians SEMFYC: Spanish Society of Family and Community Medicine SEP: Spanish Psychiatric Society SIGN: Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network

MH: Mental Health

SoMaMFYC: Madrid Society of Family and Community Medicine

STAI: State Anxiety Inventory Scale

PD: Panic disorder

GAD: Generalized anxiety disorder

CBT: Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy

BFT: Brief Family Therapy

IPT: Interpersonal Therapy

of charter and the and UESCE: Spanish Union of Scientific Nursing Societies UETS: Health Technology Assessment Unit

Appendix 6. Declaration of interest

A conflict of interest occurs under circumstances in which the professional opinion of a primary interest, such as patient safety or the validity of research, may be excessively influenced by other secondary interests, whether this be financial benefit, prestige, or personal or professional promotion.

ject to updating. Several types of financial interactions may be considered in relations between professionals and the healthcare industry (pharmaceutical, healthcare technology, etc.).

- Support and financing of research.
- Employment as a consultant for a pharmaceutical company.
- Shareholder or economic interests in a pharmaceutical company.

In turn, these potential conflicts of interest are considered to be of two types in the preparation of CPGs.

- Personal interests: these involve professional fees or personal benefits for a member of the team.
- Non-personal interests: these involve financing that benefits the department or unit under the management responsibility of a member of the team, who does not receive it personally. The economic funding to create a unit or department, financial support for hiring personnel for those units, and financing of research in the unit can be considered to fall into this category.

The potential conflict of interest exists regardless of whether or not the professional considthe publication of this is designed the publication of this is the publication of the ers the relations to have an influence on his or her scientific criteria. The following is a form on the declaration of conflicts of interest designed for the purpose of covering the aforementioned

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN THE SPANISH NHS

Conflict of Interest Statement

First	and	Last	name:
-------	-----	------	-------

Institution for y	which you work:	
	the centre:	×,0
		, ×,C
2	ode:	<u>}</u>
Institution that the one specific	t you represent (association, scientific society, etc. – answer only if different ied above):	fro
Contact telepho	ione (reachable):	
Email for send	ting documentation (@):	
Mr./Ms.		
program for Cl making in the clare that I DC subject that is t	Identity Document, after reading the policy of the Prepar Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPC) based on evidence, to assist in clinical deci- National Healthcare System (SNS) in regard to conflicts of interest, I hereb $O \Box DO NOT \Box$ have conflicts of interest in regard to the activities related to the object of the CPG within the last three years .	ision y de
	what the conflicts are in tables 1 to 3.	
If so, specify w		200
If so, specify w Signature	Date: February 22,	

Table 1. Personal interests

Financing for participating in a study Image: Consulting for a pharmaceutical or other technological company Consulting for a pharmaceutical or other technological company Image: Consultation of the study of t
Consulting for a pharmaceutical or other technological company Image: Consulting for a pharmaceutical or other technological company Shareholder/commercial interests in a company (patents) Image: Consultanian company Economic interests in a private company related to healthcare (as the owner, employee, shareholder, private consultania) that could be significant in relation to the preparation of the guideline Image: Consultania Non-economic conflicts of the consultania Image: Consultania
Shareholder/commercial interests in a company (patents) Economic interests in a private company related to healthcare (as the owner, employee, shareholder, private consultar) that could be significant in relation to the preparation of the guideline
Shareholder/commercial interests in a company (patents) Image: Company and the company and the company and the company related to healthcare (as the owner, employee, shareholder, private consultant) that could be significant in relation to the preparation of the guideline Image: Company and the company and the company and the company related to healthcare (as the owner, employee, shareholder, private consultant) that could be significant in relation to the preparation of the guideline Image: Company and the company
Economic interests in a private company related to healthcare (as the owner, employee, shareholder, private consultant) that could be significant in relation to the preparation of the guideline
Non-economic conflicts of
interest that could be significant in the preparation of the guideline the publicant entrephilicant set the publicant entrephi

Table 2. Non-personal interests

	Activity	Institution	Date	
Financing or economic funding for the creation of a unit or service				-
				datil
Significant allocation of material to the unit or services		.6	subject to	<u>}</u> ~
Hiring or economic funding to hire personnel in the unit or services		actice Guideline and it is		
Economic funding to finance a research study	. calP	ACT CE		
	of this Clinical P			

Table 3. Other possible conflicts of interest not indicated in the previous sections (specify)

	the pur
	an 5 years since the public
	E YEATS
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
It has t	

# 12. Bibliography

- Grupo de trabajo sobre CPG. Elaboración de Guías de Práctica Clínica en el Sistema Nacional de Salud. Manual Metodológico. Madrid. Plan Nacional para el SNS del MSC. Instituto Aragonés de Ciencias de la salud-I+CS; 2006. Guías de Práctica Clínica en el SNS: I+CS Nº 2006/0I.
- 2. Guía de Salud Mental en Atención Primaria. Grupo de Trabajo de Salud Mental PAPPS, 2001.
- Informe del Estado de Salud de la Población de la Comunidad de Madrid 2004. Dirección General de Salud Pública y Alimentación. Consejería de Sanidad y Consumo. Comunidad de Madrid. 2005.
- 4. Estrategia en Salud Mental del Sistema Nacional de Salud. 2006. Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo. [documento Internet]. [Acceso 20 marzo 2007]. Disponible en: http://www. msc.es/organizacion/sns/planCalidadSNS/pdf/excelencia/salud_mental/ESTRATEGIA_SALUD_MENTAL_SNS_PAG_WEB.pdf.
- Ormel J. et al. Common mental disorders and disability across cultures. Results from the WHO collaborative study on psychological problems in general health care. JAMA. 1994; 272:1741-1748.
- 6. Cortes J.A. et al. La prevalencia de malestar psíquico en atención primaria y su relación con el grado de frecuentación de las consultas. Atención Primaria. 1993; 11:459-463.
- 7. Demertzis KH.et al. Anxiety in primary care. Current Psychiatry Reports. 2006; 8:291-297.
- 8. Kroenke K. et al. Anxiety disorders in primary care: prevalence, impairment, comorbidity and detection. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2007; 146:317-325.
- 9. Martín Pérez C. et al. Prevalencia de psicopatías en un centro de salud rural. Atención primaria. 2003; 31:39-46.
- 10. Chocrón Bentata L et al. Pevalencia de psicopatología en un centro de atención primaria. Atención Primaria.1995; 16:586-593.
- 11. The European Opinion Research Group. The Mental Health Status of the European Population. Europarometer 58.2. [documento Internet]. Brussels. 2003. [Access 10 de enero de 2007]. Disponible en http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_determinants/life_style/mental_eurobaro.pdf.
- Somers M, Goldner EM, Waraich P, Hsu L. Prevalence and Incidence Studies of Anxiety Disorders: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Canadian Journal Psychiatry. 2006; 50:100–113.
- 13. Martínez Álvarez J.M. et al. Estudio de morbilidad psiquiátrica en la población atendida en el Centro de Salud de Basauri. Atención Primaria. 1993; 11:127-132.
- 14. Caballero Martínez L. et al. Prevalencia de los trastornos psiquiátricos en atención primaria usando el cuestionario PRIME-MD. Atención Primaria. 1999; 23:275-279.
- 15. Haro JM, Palacín C, Vilagut G, Martínez M, Bernal M, Luque I, Codony M, Dolz M, Alonso J y el Grupo ESEMeD-España. Prevalencia de los trastornos mentales y factores asociados: resultados del estudio ESEMeD-España. Medicina Clínica (Barc). 2006; 126(12):445-51.

- 16. Roy-Byrne PP. Generalized anxiety and mixed anxiety-depression: association with disability and health care utilization. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 1996; 57 (Supl7): 86-91.
- López-Torres J, Escobar F, Fernández C, González L, Urbistondo L, Requeza M. Trastornos mentales y utilización de las consultas de medicina general. Atención Primaria. 1992; 10:665-70.
- Shear MK, Schulberg HC. Anxiety disorders in primary care. Bull Menninger Clin. 1995; 59:73-85.
- 19. Jenkins R, Goldberg D, Kiima D, Mayeya J, Mayeya P, Mbatia J, et al. Classification in primary care: experience with current diagnostic systems. Psychopathology. 2002; 35:127-31.
- 20. Bowers PJ. Selections from current literature: psychiatric disorders in primary care. JFan Pract. 1993; 10: 231-237.
- 21. Sherbourne CD, Jackson CA, Meredith LS, Camp P, Wells KB. Prevalence of comorbid anxiety disorders in primary care outpatients. Arch Fam Med. 1996; 5: 27-357.
- 22. Vega AT, Larrañaga M,Zurriaga O,Gil M,Urtiaga M, Calabuig J. Trastornos de ansiedad. Variabilidad y condicionantes de la actitud terapéutica de los médicos de Atención Primaria. Atención Primaria. 1999; 24:569-78.
- 23. Hodges B,Inch C,Silver I. Improving the psychiatric knowledge skills, and attitudes of primary care physicians, 1950-2000: a review. Am J Psychiatry, 2001; 158:1579-86.
- 24. Gene J, Sanjosé S, Torruella J, Godoy F, Leal C, Olmedilla A, et al. Valoración de la motivación de los médicos de Atención Primaria por la Saluci Mental. Atención Primaria. 1985; 2:289-92.
- 25. Vicente V, Bedía C, Aragón T, Palmer R, Munárriz M. Opiniones de los profesionales de atención primaria sobre los enfermos mentales a la asistencia psiquiátrica. Atención Primaria. 1992; 9:197-202.
- 26. Muñoz BA, Pérez PS, Pérez-Vega L. Activudes de médicos y enfermeros hacia la integración de la salud mental en Atención Primaria. Atención Primaria. 1993; 11:134-6.
- Beltran M, Salleras N, Camps C, Solanas P, Igual E, García-Oria M. Abordaje de los problemas de salud mental desde atención primaria. Relación con los servicios de apoyo especializados. Atención Primaria. 2001; 28:39-45.
- 28. Latorre Postigo JM, et al. Percepción de la demanda y necesidades de formación en salud mental de los médicos de atención primaria. Atención Primaria. 2005; 36(2):85-92.
- 29. Katon W. et al. Anxiety disorders: efficient screening is the first step in improving outcomes. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2007; 146:390-391.
- López-Ibor JJ, Valdés M, editores. DMS-IV-TR-AP. Manual diagnóstico y estadístico de los trastornos mentales. Texto revisado. Atención Primaria. Barcelona: Masson; 2004.
- 31. Mars JA. Stress, Fears and Phobias: The Impact of Anxiety. Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2006; 10(3): 319-22.

Lobo A, Campos R. Factores etiopatogénicos. En :Trastornos de ansiedad en atención primaria. Madrid: Editorial EMISA; 1997. p.41-76.

- 33. Tyrer P, Baldwin D. Generalised anxiety disorder. Lancet. 2006; 368: 2156–66.
- 34. McIntosh A, Cohen A, Turnbull N, Esmonde L, Dennis P, Eatock J et al. Clinical Guidelines and Evidence Review for Panic Disorder and Generalised Anxiety Disorder. Sheffield:University of Sheffield/London. National Collaborating Centre for Primary Care. 2004; pg.14.

- 35. Gratacòs M, Nadal M, Martín-Santos R, Pujana MA, Gago J, Peral B et al. A Polymorphic Genomic Duplication on Human Chromosome 15 Is a Susceptibility Factor for Panic and Phobic Disorders. Cell. 2001; Vol. 106: 367–379.
- 36. Hettema JM, Neale MC, Kendler KS. A review and meta-analysis of the genetic epidemiology of anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 2001; 158(10):1568-78.
- 37. Allgulander C. Generalized anxiety disorder: What are we missing?. European Neuropsychopharmacology. 2006; 16: 101-108.
- Gross C, Hen R. The development origins of anxiety. Nature Reviews Neuroscience. 2005; 5: 545-552.
- Battaglia M, Ogliari A. Anxiety and panic: from human studies to animal research and back. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews.2005;29:169-179.
- 40. López-Ibor JJ, Valdés M, editores. DMS-IV-TR. Manual diagnóstico y estadístico de los trastornos mentales. Texto revisado. Barcelona: Masson; 2002.
- 41. OMS. CIE 10: Trastornos mentales y del comportamiento. Descripciones clínicas y pautas para el diagnóstico. Madrid: MEDITOR, 1992.
- 42. Comité Internacional de Clasificación de la WONCA. Clasificación Internacional de la Atención Primaria: CIAP-2. Barcelona: Masson; 1999.
- 43. Balon R. Mood, Anxiety and Physical Illness: Body and Mind or Mind and Body?. Dep & Anxiety. 2006; 23:377-388.
- 44. Pascual JC, Castaño J, Espluga N, Díaz B, García-Ribera C, Bulbena A. Enfermedades somáticas en pacientes con trastornos de ansiedad. Med Clin (Barc). 2008;130(8):281-5.
- 45. Härter M, Conway K, Merikangas K. Associations between anxiety disorders and physical illness. European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience. 2003; 253:313-20.
- 46. Sareen J, Jacobi F, Cox BJ, Belik SL, Clara I, Stein MB. Disability and poor quality of life associated with comorbid anxiety disorders and physical conditions. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2006;166:2109-16.
- Bulbena A, Gago, J, Martín Santos R, Porta, M, Dasquens J, Berrios GE. Anxiety disorder & Joint laxity: A definitive link. Neurology, Psychiatry and Brain Research. 2004; 11:137-140.
- 48. García Campayo J, Alda M. Salud mental e inmigración. Barcelona: Edikamed; 2005.
- 49. Leff J. Cultural influence on psychiatry. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 1994; 7:197-201.
- 50. Bulbena A, Martín Santos R, Mateo A, Gelabert A. Koro syndrome: primer caso en España. Medicina Clínica (Barc). 1990; 13:36.
- 51. Caballero L, Iruela L, Muñoz PE, Baca E. A propósito de un caso de Koro descrito en España. Medicina Clinica. 1990; 95: 519.
- 52. Salman E, Carrasco JL, Liebowitz M, Díaz M, Prieto R, Jusino C, et al. Los "ataques de nervios": Un estudio de caracterización diagnóstica. Actas Luso-Esp Neurol Psiquiatr. 1997; 25: 285-89.
  - Hernández Monsalve M. La entrevista clínica en Atención Primaria. En: Fernández Liria A, Romero Hidalgo A, editors. Salud Mental en Atención Primaria. Madrid: IDEPSA; 1989. p. 1-49.
- 54. Tizón García JL. Components psicològics de la pràctica mèdica: una perspectiva. Barcelona: Acadèmia de Cièncias mèdiques de Catalaunya i e Balears; 1987.

- 55. Borrel Carrión F. Manual de entrevista clínica. Barcelona. Doyma; 1989.
- 56. Gradillas V. Arte y técnica de la entrevista psiquiátrica. Barcelona. JIMS; 1992.
- 57. Golberg D, Huxley P. Técnicas de entrevista en atención primaria. En: Golberg D, Huxley P, editores. Enfermedad mental en la comunidad. Madrid: Nieva; 1990. p.171-180.
- 58. Stern T, Herman J, Slavin P. Psiquiatría en la consulta de atención primaria: guía práctica. Massachusetts general Hospital. 2005.
- 59. Vázquez-Barquero J.L. et all. Psiquiatría en Atención Primaria. Madrid: Grupo Aula Médica, SA; 1998.
- 60. Dupuy L, Losasso A. Entrevista clínica: algunas herramientas. Archivos de Medicina Familiar y General. 2004; 1(1):1-15.
- 61. Pascual P, Induráin S. Cómo mejorar nuestras entrevistas clínicas. Anales del Sistema Sanitario de Navarra. 2001; Vol 24; Suplem 2:15-21.
- 62. Lobo A, Montón C, Campos R, García-Campayo J, Pérez Echevarría MJ y el GZEMPP. Detección de morbilidad psíquica en la práctica médica. El nuevo instrumento EADG. Zaragoza: Luzán SA Ed; 1993.
- 63. Chamorro García L. Guía de manejo de los trastornos mentales en Atención Primaria. Barcelona: Ars Medica. Psiquiatría editores S.L; 2004.
- 64. Bulbena A, Ibarra N, Ballesteros J y Gago J. Instrumentos de evaluación de los trastornos mentales en atención primaria. En: Vázquez Barquero JL Psiquiatría en atención primaria. 2ª ed. Grupo aula médica S.L.; 2008. p.107-125.
- 65. Badía X, Alonso J. Medidas de bienestar psicológico y salud mental. En: Badía X, Alonso J, editores. La medida de la salud. Guía de escalas de medición en español. Barcelona; 2007. p.49-88.
- 66. Montón C, Pérez Echeverría MI, Campos R y cols.: Escalas de ansiedad y depresión de Goldberg: una guía de entrevista eficaz para la detección del malestar psíquico. Atención Primaria. 1993; 12(6):345-9.
- 67. Quintana JM, Padierna A, Esteban C, Arostegui I, Bilbao A, Ruiz I. Evaluation of the psychometric characteristics of the Spanish version of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2003; 107(3):216-21.
- 68. Runkewitz K, Kirchmann H, Strauss B. Anxiety and depression in primary care patients: predictors of symptom severity and developmental correlates. Journal Psychosomatic Research. 2006; 60(5):445-53.
- 69. Bulbena A, Bobes J, Luque A, Dal-Ré R, Ballesteros J, Ibarra N y el Grupo de Validación en Español de Escalas Psicométricas (GVEEP): Validación de las versiones en español de la Clinica Anxiety Scale y del Physician Questionnaire para la evaluación de los trastornos de ansiedad. Medicina Clínica (Barc). 2003; 121(10):367-374.
- 70. Canadian Psychiatric Association, Clinical Practice Guidelines. Management of Anxiety Disorders. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 2006.
  - Fernández Liria A, Rodríguez Vega B. La práctica de la psicoterapia. Bilbao: Desclée; 2001.
- 72. Vélez Noguera JL. Enfoque de la salud mental en Atención Primaria. Barcelona: Organon Española S.A; 1991.

- 73. Ridel-Heller SG, Matschinger H, Angermeyer MC. Mental disorders –who and what might help? Help-seeking and treatment preferences of the lay public. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2005; 40:167-74.
- 74. Lobo A, Campos R et al. Los trastornos de ansiedad en Atención Primaria. 1ª ed. Madrid: EMISA; 1997.
- 75. Álvarez Gálvez E. Diagnóstico y tratamiento de los trastornos de ansiedad. Centro de Salud. 1998; 6(2): 82-93.
- 76. Caro Gabalda I. Manual teórico-práctico de Psicoterapias Cognitivas. Bilbao: Desclée de Brouwer; 2007.
- 77. García Ramos J, Gallego Rodríguez J.M. Psicoterapias en atención primaria. Formación Médica Continuada. 2003; 10 (7): 508-13.
- 78. Bateman A, Brown D, Pedder J. Introducción a la Psicoterapia. Manual de la teoría y técnica psicodinámicas. Barcelona: Ed. Albesa S.L.; 2005.
- 79. INSALUD. Protocolos de Salud Mental en Atención Primaria: Ansiedad, Insomnio y Depresión. Madrid: Área 1. Atención Primaria, 1997.
- 80. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Clinical Guideline 22. Anxiety: management of anxiety (panic disorder, with or without agoraphobia, and generalised anxiety disorder) in adults in primary, secondary and community care. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2004.
- 81. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Clinical Guideline 22 (amended). Anxiety: management of anxiety (panic disorder, with or without agoraphobia, and generalised anxiety disorder) in adults in primary, secondary and community care. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2007.
- 82. MOH Clinical Practice Guidelines 7. Anxiety Disorders. Singapore: Ministry of Health, 2003.
- Linden M, Zubraegel D, Baer T, Franke U, Schlattman P. Efficacy of Cognitive Beaviour Therapy in Generalized Anxiety Disorders. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics; 2005; 74:36-42.
- 84. Dugas MJ, Ladouceur R, Déger E, Freeston MH, Langlois F, Provencher MD, Boisvert JM. Group cognitive-behavioral therapy for generalized anxiety disorder: treatment outcome and long-term follow-up Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 2003; 71(4):821-5.
- 85. Borkovec TD, Newman MG, Pincus AL, Lytle R. A component analysis of cognitivebehavioral therapy for generalized anxiety disorder and the role of interpersonal problems. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 2002; 70(2):288-98.
- 86. Hunot & Churchill R, Silva de Lima M, Teixeira V. Terapias psicológicas para el trastorno de ansiedad generalizada (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http:// www.update-software. com. (Traducida de The Cochrane Library, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).
  - BMJ Clinical Evidence (base de datos en Internet). London: British Medical Journal; 2006-. Gale C. Generalised anxiety disorder, [actualizada en febrero de 2006; acceso 24 de mayo de 2007]; Disponible en: http://www.clinicalevidence.bmj/ceweb/index. jsp.
- 88. Durham RC, Chambers JA, Power KG, Sharp DM, Macdonald RR, Major KA, et al. Longterm outcome of cognitive behaviour therapy clinical trials in central Scotland. Health Technology Assessment. 2005; 9(42).

- 89. Durham RC, Chambers JA, MacDonald RR, Power KG, Major K. Does cognitive-behavioural therapy influence the long-term outcome of generalized anxiety disorder? An 8-14 year follow-up of two clinical trials. Psychological Medicine. 2003; 33:499-509.
- 90. Price D, Beck A, Nimmer C, Bensen S. The Treatment Of Anxiety Disorders In A Primary Care HMO Setting. Psychiatric Quarterly. 2000; 71(1):31-45.
- 91. Stanley M A, Hopko D R, Diefenbach G J, Bourland S L, Rodriguez H, Wagener P. Cognitive–Behavior Therapy for Late-Life Generalized Anxiety Disorder in Primary Care: Preliminary Findings. American Journal Geriatric Psychiatry. 2003; 1(1):92-6.
- 92. van Boeijen CA, van Oppen P, van Balkom A J, Visser S, Kempe P T, Blankenstein N, van Dyck R. Treatment of anxiety disorders in primary care practice: a randomised controlled trial. British Journal of General Practice. 2005; 55(519):763-9.
- 93. Burgos Varo ML, Ortiz Fernández MD, Muñoz Cobos F, Vega Gutiérrez P, Bordallo Aragón R. Intervención grupal en los trastornos de ansiedad en Atención Primaria: técnicas de relajación y cognitivo-conductuales. SEMERGEN. 2006; 32(5):205-210.
- 94. Tello Bernabé ME, Téllez Arévalo A, Ruiz Serrano A, de Frutos Martín MA, Elcano Alfaro R. Técnicas grupales y relajación en el tratamiento de algunos subtipos de ansiedad: un estudio de intervención controlado no aleatorio. Atención Primaria, 1997; 19:67-71.
- 95. van Balkom A J, Bakker A, Spinhoven P, Blaauw B M, Smeenk S, Ruesink B. A metaanalysis of the treatment of panic disorder with or without agoraphobia: a comparison of psychopharmacological, cognitive-behavioral, and combination treatments. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease. 1997; 185:510-516.
- 96. Bakker A, van Balkom A J, Spinhoven P, Blaauw B M, van Dyck R. Follow-up on the treatment of panic disorder with or without agraphobia: a quantitative review. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease. 1998; 186:414-419.
- 97. Abbass AA, Hancock JT, Henderson J, Kisely S. Psicoterapias psicodinámicas a corto plazo para trastornos mentales frecuentes. (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http://www. update-software.com. (Traducida de The Cochrane Library, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).
- BMJ Clinical Evidence (base de datos en Internet). London: British Medical Journal; 2006-. Kumar S, Oakley-Browne M. Panic disorder [actualizada en mayo de 2006; acceso 17 de junio de 2007]; Disponible en: http://www.clinicalevidence.bmj/ceweb/index.jsp.
- 99. Stuart GL, Tree, TA, Wade WA. Effectiveness of an empirically based treatment for panic disorder delivered in a service clinic setting: 1-year follow-up. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 2000; 68(3):506-12.
- 100. Bruce TJ, Spiegel DA, Hegel MT. Cognitive-behavioral therapy helps prevent relapse and recurrence of panic disorder following alprazolam discontinuation: a long-term follow-up of the Peoria and Dartmouth studies. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 1999; 67(1):151-6.
- 101. Hunt C, Andrews G. Long-term outcome of panic disorder and social phobia. Journal of Anxiety Disorders. 1998; 12(4):395-406.
   102. Mitte K. A mote analysis of the second social phobia.
  - 102. Mitte K. A meta-analysis of the efficacy of psycho- and pharmacotherapy in panic disorder with and without agoraphobia. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2005; 88:27–45.
  - 103. The Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care. Treatment of Anxiety Disorders. A Systematic Review. Summary and Conclusions. Sweeden; November, 2005.

- 104. Austin D, Blashki G, Barton D, Klein B. Managing panic disorder in general practice. Australian Family Physician. 2005; 34(79): 563-571.
- 105. Sharp D M, Power K G, Swanson V. Reducing therapist contact in cognitive behaviour therapy for panic disorder and agoraphobia in primary care: global measures of outcome in a randomised controlled trial. British Journal of General Practice. 2000; 50:963-968.
- 106. Sharp DM, Power KG, Swanson V. A Comparison of the Efficacy and Acceptability of Group versus Individual Cognitive Behaviour Therapy in the Treatment of Panic Disorder and Agoraphobia in Primary Care. Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy. 2004; 1(2):73– 82.
- 107. Nadiga D N, Hensley P L, Uhlenhuth E H. Review of the long-term effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy compared to medications in panic disorder. Depression and anxiety. 2003; 17:58–64.
- 108. Galaverni E, Pozo Navarro P, Bellini M. A survey of panic symptoms in a primary care setting. Atención Primaria. 2005 15; 36(6):312-6.
- 109. Katerndahl D, Realini JP. Where do panic attack sufferers seek care?. J Fam Pract. 1995; 40: 237-43.
- 110. Katerndahl D A, Realini, J P. Patients with Panic Attacks Seeking Care from Family Physicians Compared with Those Seeking Care From Psychiatrosts. The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease. 1998; 186(4): 249-250.
- 111. Katerndahl D. Panic-related outcomes in patients with a personal physician. Family medical. 2003; 35(3): 209-14.
- 112. Merritt TC. Recognition and acute management of patients with panic attacks in the emergency department. Emergency Medicine Clinics of North America. 2000; 18(2):289-300.
- 113. De la Gándara Martín J J, García Moja LC, Vademécum de psicoterapias, vol 1. Técnicas de terapia de conducta y técnicas de relajación. Madrid:Ed. Luzan, S.A.; 2000.
- 114. De la Gándara Martín J J, García Moja LC. Vademécum de psicoterapias, vol 2. Técnicas de terapia cognitiva y cognitivo- conductual. Madrid:Ed. Luzan, S.A.; 2000.
- 115. García-Campayo J. Hidalgo Campos I. Orozco González F. Psicoterapia de resolución de problemas en atención primaria. Barcelona: Grupo Ars XXI de Comunicación, SL; 2006.
- 116. Mynor-Wallis LM. Problem-solving treatment: evidence for effectiveness and feasibility in primary care. In J Psychiatry Med. 1996; 26:249-262.
- 117. Güemes I, Ballesteros J. La eficacia de las psicoterapias breves estructuradas en el tratamiento de los trastornos afectivos en la atención ambulatoria. Norte de Salud Mental. 2006; 25:15-25
- 118. Diéguez M, Rodríguez V, Fernández L. Psicoterapia en Atención Primaria: Consejo interpersonal para la depresión. MEDIFAM. 2001; 11: 156-162.
- 119. González M, Revuelta C, Rodríguez-Arias JL. Terapia Familiar Breve: evaluación de resultados y estudio de seguimiento. Congreso de la Asociación Española para la Investigación y el Desarrollo de la Terapia Familiar [Póster]; mayo 1998, Sevilla, España.
- 120. Real Pérez M, Rodríguez-Arias Palomo JL, Cagigas Viadero J, Aparicio Sanz MM, Real Pérez MA. Terapia familiar breve: una opción para el tratamiento de los trastornos somatomorfos en Atención Primaria. Atención Primaria. 1996 Mar 15; 17(4): 241-6.

- 121. Rodríguez-Arias JL, Fontecilla G, Ramos M. Evaluación de resultados en Terapia Familiar Breve. XIV Jornadas Nacionales de Terapia Familiar. 1993; Santiago de Compostela, España.
- 122. Casacalenda N, Boulenger J P. Pharmacologic treatments effective in both generalized anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder: clinical and theoretical implications. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 1998; 43(7): 722-730.
- 123. Kapczinski F, Lima MS, Souza, JS, Schmitt, R. Antidepresivos para el trastorno de ansiedad generalizada (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http://www.update-software.com. (Traducida de The Cochrane Library, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).
- 124. Kim TS, Pae CU, Yoon SJ, Bahk WM, Jun TY, Rhee WI, Chae JH. Comparison of venlafaxine extended release versus paroxetine for treatment of patients with generalized anxiety disorder. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2006 Jun; (3):347-51.
- 125. Brawman-Mintzer O, Knapp RG, Rynn M, Carter RE, Rickels K. Sertraline treatment for generalized anxiety disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2006; 67(6):874-81.
- 126. Koponen H, Allgulander C, Erickson J, Dunayevich E, Pritchett Y, Detke MJ, Ball SG, Russell JM. Efficacy of Duloxetine for the Treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder: Implications for Primary Care Physicians. Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry. 2007; 9(2):100-107.
- 127. Endicott J, Russell JM, Raskin J, Detke MJ, Erickson J, Ball SG, Marciniak M, Swindle RW. Duloxetine treatment for role functioning improvement in generalized anxiety disorder: three independent studies. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2007; 68(5):806.
- 128. Hartford J, Kornstein S, Liebowitz M, Pigott T, Russell J, Detke M, Walker D, Ball S, Dunayevich E, Dinkel J, Erickson J. Duloxetine as an SNRI treatment for generalized anxiety disorder: results from a placebo and active-controlled trial. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2007; 22(3):167-74.
- 129. US Food and Drug Administration [sede Web]. Antidepressant Use in Children, Adolescents, and Adults. [acceso 1 de octubre de 2007]. Disponible en http://www.fda.gov/cder/drug/anti-depressants/default.htm.
- 130. US Food and Drug Administration [sede Web]. FDA Public Health Advisory Paroxetine. [acceso 20 de deciembre de 2007]. Disponible en: http://www.fda.gov/cder/drug/advisory/ paroxetine200512.htm.
- 131. Gentile & Serotonin reuptake inhibitor-induced perinatal complications. Paediatric Drugs. 2007; 9 (2):97-106.
- 132. Davis RL, Rubanowice D, McPhillips H, Raebel MA, Andrade SE, Smith D, Yood MU, Platt R. HMO Research Network Center for Education, Research in Therapeutics. Risks of congenital malformations and perinatal events among infants exposed to antidepressant medications during pregnancy. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety 2007; 16(10):1086-94.
- 133. Looper KJ. Potential medical and surgical complications of serotonergic antidepressant medications. Psychosomatics. 2007; 48(1):1-9.

- 134. Moses-Kolko EL, Bogen D, Perel J, Bregar A, Uhl K, Levin B, Wisner KL. Neonatal signs after late in utero exposure to serotonin reuptake inhibitors: literature review and implications for clinical applications. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2005; 18; 293(19):2372-83.
- 135. Lattimore KA, Donn SM, Kaciroti N, Kemper AR, Neal CR Jr, Vazquez DM. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) use during pregnancy and effects on the fetus and newborn: a meta-analysis. Journal of Perinatology. 2005; 25(9):595-604.
- 136. Mejías C, Rodríguez-Pinilla E, Fernández Martín P, Martínez-Frías ML. Adverse effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors use during the third trimester of pregnancy and prevention guidelines. Medicina Clínica (Barc). 2007 Apr 21; 128(15):584-9.
- 137. Baldwin DS, Huusom AK, Maehlum E. Escitalopram and paroxetine in the treatment of generalised anxiety disorder: randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. Evid Based Ment Health. 2007; 10(2):45.
- 138. Rickels K, Rynn M, Iyengar M, Duff D. Remission of generalized anxiety disorder: a review of the paroxetine clinical trials database. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2006; 67(1):41-7.
- 139. Stocchi F, Nordera G, Jokinen RH, Lepola UM, Hewett K, Bryson Q, Iyengar MK. Efficacy and tolerability of paroxetine for the long-term treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. 2003; 64(3):250-8.
- 140. Allgulander C, Florea I, Huusom AK. Prevention of relapse in generalized anxiety disorder by escitalopram treatment. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2006; 9(5):495-505.
- 141. (MHRA) Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. [sede Web]. Press releases updated product information for Efexor (venlafaxine). 2007 [acceso 29 de octubre de 2007]. Disponible en: http://www.mhra.gov.uk/home/idcplg?IdcService=SS_GET_PAGE&useSec ondary=true&ssDocName=CON2023843&ssTargetNodeId=389.
- 142. Medicamentos autorizados en España (uso humano). [sede Web]*. Agencia Española de Medicamentos y Productos Sanitarios AEMPS;2007[acceso20diciembre de 2007]. Disponible en: https://sinaem4.agemed.es/consaem/fichasTecnicas. do?metodo=detalleForm.
- 143. Iqbal MM, Sobhan T, Ryals F. Effects of commonly used benzodiazepines on the fetus, the neonate, and the nursing infant. Psychiatr Serv. 2002; 53(1):39-49.
- Lin AE, Peller AJ, Westgate MN, Houde K, Franz A, Holmes LB. Clonazepam use in pregnancy and the risk of malformations. Birth Defects Research. Part A, Clinical Molecular Teratology. 2004, 70(8):534-6.
- 145. Mitte K, Noack P, Steil R, Hautzinger M. A meta-analytic review of the efficacy of drug treatment in generalized anxiety disorder. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2005; 25(2):141-150.
- 146. Malgorn G, Leboucher B, Harry P, Turcant A, Catala L, Giniès JL. Benzodiazepine poisoning in a neonate: clinical and toxicokinetic evaluation following enterodialysis with activated charcoal. Archives de Pédiatrie. 2004; 11(7):819-21.
- V147. Swortfiguer D, Cissoko H, Giraudeau B, Jonville-Béra AP, Bensouda L, Autret-Leca E. Neonatal consequences of benzodiazepines used during the last month of pregnancy. Archives de pédiatrie. 2005; 12(9):1327-31.
  - 148. Murray KL, Miller KM, Pearson DL. Neonatal withdrawal syndrome following in utero exposure to paroxetine, clonazepam and olanzapine. Journal of perinatology: official journal of the Californian Perinatal Association. 2007; 27(8):517-8.

- 149. García-Algar O, López-Vílchez MA, Martín I, Mur A, Pellegrini M, Pacifici R, Rossi S, Pichini S. Confirmation of gestational exposure to alprazolam by analysis of biological matrices in a newborn with neonatal sepsis. Clinical Toxicology (Philadelphia, Pa.). 2007; 45(3):295-8.
- 150. Chessick CA, Allen MH, Thase ME, Batista Miralha da Cunha ABC, Kapczinski FFK, de Lima MSML, dos Santos Souza JJSS. Azapironas para el trastorno de ansiedad generalizada (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http://www.update-software. com. (Traducida de *The Cochrane Library*, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).
- 151. Rickels K, Pollack MH, Feltner DE, Lydiard RB, Zimbroff DL, Bielski RJ, Tobias K, Brock JD, Zornberg GL, Pande AC. Pregabalin for Treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder. A 4-Week, Multicenter, Double-blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Pregabalin and Alprazolam. Archives of General Psychiatry. 2005; 62:1022-1030.
- 152. Bech P. Dose-response relationship of pregabalin in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. A pooled analysis of four placebo-controlled trials. Pharmacopsychiatry. 2007; 40(4):163-8.
- 153. Montgomery SA, Tobias K, Zornberg GL, Kasper S, Pande AC. Efficacy and safety of pregabalin in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a 6-week, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison of pregabalin and venlafaxine. Evidence Based Mental Health. 2007; 10(1):23.
- 154. Pohl RB, Feltner DE, Fieve RR, Pande AC. Efficacy of pregabalin in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison of BID versus TID dosing. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2005; 25(2):151-8.
- 155. Simon NM, Hoge EA, Fischmann D, Worthington JJ, Christian KM, Kinrys G, Pollack MH. An open-label trial of risperidone augmentation for refractory anxiety disorders. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006; 67(3):381-5.
- 156. Snyderman SH, Rynn MA, Rickels K. Open-label pilot study of ziprasidone for refractory generalized anxiety disorder. CLn Psychopharmacol. 2005 Oct;25(5):497-9.
- 157. Pollack MH, Roy-Byrne PP, Van Ameringen M, Snyder H, Brown C, Ondrasik J, Rickels K. The selective GABA reuptake inhibitor tiagabine for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: results of a placebo-controlled study. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2005; 66(11):1401-8.
- 158. Mathew SJ, Annel JM, Coplan JD, Fitterling HA, Sackeim HA, Gorman JM. Open-label trial of riluzole in generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry. 2005; 162(12):2379-81.
- 159. Naukkarinen H, Raassina R, Penttinen J, Ahokas A, Jokinen R, Koponen H, Lepola U, Kanerva H, Lehtonen L, Pohjalainen T, Partanen A, Mäki-Ikola O, Rouru J; Deramciclane Dose-Finding Study Group. Deramciclane in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a pracebo-controlled, double-blind, dose-finding study. European Neuropsychopharmacology. 2005; 15(6):617-23. Epub 2005 Jun 9.
- 460. Sáiz Ruiz J, Ibáñez Cuadrado A, Montes Rodríguez JM. Trastorno de angustia. Crisis de pánico y agorafobia en atención primaria. Barcelona: MASSON S.A.; 2001.
  - 161. Marchesi C, Cantoni A, FontC2 S, Giannelli MR, Maggini C. The effect of pharmacotherapy on personality disorders in panic disorder: a one year naturalistic study. J Affect Disord. 2005; 89(1-3):189-94.

- 162. Palao Vidal D, Márquez Rowe M, Jódar Ortega I. Guía psiquiátrica en Atención Primaria. SmithKline Beecham; 1996
- 163. Boyer W. Serotonin uptake inhibitors are superior to imipramine and alprazolam in alleviating panic attacks: a meta-analysis. International Clinical Psychopharmacology. 1995; 10(1): 45-49.
- 164. Wagstaff A J, Cheer S M, Matheson A J, Ormrod D, Goa K L. Paroxetine: an update of its use in psychiatric disorders in adults. Drugs. 2002; 62(4): 655-703.
- 165. Pollack MH, Lepola U, Koponen H, Simon NM, Worthington JJ, Emilien G, Tzanis E, Salinas E, Whitaker T, Gao B. A double-blind study of the efficacy of venlafaxine extendedrelease, paroxetine, and placebo in the treatment of panic disorder. Depress Anxiety. 2007; 24(1):1-14.
- 166. Fisekovic S, Loga-Zec S. Sertraline and alprazolam in the treatment of panic disorder. Bosn J Basic Med Sci. 2005; 5(2):78-81.
- 167. Milrod B, Busch F. Long-term outcome of panic disorder treatment: a review of the Literature. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease. 1996; 184(12): 723-730.
- 168. Ferguson JM, Khan A, Mangano R, Entsuah R, Tzanis E. Relapse prevention of panic disorder in adult outpatient responders to treatment with venlafaxine extended release. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2007; 68(1):58-68.
- 169. Blaya C, Seganfredo AC, Dornelles M, Torres M, Paludo A, Heldt E, Manfro GG. The efficacy of milnacipran in panic disorder: an open trial. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2007; 22(3):153-8.
- 170. Sheehan DV, Sheehan KH, Raj BA. The speed of onset of action of alprazolam- XR compared to alprazolam-CT in panic disorder. Psychopharmacol Bull. 2007; 40(2):63-81.
- 171. Uhlenhuth EH, Starcevic V, Qualls C, Antal EJ, Matuzas W, Javaid JI, Barnhill J. Abrupt discontinuation of alprazolam and cognitive style in patients with panic disorder: early effects on mood, performance, and vital signs. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2006; 26(5):519-23.
- 172. Sepede G, De Berardis D, Gambi F, Campanella D, La Rovere R, D'Amico M, Cicconetti A, Penna L, Peca S, Carano A, Mancini E, Salerno RM, Ferro FM. Olanzapine augmentation in treatment-resistan panic disorder: a 12-week, fixed-dose, open-label trial. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2006; 26(1):45-9.
- 173. Uhlenhuth E. H. Matuzas W, Warner Teddy D, Paine Susan, Lydiard R. B, Pollack, M H. Do Antidepressants Selectively Suppress Spontaneous (Unexpected) Panic Attacks? A Replication Journal of clinical Psychopharmacology. 2000; 20(6): 622-627.
- 174. Edna BF, Martin EF, Moser J, Context in the Clinic: How Well Do Cognitive-Behavioral Therapies and Medications Work in Combination?. Biological Psychiatry. 2002; 52:987-997.
- Power K G, Simpson R J, Swanson V, Wallace L A. Controlled comparison of pharmacological and psychological treatment of generalized anxiety disorder in primary care. British Journal of General Practice. 1990; 40(336):289–294.
- 176. Bernal i Cercós A, Fusté i Vallverdú R, Urbieta Solana R, Montesinos Molina I. Tratamiento de relajación en pacientes con trastornos de ansiedad y somatoformes en atención primaria. Atención Primaria. 1995; 15: 499-504.

- 177. Marks IM, Swinson RP, Basaglu M, Kuch K, Nashirvani H, O'Sullivan G, et al. Alprazolam and exposure alone and combined in panic disorder with agoraphobia: A controlled Study in London and Toronto. British Journal Psychiatriy. 1993; 162:776-787.
- 178. Cottraux J, Note ID, Cungi C, Legeron P, Heim F, Cheinweiss L, et al. A controlled study of cognitive behavior therapy with buspirone or placebo in panic disorder with agoraphobia. British Journal Psychiatric. 1995; 167:635-641.
- Barlow DH, Gorman JM, Shear MK, Woods SW. Cognitive-behavioral therapy, imipramine, or their combination for panic disorder: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2000; 283:2529–2536.
- 180. Furukawa TA, Watanabe N, Churchill R. Psicoterapia combinada más antidepresivos para el trastorno por pánico con o sin agorafobia (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http://www.update-software.com. (Traducida de The Cochrane Library, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).
- 181. Craske MG, Golinelli D, Stein MB, Roy-Byrne P, Bystritsky A, Sherbourne C. Does the addition of cognitive behavioural therapy improve panic disorder treatment outcome relative to medication alone in the primary-care setting?. Psychological Medicine. 2005; 35(11): 1645-54.
- 182. Roy-Byrne PP, Craske MG, Stein MB. Sullivan G, Bystritsky A, Katon W, Golinelli D, Sherbourne CD. A Randomized Effectiveness Trial of Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy and Medication for Primary Care Panic Disorder. Arch General Psychiatry. 2005; 62(3):290-298.
- 183. Sharp DM, Power KG, Simpson RJ, Swanson V Anstee JA. Global measures of outcome in a controlled comparison of pharmacological and psychological treatment of panic disorder and agoraphobia in primary care. British Journal of General Practice. 1997; 47:150-155.
- 184. Bower P, Richards D, Lovell K. The chinical and cost-effectiveness of self-help treatments for anxiety and depressive disorders in primary care: a systematic review. British Journal of General Practice. 2001; 51(471), 838-845.
- 185. den Boer P C, Wiersma D, van den Bosch R J. Why is self-help neglected in the treatment of emotional disorders: a meta analysis. Psychological Medicine. 2004; 34(6): 959-971.
- 186. van Boeijen C A, van Balkom A J, van Oppen P, Blankenstein N, Cherpanath A, van Dyck R. Efficacy of self help manuals for anxiety disorders in primary care: a sytematic review. Family Practice 2005; 22(2): 192-196.
- 187. Barlow JH, Ellard DR, Hainsworth JM, Jones FR, Fisher A. A review of self-management interventions for panic disorders, phobias and obsessive-compulsive disorders. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2005; 111: 272–285.
- 188. Reeves T, Stace JM. Improving patient access and choice: Assisted Bibliotherapy for mild to moderate stress/anxiety in primary care. Journal of Psychiatr and Mental Health Nursing. 2005;12:341-6.
- Nichards A, M Barkham, J Cahill, et al. PHASE: a randomised, controlled trial of supervised self-help cognitive behavioural therapy in primary care. Br J Gen Pract. 2003; 53(495):764-70.
  - 190. Wright J et al. A Bibliotherapy Approach to Relapse Prevention in Individuals with Panic Attacks. Journal of Anxiety Disorders. 2000; 14(5):483-499.

- 191. Juan Ladrón Y, García-Carrillo B, Oliván Blázquez B, García-Campayo J. Utilidad de la biblioterapia en Atención Primaria. En: García-Campayo J, Hidalgo Campos I, Orozco González F. Psicoterapia de resolución de problemas en atención primaria. 1ª ed. Barcelona: Ars Medica; 2006. p. 107-13.
- 192. Febbraro G A. An Investigation into the Effectiveness of Bibliotherapy and Minimal Contact Interventions in the Treatment of Panic Attacks. Journal of Clinical Psychology. 2005; 61(6):763–779.
- 193. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Computerised cognitive behaviour therapy for depression and anxiety. Review of Technology Appraisal 51. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. 2006.
- 194. Kaltenthaler E, Brazier J, De Nigris E, Tumur I, Ferriter M, Beverley C, Parry G, Rooney G, Sutcliffe P. Computerised cognitive behaviour therapy for depression and anxiety redate: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assessment. 2006; Vol. 10: No. 33.
- 195. McCrone P, Knapp M, Proudfoot J, Ryden C, Cavanagh K, Shapiro DA, Ilson S, Gray JA, Goldberg D, Mann A, Marks I, Everitt B, Tylee A. Cost-effectiveness of computerised cognitive-behavioural therapy for anxiety and depression in primary care: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry. 2004; 185:55-62.
- 196. Carlbring P, Bohmann S, Brunt S, Buhrman M, et al. Remote Treatment of Panic Disorder: A Randomized Trial of Internet-Based Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Supplemented with telephone calls. The American Journal of Psychiatry, 2006; 163(12):2119-2125.
- 197. Mihalopoulos C, Kiropoulos L, Shih ST, Gunn J, Bashki G, Meadows G. Exploratory economic analyses of two primary care mental health projects: implications for sustainability. Med J Aust. 2005; 183(10 Suppl):S73-6.
- 198. Saeed SA, Bloch RM, Antonacci DJ. Herbal and Dietary Supplements for Treatment of Anxiety Disorders. American Family Physician. 2007; 76(4):549-56.
- 199. Pittler MH, Ernst E. Efficacy of Lava extract for treating anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacol. 2000; 20:84-9.
- 200. Pittler MH, Ernst E. Extracto de Kava para el tratamiento de la ansiedad (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http://www.update-software.com. (Traducida de The Cochrane Library, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).
- 201. Connor KM, Payne V y Davidson JR. Kava in generalized anxiety disorder: three placebocontrolled trials. International Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2006; 21(5):249-53.
- Boerner RJ, Sommer H, Berger W, Kuhn U, et al. Kava-Kava extract LI 150 is as effective as Opipramol and Buspirone in General Anxiety disorder – an 8 week, randomized, doubleblind multi-centre clinical trial in 129 out-patients. Phytomedicine. 2003; 10 Suppl 4: 38-49.
  - 03. Lehrl S. Clinical efficacy of kava extract WSR 1490 in sleep disturbances associated with anxiety disorders - Results of a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2004; 78(2):101–110.
- 204. Cairney S, Maruff P, Clough A R, Collie A, Currie J and Currie BJ. Saccade and cognitive impairment associated with kava intoxication. Human Psychopharmacology. 2003; 18(7):525-33.

- 205. Barnes J. Quality, efficacy and safety of complementary medicines: fashions, facts and the future. Part II: Efficacy and safety. British Journal of Clininical Pharmacology. 2003; 55(4):331-340.
- 206. Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition, U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Kavacontaining dietary supplements may be associated with severe liver injury. Acceso 19 Octubre de 2007. Disponible en: http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/addskava.html
- 207. ORDEN SCO/190/2004, de 28 de enero, por la que se establece la lista de plantas cuya venta al público queda prohibida o restringida por razón de su toxicidad (B.O.E. 32, de 6 de febrero de 2004). Profesionales Salud Humana. Plantas Medicinales. [sede Web]*. Agencia Española de Medicamentos y Productos Sanitarios AEMPS; 2007 [acceso 20 de diciembre de 2007]. Disponible en: https://sinaem4.agemed.es/consaem/fichasTecnicas. do?metodo=detalleForm.
- 208. Miyasaka LS, Atallah AN, Soares BGO. Valeriana para los trastornos de ansiedad (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http://www.update-software.com. (Traducida de The Cochrane Library, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).
- 209. Miyasaka LS, Atallah AN, Soares BGO. Pasionaria para el trastorno de ansiedad (Revisión Cochrane traducida). En: La Biblioteca Cochrane Plus, 2007 Número 2. Oxford: Update Software Ltd. Disponible en: http://www.update-software.com. (Traducida de The Cochrane Library, 2007 Issue 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sors, Ltd.).
- 210. Akhondzadeh S, Naghavi HR, Vazirian M, Shayeganpour A, Rashidi H, Khani M. Passionflower in the treatment of generalized anxiety: a pilot double-blind randomized controlled trial with oxazepam. Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics. 2001; 26:363-367.
- 211. Woelk H, Arnoldt K H, Kieser M, Hoerr P, Ginkgo biloba special extract EGb 761 in generalized anxiety disorder and adjustment disorder with anxious mood: A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Journal of Psychiatric Research. 2007; 41(6): 472–480.
- 212. Herrera-Arellano A, Jiménez-Ferrer E, Zamilpa A, Morales-Valdéz M, García-Valencia CE, Tortoriello J. Efficacy and tolerability of a standardized herbal product from Galphimia glauca on generalized anxiety disorder. A randomized, double-blind clinical trial controlled with lorazepam. Planta Med. 2007 ;73(8):713-7.
- 213. Hanus M, Lafon J, Mathieu M. Double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of a fixed cobination containing two plant extracts (Crataegus oxyacantha and Eschscholtzia californica) and magnesium in mild-to-moderate anxiety disorders. Current Medical Research and Opinion. 2004; 20(1):63-71.
- 214. Scottisk intercollegiate Guidelines Network. A guideline developers' handbook (Publication n° 50) [monografía en Internet]. Edinburgh: SIGN: 2001 [actualizado mayo de 2004; acceso 10 de diciembre de 2006]. Disponible en: http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/50/ index.html.

